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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Cheng Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 May 2024 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s revenue for the Year amounted to approximately HK$223.3
million (FY2023: approximately HK$198.0 million), representing an increase
of approximately 12.8%. It consists:

. Revenue from marine construction works segment increased by 209.8%
to approximately HK$186.4 million (FY2023: approximately HK$60.2
million).

. Revenue from civil engineering works segment decreased by 91.1%
to approximately HK$10.8 million (FY2023: approximately HK$122.1
million).

. Revenue from vessel chartering services segment increased by 36.2%
to approximately HK$21.5 million (FY2023: approximately HK$15.8
million).

. Revenue from health and wellness services segment increased by 100%
to approximately HK$4.6 million (FY2023: Nil).

Net loss for the Year attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$44.1 million (FY2023: approximately HK$87.1 million).

Basic and diluted loss per share for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$17.42 cents (FY2023: HK$39.14 cents (restated)).

OPERATION REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Year, the Group had successfully tendered and been awarded
with two new marine construction projects as subcontractor. The Group has
maintained its position as the main contractor for two marine construction
projects awarded in the previous year, with a combined contract sum of
approximately HK$261.4 million. The Group remains dedicated to these
projects, focusing on their successful completion and delivery.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT X & &E

Besides the marine construction projects, the Group has developed a new
source of income as a health and wellness service provider during the Year.
Since June 2023, the Group has started to explore new business activities,
mainly in the health and wellness industry. In January 2024, Shenzhen Tian
Cheng Holdings Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
entered into two strategic cooperation agreements (the “Agreements”) with
two e-commerce companies (the “e-commence Companies”) to provide
health and wellness related products and services for a term of two years.
In January 2024, the Group has successfully secured a service contract with
one of the e-commerce companies, to provide health and wellness services.
During the year ended 31 May 2024, the Group has generated revenue of
approximately HK$4.6 million from health and wellness services segment.

The Board expects that financial year 2024/2025 will still be challenging
for our marine construction and other civil engineering works due to the
fierce competition in the market and the increased technical requirements
for bidding projects. During the Year, the increased revenue from marine
construction works, other civil engineering works, and vessel chartering
services segments was mainly due to the high margin from certain projects
awarded in last year, as well as the improved cost control of the Group. The
Group will continue to stick with this strategy, to bid for better and higher
margin projects and to implement effective cost control in the future.

As for the newly developed health and wellness services segment, the
Board is of the view that the launch of the new business activity presents an
opportunity for the Group to diversify its existing business portfolio and takes
advantage of the expertise and experience of the management of the Group.
Further, driven by the increasing and aging population, the prevalence of
chronic diseases, and the increased awareness and affordability of patients
in the PRC, there is an increasing demand for diseases prevention and
treatment in the PRC, creating potential opportunities for the development
of the new business activity. The Company also considers that the new
business activity is in line with the PRC’s ongoing healthcare policy “Healthy
China 2030” ({529 B12030) promoting, among others, improving general
healthcare in the PRC and domestically developed medical technology
and devices. The Group will continue to explore the health and wellness
services industry in the future, with focus on the prevention and treatment
of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases such as hypertension,
hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia. In addition, we plan to establish an internet
shopping mall in the coming year, to start the sales and marketing of the
health and wellness related products.
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Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my deep gratitude
EREBRAN —BEEEFHFBUARIRIA)H

to our Shareholders, investors and business partners for their continuous

trust and support. We will continue to identify and seize suitable growth o BN REFEEMERINEEENIERE
opportunities in the coming years. @ o
Zheng Yanling FERBITEE

18 kg

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 September 2024 R ZENFAR-TIA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & ¥ fE 57 7w B2 75 AT

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is a Hong Kong-based marine construction works subcontractor
specializing in reclamation works and supplemented by vessel chartering
services and other civil engineering works. Since October 2019, the Group
has also been admitted as an approved contractor under Group B (Probation)
of the port works category in the List of Approved Contractors for Public
Works. Furthermore, as of the current year, the Group has maintained its
position as the main contractor for two marine construction projects, which
were awarded with a combined contract sum of approximately HK$261.4
million in the previous year. The Group remains dedicated to these projects,
focusing on their successful completion and delivery.

Marine construction works

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from marine construction works was
approximately HK$186.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
209.8% compared to that for the year ended 31 May 2023 (HK$60.2
million). The notable increase in revenue can primarily be attributed to
two factors. Firstly, there was a substantial increase in revenue from one
marine construction project, where the Group supplied sand fill materials
for the north runway reconstruction project. This particular project alone
contributed approximately HK$65.5 million to the Group’s revenue during
the Year. Secondly, the two reconstruction of piers projects, which began
construction in the third quarter of 2022, have progressed significantly
beyond their initial construction stages. As a result, they have contributed
HK$112.7 million to the Group’s revenue during the Year, compared to
approximately HK$46.6 million in the corresponding prior year. The progress
made in these projects has led to a substantial increase in revenue for the
Group. During the Year, two marine construction projects were awarded to
the Group, and as of 31 May 2024, the Group had five marine construction
projects in progress.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E32 E &t

During the Year, the Group incurred a gross loss of approximately HK$32.8
million on its marine construction works, compared to a gross loss of
approximately HK$42.3 million for the corresponding prior year. The loss
can primarily be attributed to the challenges encountered during the
reconstruction of the piers, which resulted in higher costs than initially
anticipated. The reconstruction of a pier involves numerous complexities,
particularly in terms of piling works using vessels. The weather conditions,
such as strong winds, sea level and turbulent sea waves, posed additional
difficulties during the drilling and bored casting process on the seabed.
These adverse conditions not only impacted the planning and execution of
the construction but also affected resource utilization, including the standby
time of staff, machinery, and vessels. Additionally, one of the piers on Lantau
Island has faced significant delays due to persistent occupation of the
working areas by other vessels. As a result, the Group'’s vessels are not able
to access the designated areas and commence the scheduled reconstruction
works as planned. Since revenue is contingent on the progress of work
done, the absence of work being carried out at that pier has resulted in
the Group incurring overhead costs, as well as idle machinery and vessels,
without generating corresponding revenue. These unforeseen difficulties
and unfavorable circumstances resulted in a gross loss during the Year.

Other civil engineering works

During the Year, the revenue derived from other civil engineering works
amounted to approximately HK$10.8 million (FY2023: HK$122.1 million),
accounted for a decrease of approximately 91.1%. The decline in revenue
can be primarily attributed to the completion of two projects last year, and
one project during the Year, while no new other civil engineering project
was awarded to the Group during the Year. Besides, the progress of one
other civil engineering project in Three-runway system at Chek Lap Kok
Airport (the “3RS"), which involves excavation and backfilling works, has been
delayed due to the main contractor’s inability to hand over the working area
to the Group. As at 31 May 2024, the Group had one other civil engineering
project in progress.

During the Year, the Group incurred a gross loss of approximately HK$9.3
million for other civil engineering works, compared to a gross loss of
approximately HK$22.5 million in the previous year. One of the civil
engineering projects in Tuen Mun necessitated revisiting the design and
performing re-work on certain tasks as per the request of the main contractor.
As the re-work involved the procurement of extra materials, such as
structural steel, concrete, reinforcement and subcontracting expenses, which
exceeded the value of the surety money, after numerous negotiations, the
management opted to withdraw from the project, leading to the utilization
of the surety money of HK$10.0 million by the main contractor to discharge
the project’s obligations and liabilities which accounted for the major reason
for the gross loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS & ¥ fE 57 7w B2 75 AT

During the Year, the Group had undertaken eight projects and the aggregate
initial contract sum amounted to approximately HK$494.1 million. Out of
the above eight projects, one project has been terminated and one project
has been completed during the Year. As at 31 May 2024, there were six
projects on hand. Based on the information available and barring unforeseen
circumstances, it is expected that five projects will be completed during the
year ending 31 May 2025, and one project will be completed during the
year ending 31 May 2026. Set out below is the information of the projects
undertaken by the Group during the Year:

WARERE » AREBDAE/\EER @ MBE0E
FERRBA B4 N AEETT c RAFE » L N\
EEES  HP—@EBEELKRL  M—EBED
TR cR-E-_NERA=+—8 ' KEEAHEAX
BFEBER - REAJBSENZERTEBERNE
AT AEEEEHENEE S _AFAA=
+—HIEFEEEAE—AHEBHEREE_Z
ZRFRAZT—HLEFERK - ATALEE
RAFEAZENEENER

Status as at

Site Location/Project  Role Segment Type of Works 31 May 2024
R-ZE-WE
EHA=+—H

iy A8 4th B 1B H At pan:i TIREEH IR B

Sai Kung and Tai Po Main contractor Marine construction works Reconstruction of piers In progress

TN REERE BERETIR s #E1TH

Lantau Island Main contractor Marine construction works Reconstruction of piers In progress

RUE L) HEAEGER BEREETIR HRER TR

3RS Subcontractor Marine construction works Supply of sand fill material In progress
for the north runway
reconstruction project

—BBER DEE BEEETIR RILEERIAR HEEY 1T
M

North Point Subcontractor Marine construction works Piling works In progress*

kA DER BEREETR THEIR T

Lei Yue Mun Subcontractor Marine construction works Excavation and disposal of In progress*
rock material

Ehel DEE BERETIR EREAVMEE HEITH*

Tuen Mun Subcontractor Other civil engineering works  Excavation and lateral Terminated
support and pile cap works

E! DER Hibh + KT ZREARAETIZAEE D8RIE
Ti2

3RS Subcontractor Other civil engineering works  Excavation and backfilling In progress
works

—BBEEG DEE Hth+ AT ZREEEETR HE1TH

Kai Tak Subcontractor Other civil engineering works  Civil works Completed

R DER Hibh + KT TARTRE B

*  Newly awarded during the Year * RERERIERT

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E ¥ fE &5 s B 7

Vessel chartering services

During the Year, the revenue derived from our vessel chartering services
amounted to approximately HK$21.5 million, representing a growth of
approximately 36.2% compared to previous year of approximately HK$15.8
million. This increase was primarily driven by the award of a new vessel
chartering arrangement contract. The gross profit margin of vessel chartering
services was approximately 39.5% and 15.7% for the year ended 31 May
2024 and 31 May 2023, respectively. The improvement in gross profit margin
can be attributed to the provision of vessels for a short-term transportation
contract. Due to the short duration and specific requirements of this contract,
such as night work and access to height-restricted areas, the Group charges
a higher rental fee to account for the associated risks and costs.

As at 31 May 2024, there were two vessel chartering arrangements in
progress with aggregated initial contract sum of approximately HK$25.7
million. The above-mentioned vessel chartering arrangements are expected
to be completed during the year ending 31 May 2025.

Health and wellness services

Since June 2023, the Group has set up a wholly-owned PRC subsidiary to
explore the health and wellness industry in the PRC (please refer to the
announcement dated 30 June 2023).

In January 2024, the Group’s wholly owned PRC subsidiary entered into
two strategic cooperation agreements with two e-commerce companies
(operators of online e-commerce shopping platforms) to provide health and
wellness services and related products for a term of two years (please refer
to the announcement dated 25 January 2024).

Immediately after the signing of the two strategic cooperation agreements,
the Group has successfully secured a service contract with one of the
e-commerce companies, to provide health and wellness services.

During the year ended 31 May 2024, the Group has generated revenue of
approximately HK$4.6 million from health and wellness services segment.

Other income

The Group's other income increased from approximately HK$2.5 million for
year ended 31 May 2023 to approximately HK$4.7 million for the Year. This
increase was primarily due to the gain on disposal of four vessels.

General and administrative expenses

The general and administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted
to approximately HK$16.5 million, representing an increase of approximately
14.0% compared to approximately HK$14.5 million for the year ended 31 May
2023. Such increase was mainly attributable by the increase in staff costs.
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Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The Group sustained a loss for the year ended 31 May 2024 with net
operating cash outflow, which the management considered to be an
indicator of potential impairment that the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment and right of use assets of the Group may not be fully
recovered. The decrease in impairment losses was mainly due to most of
the provisions has been made in last year and limited addition of provisions
on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets during the Year.

Total comprehensive expense for the year

Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company amount to
approximately HK$44.1 million as compared with loss attributable to equity
shareholders of approximately HK$87.1 million for the corresponding prior
year. Basic and diluted loss per share was HK17.42 cents as compared to
HK$39.14 (restated) for the corresponding prior year.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

The Group has funded its liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through internal cash resources.

As at 31 May 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$25.8 million (including cash and cash equivalents) (31 May 2023:
approximately HK$33.7 million). The year-on-year decrease was mainly
due to cash used in operation of approximately HK$26.7 million, offset
by proceeds from placing of shares of approximately HK$12.0 million and
proceeds from disposal of vessels of approximately HK$8.6 million. There is
no interest-bearing borrowing for the Group as at 31 May 2024. The Group
may seek to issue debt or equity securities or obtain credit facilities or other
sources of funding, to optimize our capital structure.

The capital of the Group comprises ordinary shares and other reserves.
On 20 September 2023, the Company has issued and allotted 444,800,000
new shares to not less than six placees under general mandate through
a placing agent, representing (i) 20% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company immediately before the 2023 Placing (as defined below);
and (ii) approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company
as enlarged by the allotment (the “2023 Placing”). The placing price was
HK$0.027 per placing share and the closing price per Share as quoted on
the Stock Exchange on 5 September 2023, being the date of the placing
agreement for the 2023 Placing, was HK$0.032. Net Proceeds from the 2023
Placing were approximately HK$11.6 million. After the 2023 Placing, the
total ordinary shares in issue is 2,668,800,000 shares at par value of HK$0.01
each. For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
5 September 2023 and 20 September 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS E32 E &t

On 5 October 2023, the Company has proposed share consolidation of every
ten (10) existing shares of HK$0.01 each into one (1) consolidated share of
HK$0.1 each (the “Share Consolidation”). The Share Consolidation has been
approved at EGM on 31 October 2023 and effective from 2 November 2023.
After the Share Consolidation, the Company has 266,880,000 ordinary shares
in issue at par value of HK$0.1 each.

Final dividend
The Board does not recommend any dividend for the Year (31 May 2023: Nil).

Charge on assets

As at 31 May 2024, the Group did not have any charge on assets (31 May
2023: nil).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the operating
transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As such, the Directors
are of the view that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant. The
Group has not engaged in any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
foreign exchange risk during the Year.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 May 2024, the Group employed 109 employees (31 May 2023: 88).
Total staff costs including Directors’ remuneration for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$53.4 million (year ended 31 May 2023: HK$36.4 million).
Individual performance is rewarded through the Group'’s salary and bonus
system. The Group conducts annual review on salary increase, discretionary
bonuses, and promotions based on the performance of each employee.
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Capital commitments

The Group has no capital commitments as at 31 May 2024 (31 May 2023: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the Company do not
consider it is probable that any claims will be made against the Group and
the surety bonds are expected to be released in accordance with the terms
of the respective contracts.

Material acquisition and disposals

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant investment held

As at 31 May 2024, except for investment in subsidiaries, the Group did not
hold any significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

Future plans for material investment

The Group did not have other plans for material investment as at 31 May
2024.

Events after the reporting date

On 27 August 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, on a best
effort basis, maximum of 33,120,000 placing shares.

On 12 September 2024, the Company has issued and allotted 33,120,000
new shares under general mandate (the “2024 Placing”) through a placing
agent, representing (i) approximately 12.41% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company immediately before the 2024 Placing; and (ii) 11.04%
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment.
Net proceeds from the 2024 Placing is approximately HK$3.1 million, which
will be applied for the general working capital of the Group. After the 2024
Placing, the total ordinary shares in issue are 300,000,000 shares at par value
of HK$0.1 each. Details of the 2024 Placing are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 August 2024 and 12 September 2024.
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On 16 September 2024 (the “Grant Date”), the Group granted share options
to Directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for up to a total
of 22,240,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the
Company pursuant to its share option scheme adopted on 13 November
2020. The exercise price of the share options granted is HK$0.107 per share.
The share options shall be vested after 12 months from the Grant Date, and
exercisable until 12 November 2030. There is no performance target attached
to the share options and no financial assistant shall be provided by the Group
to the grantees to facilitate the purchases of shares under the share option
scheme. Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16
September 2024.

Saved as disclosed above, there is no material subsequent event undertaken
by the Group or the Company after 31 May 2024 and up to the date of this
report.

USE OF PROCEEDS
(i) Use of proceeds from Initial Public Offering

The net proceeds (the “Net Proceeds”) of the share offer received by the
Company in relation to the listing (the “Listing”) on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited were approximately HK$84.0
million, after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and
expenses. The original proposed application of the Net Proceeds was
set out in the paragraph headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 November 2020 (the
“Prospectus”). All of the Net Proceeds has been used as at 31 May 2023.

(ii) Use of proceeds from 2023 Placing

References are made to the announcement dated 20 September
2023 in relation to the completion of the 2023 Placing under general
mandate. During the Year, the net proceeds had been fully applied for
the general working capital of the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zheng Yanling (¥5%#%%) (“Ms. Zheng”), aged 49, is the Chairman and
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for managing the
overall operation of the Company. Ms. Zheng graduated from the Suiling
Technical School in Hailun County, Heilongjiang Province, the PRC (1 B 2
BT A BB & T ER), majoring in finance and accounting in July
1994. In May 2013, Ms. Zheng obtained the qualification of professional
physiotherapist from the Chinese Medical Doctor Association. Prior to 2012,
Ms. Zheng had been engaged in personal business. In December 2012, Ms.
Zheng served as the general manager of Jilin Zanjia Tiancheng E-commerce
Co., Ltd. (HEMIBRAKEF R E R A F]), mainly engaged in internet
technology development and information services. Ms. Zheng's extensive
experience in e-commerce and internet technology and information services
will help the Company to explore new business in the future.

Mr. Ouyang Jianwen (B{}5 £ 3X) (“Mr. Ouyang”), aged 28, is the Company’s
executive Director and is responsible for exploration and development of
business opportunities in the health and wellness and e-commerce sector
with a view to diversifying the Group’s business scope, broadening the
income base and enhancing the value for the Group and its shareholders
as a whole. Mr. Ouyang completed his economics degree in International
Economics and Trade from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics
in July 2019. Mr. Ouyang has previously served as an executive director of
Beijing Digital Weilai Technology Company Limited* (1t R FEf Ak BH A
R 2 7)), a company principally specialized in software development, data
processing and along with big data and artificial intelligence technology.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Luo Hao (&%) (“Mr. Luo”), aged 40, is the Company’s executive Director
and is responsible for assisting in the development of health and wellness
and e-commerce sector. Mr. Luo obtained a master’s degree in Electronic
and Communication Engineering from Harbin University of Science and
Technology in March 2014. Mr. Luo has accumulated extensive experience
in internet software development. From October 2013 to January 2014, he
worked as an intern trainee for Hithink Flush Information Network Co., Ltd.*
Tz RTEIEA 4R 15 B B R A 7). He then worked for Weimeng
Chuangke Network Technology (China) Co., Ltd* (& BIRHRBL RIS (F
El)ABR 72 7)) from January 2014 to August 2015 as an android software
engineer. Later on, he worked for Beijing Mexue Technology Company
Limited* (1t FK Z2R A R A &) from December 2015 to December 2017,
as an android manager. Subsequently, he worked for Beijing Black Bear
Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (3£ ;R B A4S 48 5117 G IR 2 1) from January
2018 to July 2018 as a technical director. Mr. Luo then worked at Beijing
Miaoyijia Information Technology Co., Ltd.* Jt R B (E(E E K ITAR A F))
from August 2018 to August 2019 with his last position as technical director.
In September 2019, he joined Beijing Digital Weilai Technology Company
Limited* (At REFF 2R EHL AR A 8)) as chief technology officer and held
this position until April 2022.

Mr. Wong Yuk (EfB) (“Mr. Wong"), aged 53, is the Company’s executive
Director and company secretary (appointed on 31 August 2023) and is
responsible for financial management and assisting to manage the day-
to-day business operations. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor’s degree in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November
1996. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in January 2004 and a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in August 2005. From December 2019
to February 2024, Mr. Wong has been serving as company secretary of
XXF Group Holdings Limited, an established automobile rental service
provider. In addition, since December 2019, Mr. Wong has been serving as
an independent non-executive director of Hygieia Group Limited, a cleaning
service provider listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1650), where he has been primarily responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgement to the board of directors.
From 31 May 2023, Mr. Wong Yuk has been appointed as executive director
of Winto Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8238), a publications and
advertising provider.

*  For identification purpose only
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Mr. Wong started his career in KPMG Hong Kong in September 1996 and
left the firm as a senior accountant in April 1999. Mr. Wong also worked in
various financial, accounting and compliance related roles for a number of
Hong Kong and Singapore listed companies from October 1999 to October
2019, including subsidiaries of the Swire Group, Hong Kong and China Gas
Company Limited, Lung Kee Metal Limited (stock code: 0255), China Oilfield
Technology Services Group Limited, Yuanda China Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2789), Success Dragon International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1182) respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (R #7#8) (“Mr. Wan"), aged 50, was appointed as
the Company'’s independent non-executive Director on 1 November 2022. He
is also the chairman of both of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wan obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in November 1996. He was admitted as a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February 2002.
He has been the chief financial officer (resigned from 22 March 2024) and
company secretary of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited
(Stock code: 00556.HK) since 2007. Mr. Wan has more than 20 years’
experience in auditing, accounting and financial management. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of China Oriented
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 01871) on 1 March 2023.
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Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao (X Z ) (“Mr. Wen”), aged 35, was appointed as the
Company'’s independent non-executive Director on 24 January 2024. He is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wen graduated
from Changsha University of Science and Technology in Hunan Province,
majoring in business and corporate administration. From March 2015 to
September 2019, Mr. Wen has served as the deputy general manager of
Dongguan Fengchao Daily Necessities Co., Ltd.* (R ML AARAR

72 A]). Mr. Wen has established, and has served as the legal representative,
an executive director and the general manager of Dongguan Ci'en Shi Cup
Products Co., Ltd.* (REEMZEB KM EBR A
engaged in the manufacturing and sales of stalnless steel cups and pots and
other metal products, since May 2017. In April 2020, Mr. Wen established,
and served as the legal representative, an executive director and the general
manager of, Shenzhen Dacheng Jiaye Culture Communication Co., Ltd.*
ORI R AR UL EHER R A A)
the operation of commercial consultancy services. In July 2022, Mr. Wen
served as the legal representative, an executive director and the general
(RIT N B E
HPBR A 7). He was responsible for the capital market services business and
unlisted enterprises equity investment business. In March 2023, Mr. Wen
established, and served as the legal representative, an executive director and
the general manager of, Shenzhen Jiayi Guangzhen Venture Capital Co., Ltd.*

RYITT e BERAIZERERRA

capltal market services business and unIisted enterprises equity investment

, @ company principally

, @ company principally engaged in

manager of Shenzhen Jiayifeng Investment Co., Ltd.*

, @ company principally engaged in

business. In March 2023, Mr. Wen established, and served as the managing
partner of, Shenzhen Jiayi Guangsheng Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership)* (RYITMI=ERIEE S B EEBRER)), a partnership
enterprise prlnC|paIIy engaged in business services.

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Luo Sheng (%), aged 28, was appointed as the Company's Vice
President-Capital Planning and Management on 1 August 2024. Mr. Luo
Sheng was graduated from Sichuan University majoring in Engineering
and Automation in June 2018, and obtained a master’s degree in Applied
Statistics from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics in June 2022.
From August 2022 to July 2023, Mr. Luo Sheng was the account manager
of the securities business department in Guangzhou Avenue Middle,
Guangzhou of CITIC Securities Co., Ltd. He has passed the examination of
Financial Accounting Committee of the Securities Association of China and
obtained the qualification to conduct securities business in July 2022. Mr.
Luo Sheng has passed the Hong Kong Licensing Examination for Securities
and Futures Intermediaries (Paper 1 and Paper 2) in December 2022, and
has passed the Examination for Securities Investment Advisor Business of
the Securities Association of China in March 2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Yuk, aged 53, was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company on 31 August 2023. The biographical details of Mr. Wong Yuk are
set out in the paragraphs headed “Executive Directors” above.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands. The Company is an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in marine
construction works, other civil engineering works and vessel chartering
services in Hong Kong. The Group also commenced its operations in the
health and wellness services industry during the Year. Besides that, there
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the Year. Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The business review and outlook together with an analysis of the Group's
performance using financial key performance indicators of the Group for
the Year are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 15 of this annual report.
The financial risk management policies and practices of the Group are set
out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Principal risks and uncertainties, and risk management

The Group’s business and operations is exposed to the following principal
risks and uncertainties:

Failure to guarantee new contract

The Group's revenue mainly relies on successful tenders of or acceptance of
tenders/quotations for marine construction works, vessel chartering services
and other civil engineering works which are non-recurring in nature. In the
event that the Group is unable to secure new contracts with successful
tenders or acceptance of quotations, or receive invitations for quotations
ortenders, the business and results of operations and financial performance
may be adversely and materially affected. The management shall continue
to seek new opportunities and develop the Group’s existing business.
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Failure to diversify customer base by obtaining new projects from
existing and new potential customers

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from contracts
awarded by a limited number of customers and any significant decrease in
the number of contracts with major customers may materially and adversely
affect the financial condition and operating results of the Group. In this
connection, the Group shall continue to diversify and broaden its customer
base, where appropriate.

Project cost overruns

The actual time and costs incurred in a marine construction or other civil
engineering projects, which partly form the basis of the price determination
of tenders/quotations, may deviate from the estimated time and costs to be
involved in such project due to unexpected circumstances, thereby leading
to cost overruns and adversely affecting the operations and financial results
of the Group. As such, the Group will closely monitor and manage its project
costs in an effective manner.

Industry risks

It is expected that during the forecast drop in the gross output value of
the marine construction works industry in Hong Kong between 2022 and
2026 (the “Forecast Downturn”), the Group will undertake significantly less
marine construction works due to the temporary decrease in reclamation-
related marine construction projects during the Forecast Downturn, the
result of which will also contribute to a change in project mix and revenue
contributions for the Group in the short term. Given the comparatively lower
gross profit margin of other civil engineering works as compared with that
of marine construction works in general, the expected change in project
mix by undertaking more other civil engineering projects may cause the
Group's overall gross profit margin to decrease and may adversely affect its
financial performance.

For further details of the risks and uncertainties of the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of protecting the environment and
strives to minimise the impact to the environment by reducing use of
energies and other resources. During the Year, the Group did not record any
material non-compliance with applicable environmental requirements that
resulted in prosecution or penalty being brought against the Group. During
the Year, the Group was not subject to any environmental claims, lawsuit,
penalties or any disciplinary action. For further information in relation to the
environmental policies and performance of the Group, please refer to the
Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 51 to 103.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Board and management are aware, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

On 27 August 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place, on a best
effort basis, maximum of 33,120,000 placing shares.

On 12 September 2024, the Company has issued and allotted 33,120,000
new shares under general mandate (the “2024 Placing”) through a placing
agent, representing (i) approximately 12.41% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company immediately before the 2024 Placing; and (ii) 11.04%
of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment.
Net proceeds from the 2024 Placing is approximately HK$3.1 million, which
will be applied for the general working capital of the Group. After the 2024
Placing, the total ordinary shares in issue are 300,000,000 shares at par value
of HK$0.1 each. Details of the 2024 Placing are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 August 2024 and 12 September 2024.

On 16 September 2024 (the “Grant Date”), the Group granted share options
to directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for up to a total
of 22,240,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the
Company pursuant to its share option scheme adopted on 13 November
2020. The exercise price of the share options granted is HK$0.107 per share.
The share options shall be vested after 12 months from the Grant Date, and
exercisable until 12 November 2030. There is no performance target attached
to the share options and no financial assistant shall be provided by the Group
to the grantees to facilitate the purchases of shares under the share option
scheme. Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16
September 2024.

Saved as disclosed above, there is no material subsequent event undertaken
by the Group or the Company after 31 May 2024 and up to the date of this
report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group recognises its employees as its valuable assets and the key to
business growth and success. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package and benefits to employees to attract and retain competent
employees. The Group also provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to employees to enhance their career development.

The Group endeavours to develop and maintain long-term relationship with
customers by delivering excellent works and quality services to them. The
Group holds regular meeting with customers to receive customers’ feedback
to understand their needs and expectation.

The Group has strong and stable relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors in order to ensure that quality goods and services are
provided to the Group. Suppliers and subcontractors are assessed on
their performances, safety records, non-compliance track records and
environmental awareness on an on-going basis.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years are included in the section headed
“Financial Summary” on page 208 of this annual report. Such summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 112 to 113 of
this annual report.

The Board does not recommend a payment of a final dividend to the
shareholders for the year ended 31 May 2024 (2023: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Tuesday, 19 November 2024
to Friday, 22 November 2024, both dates inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible for attending
and voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”), non-
registered shareholders must lodge all duly completed and stamped transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant shares certificates with the Company’s
branch share registrarin Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 pm on Monday, 18 November 2024.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A

HER EF #AEAREMALTHE
EmME

AEEGREEREETEE @ REBEREKY
MRS - AREREEREAEBF NOFHMET
BERBEHN - LRSI RBRBEFEE - KRBT
mESRHEEBRBIINERES - URTTBRESR
R’ o

AR EEH A BIR MBS 0 TR R R
% BREGREESOERBE - ARERE
FESBTERNEHNES R - TRESEZE
ESTER

AEBEHEARDBHARARBENBE
fERASERRHSEENERLRE - A&
BB EHER RO BEHRE K208 -
ERCESIRRER -

MEB=E

AEBSOIAEMBRFED TEEEUREER
BEMEHNAFRF208E[VBHE 4 -
ZMEL TERAEEREZRAMBHRERN—

B o

ES 9%
AEBMAAERE N EERRAFRE125 138
2 AR RAL R ERREER -

EEeTEFORRENBE_Z_WFRAA=
T—BLFEERPBRE(ZT_=F 1 &) -

BERERHBRERE
ARARBRZEZNF+—A+AB(BHDE
—EoNE+—A+_—H(EHR)(BIEEREM
B)EEMERMBEERLFE IRET~EH
BAMBROBEER - ARAERYEERRE
BEAS((RRBEAEDIRS LERE  X&
TRENETER_ZE_NF+—A+/\BH(E
H—) TToRE=+o/BMAEEEZTMEE
ENFBFE RIGERMBEREXAR ARG E R
MBFELIREEREFELARAR @ kA
EBEREFERESHTLI7IE - LHHBEER
FhE -



PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATION
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the Year (2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 May 2024, the Company had no reserve available for distribution to
shareholders. Under Section 34 of the Companies Act (2022 Revision), Cap
22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
distributing or paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 115 of this
annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the percentage of revenue attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 50.4% (31 May 2023: 54.6%) and 92.1% (31 May 2023:92.5%)
of the Group'’s total revenue, respectively.

During the Year, the largest subcontractor and the five largest subcontractors
of the Group accounted for approximately 47.7% (31 May 2023: 33.3%) and
74.4% (31 May 2023: 43.1%) of the Group's total direct costs, respectively.

During the Year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for approximately 4.28% (31 May 2023:2.0%) and 15.71%
(31 May 2023: 7.6%) of the Group's total direct costs respectively.
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None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major customers, subcontractors or
suppliers above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Ms. Zheng Yanling (Chairman)
Mr. Heung Yue Wing
(resigned on 31 March 2024)
Mr. Ouyang Jianwen
Mr. Luo Hao
Mr. Wong Yuk
Mr. Zhao Zhangshan
(appointed on 2 February 2024 and resigned on 22 April 2024)

Mr. Zhao Dongquan
(resigned on 29 December 2023)

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Du Min
(resigned on 31 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent
Mr. Zhang Wenyong

(resigned on 19 October 2023)
Mr. Luo Sheng

(resigned on 1 August 2024)
Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao

(appointed on 24 January 2024)

In accordance with article 108 of articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”), at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Further, according to articles 111 and 112 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board or by ordinary resolution in general meeting either
tofill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following AGM of the Company. The Directors to retire
at an AGM of the Company shall not be taken into account in determining
who are to retire by rotation at such AGM.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited XA E R A &

BEEE  RENBEAIBRESAAREEAR
AR A EBS % EMEMERRN EXHERR
B nDBERRHERThEE #xs -

EE
RAFERBEERNFHRAY  EF5:

HTES

B2 (£/E)

MK ST E

(R—ZE-_WFE=A=+—HEHE)

BN e @ e

mESE

FrEEE

HEILLE

(R=ZEBE-_NE-_A-BEZTR
AT _NFENA -+ - HET)

e S

(RZZE—=F+=A=+NHEE)

FHITES
iz g g
(R-ZZB_=FtHA=1t—HB#E)

BYFHTES

BIEEAE

RXBEAE
(R=ZE==F+A+HET)
ERTAE
(R=ZZ2E—MFNA—BEHT)
NEREE
(RZBE_NF— A+ UBEEERT)

RBALRMEMSEZMAMA(TAR 1081k - &
BERRBFRAGL  ERN=92—FBF(F
MEABY = =mFH - BIKFLESIR
SAZHEEABNER ) RBERE ES
FER(REAEEEHEZENESR)AELE
=—FWmEREX -

AN - ARBARIFE 1 R 121G - RERMERRZ
FENREEETEREMAETERNBRERRS
EAEBRAZRREZENENES  EHEES
ARRH T —ERRBFREAL - RARFH
BRBFARE LRENEENVREEZRRBEF
ReEEHEHRERTHAZRRTIEEEEEAN °



At the forthcoming AGM, Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao will retire and, being eligible,
offer himself for re-election.

Ms. Zheng Yanling and Mr. Ouyang Jianwen will retire as Directors pursuant
to article 108 of the Articles. Each of Ms. Zheng Yanling and Mr. Ouyang
Jianwen, being eligible, will offer herself/himself for re-election at the AGM
as an executive Director for a term of three years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years which may be terminated by either
party serving to the other party not less than three months’ written notice
of termination.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three years which may
be terminated by either party serving to the other party not less than two
months’ written notice of termination.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANCE
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transaction disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Directors had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group for the Year falls
within the following bands:

N E

Band of remuneration

EXMeRIUSEHMAL

FEMERANSESHFMATOFHBD ISR
B TEIRERMIFEIM0 ©

SREEBTH
RAFE  AKBESREEEFHEN TIH
:

Number of person(s)

AB

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/%8 7T

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
As at 31 May 2024, the Group did not hold any investment property.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives' interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures” below, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or the
Company's subsidiary or holding company or a subsidiary of the Company’s
holding company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement has been entered into during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses and liabilities incurred or sustained by him/
her as a director in the execution of his/her duties or otherwise in relation
thereto, provided that such indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of fraud or dishonesty which may attach to such Director.
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The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which the controlling shareholders of the Company or an
entity connected with the controlling shareholders had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted during the Year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the
written resolution of the Company’s then sole Shareholder on 13 November
2020. The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules and other relevant rules and regulations. Further details of
the Scheme are set forth in the section headed “Statutory and General
Information - D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.
No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Scheme since its adoption on 13 November 2020 to 31 May 2024 and there
is no outstanding Share option as at 31 May 2024.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full-time and part-
time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the Group and
to promote the success of the business of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may
think fit, grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), consultant, or advisor,
substantial shareholders, distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer,
business partner or service provider of the Group, who have contribution or
potential contribution to the Group. Each grant of options to any director
of the Company, the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of
the Company must first be approved by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company.
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Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of the Shares issuable upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date i.e. 222,400,000 Shares (22,240,000
Shares after the Share Consolidation effective on 2 November 2023).

The 10% limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of
Shareholders in general meeting provided that the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit.
The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting in granting options beyond the 10% limit provided the options in
excess of the 10% limit are granted only to grantees specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
granted to any participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the Scheme and any other option scheme of the Company
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period as the Board may determine but shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Minimum period

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of grant.

Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the
grant of an option is HKS$1.
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Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day;

(i) the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

Duration of the Scheme

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years commencing from
13 November 2020 and shall expire at the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof unless terminated
earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the controlling shareholders or the Directors of the Company and
their respective associates is interested in a business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
the Group’s business during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 May 2024, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she was taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which was required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 May 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the following persons
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
position in shares and underlying shares of the Company which fell to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRNREBEHRERBROPHERR
RE

R-ZF-WMFRA=+—8 BEFHRM - AT
AL (AHFEFHARFTETETEAB)RARF]
B in RARRAR 0 P A RIBRE 77 R R R PIE XV
#BE 2R FE 37 BV IR SRR AR 2 A) Ko Bk 32 P 45 BR
MERIAR - HRBNIREBEZ S KB GROIE
3B6IEANRRAFENECMAERIAR

Percentage of

Number of shares shareholding in

Name of shareholder Nature of interest held/interested the Company

BEREERN RAREIH
RS EEME R EE REFDH
Mr. Ouyang Chengguo Beneficial owner 31,554,000 11.82%

BRF5 A B 5 A EnEAA

Note:

1. Mr.Ouyang Chengguo is the father of Mr. Ouyang Jianwen, executive Director
of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 May 2024, none of the substantial or
significant shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company whose interests are set out in the paragraph
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, had any interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities was made
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
34-50 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the Laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any non-exempted
connected transaction which requires relevant disclosure pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLICFLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules since the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any
other pension scheme for the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

Prism Hong Kong Limited (Formerly known as Prism Hong Kong and
Shanghai Limited) was appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect
from 25 May 2023 to fill the vacancy following Crowe (HK) CPA Limited's
resignation. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 25 May 2023. A nomination proposal will be submitted to the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Prism
Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited
Zheng Yanling

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 September 2024
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The Board recognise the importance of achieving the highest standard of
corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders. The Board believes
that high standards of corporate governance provide a framework and solid
foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency,
and achieve high standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’
interests.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. During the Year, the Company has
complied with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The summary of their
work during the Year is as follows:

. developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

. reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

. reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees of the Group and the
Directors; and

. reviewed the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in
the corporate governance report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the guidelines for the Directors’ dealing in the securities of
the Company. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Ms. Zheng Yanling (Chairman)

Mr. Heung Yue Wing (resigned on 31 March 2024)

Mr. Ouyang Jianwen

Mr. Luo Hao

Mr. Wong Yuk

Mr. Zhao Zhangshan (appointed on 2 February 2024 and resigned on 22
April 2024)

Mr. Zhao Dongquan (resigned on 29 December 2023)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Du Min (resigned on 31 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent

Mr. Zhang Wenyong (resigned on 19 October 2023)
Mr. Luo Sheng (resigned on 1 August 2024)

Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao (appointed on 24 January 2024)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has submitted a written
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and
has undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their
independence prior to their respective appointment. The Company has
also received a written confirmation from each of the independent non-
executive Directors in respect of their independence for the Year. The Board
considers that all independent non-executive Directors are being considered
to be independent with reference to the factors stated in the Listing Rules
during the Year.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.
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Procedure for seeking independent professional advice by
Directors

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent professional
advice and sufficient resources to Directors and all Board Committees to
assist them to discharge their duties. The Company has developed a written
procedure to enable Directors, and members of all Board Committees, upon
reasonable request, to seek and be provided with independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company'’s expense.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
13 November 2020. The Company embraced the benefits of having a diverse
Board, as such, the Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to
maintain diversity of the Board. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy,
together with the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy, and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
are disclosed as below:

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company will consider
board diversity in terms of, among other things, gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how.
All Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates for Board membership will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, experience,
cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. The
Company will use its best efforts to maintain not less than 20% female
representation in the Board by the end of 2024, subject to Directors (i) being
satisfied with the qualification and experience of the relevant candidates
after a reasonable review process based on the relevant criteria; and (ii)
fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole when making the relevant appointments. The
Company will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting
staff at mid to senior levels such that the Company will have a pipeline of
female senior management and potential successor to our Board in a few
years' time in future.
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Monitoring, Reporting and Review

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
annually in the corporate governance report and monitor the implementation
of this Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 13
November 2020 in respect of the selection and appointment of Directors
with a view to ensuring that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives suitable for the Company’s business.

Selection Criteria as the Measurable Objective

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to
criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Skills, knowledge and experience which are relevant to the operations
of the Company and its subsidiaries;

(b) Diversity to compliment the existing composition of the Board
including but not limited to gender, age, experience, cultural and
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(c) Commitment to ensure the devotion of sufficient time to carry out
their duties to attend board meetings and to participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities, and reasonable
consideration against the numbers of their services on other listed
and non-listed companies;

(d) Integrity and character that satisfies the Board and the Stock Exchange;
and

(e) Independence in particular for independent non-executive Directors
as required under the Listing Rule.
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Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the

appointment of a Director in accordance with the following respective
procedures and process:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

For the appointment of new Director, the Nomination Committee
may take measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its identification and evaluation of a candidate. Upon compilation and
interview of the list of potential candidates, the Nomination Committee
will shortlist candidates for consideration by the Board based on the
Criteria and such other factors that it considers appropriate;

For the re-election of Director subject to retirement obligations
pursuant to the Articles at general meeting of the Company, the Board
shall consider and, if consider appropriate, recommend such retiring
Director to stand for re-election at general meeting; and

For the appointment through nomination by Shareholders to stand
for election as a Director at a general meeting, a Shareholder circular
containing, among others, biographical details of such nominated
candidate, must be lodged with the company secretary of the Company
within the lodgment period, thereafter, a supplementary circular
containing particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
Shareholders for information.

Notwithstanding the above, the Board has the final authority on determining
suitable candidate for appointment as Director.

Monitoring, Reporting and Review

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the composition of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate,

to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 7
December 2020 which does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. According to the Dividend Policy, in considering the payment of
dividends to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the Group's future growth, the Board shall
consider the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;
. the general business conditions and strategies of the Group;

. the expected working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans of the Group;

. the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

. the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio and return on equity as
well as financial covenants to which the Group is subject to;

. the Group's liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividends;

. the statutory and regulatory restrictions which the Group is subject to
from time to time;

. the general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Group; and

. any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with applicable laws
and regulations, including the laws of Cayman Islands and Articles. The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time. There
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount
for any given period.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operational and financial performance of the Company. Other Board
meeting has been held during the Year for appointing of Directors of the
Company, etc. Such Board meeting involve the active participation, eitherin
person or through other electronic means of communication, of a majority
of Directors. The Directors make every effort to contribute to the formulation
of policy, decision-making and the development of the Group’s business.

During the Year, a total of twelve Board meetings were held. Various
meetings of the Remuneration committee, Nomination committee and
Audit committee have also been held. The Chairman has had a meeting
with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of the
executive Directors.

Directors’ Attendance at the Board/Board Committee/General
Meeting

The individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, Board committee meeting and general meeting during the Year are
set out below:

EFXEREREEM
S %ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁﬁ/@m{mﬂ@% RO
—R - A SRANR R R BT A K EERE
i‘%%iﬁ REENMERTEHMEFTSEH - UL
EARARERS - KD EFEBRIFHFIE
MEFBRATABR2EERESTEEE - EF
BEEBER ~ FHRRRAKREXGERELE
Bt - TERRS -

RAFEE  BEREERTEHTREE - A2
AMERTZAFNEES  REZBEQNER
ZEE9E TR BEBYNFNTEFRTULE

HITESHESH

Ep?‘k°

ESREFeeR EEZEg98 RR
AREEWHER
BEFNAFELFESEEEH EFREES
& MR A S @R hFE L EEIIIMT

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held

hiE/ BTEERY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual  Extraordinary

Board Meeting Committee Committee Committee General Meeting General Meeting
Name of Director £33 EzeeE ENZEE  FMZREE  REZEE  RREFAE  RRBAIAE
Executive Directors: BiTES
Ms. Zheng Yanling = 12/12 - - - - -
Mr. Heung Yue Wing (Note 1) Wi () 8/11 - - - 1N n
Mr. Ouyang Jianwen BREELE 1212 = = = ”n n
Mr. Luo Hao BERL 12112 - - - n n
Mr. Wong Yuk TesE 1111 - - - 7 7
Mr. Zhao Dongquan (Note 2) BEELE () 2/7 S S = 0/1 01
Mr. Zhao Zhangshan (Note 3) BENEE (HE3) S S S = S S
Non-Executive Director: *HrES:
Ms. Du Min (Note 4) Hekt (W) n - - - - -
Independent BUFHTES:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent BEEL 1212 22 5/5 313 7 n
Mr. Zhang Wenyong (Note 5) EXELAE (HiEs) 5/6 n 22 n = =
Mr. Luo Sheng (Note 6) BEAEL (Fitke) 1212 2 5/5 33 n n
Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao (Note 7) YERLE (fiE7) 4/4 1 22 1n - -
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Note 1:  Resigned on 31 March 2024

Note 2:  Resigned on 29 December 2023

Note 3:  Appointed on 2 February 2024 and resigned on 22 April 2024
Note 4:  Resigned on 31 July 2023

Note 5:  Resigned on 19 October 2023

Note 6:  Resigned on 1 August 2024

Note 7:  Appointed on 24 January 2024

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for attending regular
and other board or board committee meetings. Meeting agendas and other
relevant information are provided to the Directors in advance of board or
board committee meetings. All Directors are consulted to include additional
matters in the agenda for such meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
with a view to ensuring that board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes will be sent to all Directors
for their comment and records. Minutes of board and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable prior notice by any Director.

All Directors are also entitled to have access to board papers and related
materials. These papers and related materials are in a form and quality
sufficient to enable the board to make informed decisions on matters placed
before it. Queries raised by Directors shall receive a prompt and full response
by the management.
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Role and responsibilities of the Board and management

The Directors, individually and collectively, must act in good faith, with
due diligence and care, to discharge their duties in the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders. The Board is responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s business and affairs by establishing the overall
strategies, setting objectives and business development plans.

The Board has delegated its powers to the management for day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. Under the leadership of the
executive Directors, the management is responsible for implementing the
strategies and plans established by the Board and the implementation of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Directors’ training and continuous professional development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant. During the Year,
there was in-house training conducted by external consultants for the
Directors on their duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other law and regulations. All Directors have participated in
continuous professional development and the individual training record of
each Director received during the Year is as follows:

EZEREERNBERSHE
EEERNRARARDRT  FTERE IUAR
RAREBRRNSRENGETRE - EFEEE
BRI ERRE  REBBELAEBERS - BE
AEENEBREHHNREER -

EXEUHAKRENEBZEFEENENRT
BEE  EEEGENTEENEET  AEHE
EZgHRIRELE  YEEAREENA

BPESIERAR o

EENRIIREEERRRE
PREFED2EFBEZER L IMMEFHFELM
BMKEE - EREMEFSFLABRERNE
Bl RAFE  ARFEHEZFR ETRAAK
HiZRBOARBETOES - BENRHERES
R HSNEERSRAEEI - 2REFHEZ
HFEEXRR  MAFESEZERRI 2
FFEERINE

Attending Reading
seminars materials
HERSE Ba A Rt
Executive Directors: BITES:

Ms. Zheng Yanling Bl IS4+ v v/
Mr. Heung Yue Wing A& v v
Mr. Ouyang Jianwen BRI 2 3E v/ v
Mr. Luo Hao BwERAE v/ v/
Mr. Wong Yuk FrEEA v/ v/
Mr. Zhao Dongquan HRELE v v/
Mr. Zhao Zhangshan HELEE v v

Independent Non-executive Directors: BIFHITES :
Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent RIS A v/ v
Mr. Zhang Wenyong KX BEAE v/ v
Mr. Luo Sheng EBREE v/ v
Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao NEMGE v/ v/

During the year, each of the Directors complied with code provision C.1.4
of the CG Code.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited XA E R A &
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by the
Company for a fixed term of three year, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Articles, which may be terminated
by either party serving to the other party not less than two months’ written
notice of termination.

On 19 October 2023, Mr. Zhang Wenyong resigned as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company. He also ceased to act as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee of the Board. After Mr. Zhang Wenyong’s
resignation, the total number of the independent non-executive Directors
of the Company has been reduced to two, which represent less than one
third of the Board under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules and also less than
three independent non-executive Directors requirement under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules. In addition, Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules requires, among
others, an Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members
and must be chaired by an independent non-executive director.

On 24 January 2024, Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao (“Mr. Wen”) has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of both of the Remuneration Committee and the
Audit Committee with effect from 24 January 2024. After the appointments
of Mr. Wen with effect from 24 January 2024, the Company has re-complied
with the requirements set out under Rules 3.10A, 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and the respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Except the matters mentioned above, during the Year, the Company had
three independent non-executive Directors which represent more than one-
third of the Board members, and that at least one of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Company has complied with
Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and the Company has reviewed and considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with
the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 3.10 AND 3.21 OF
THELISTING RULES

On 1 August 2024, Mr. Luo Sheng resigned as the independent non-executive
Director of the Company. After his resignation, the total number of the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company has been reduced to
two, which represent less than three independent non-executive Directors
as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The number of members of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Board would also be reduced to two and fall below the minimum
number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the respective
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Board will commence a process to identify replacement so as to fulfil
the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10 and 3.21 of the Listing Rules, and
in the respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee as regards the minimum number
of members.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees on 13 November
2020, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the Group’s affairs.
Each of the Board Committees has its own terms of reference in compliance
with the CG Code relating to its authority and duties. All Board Committees
are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, including
access to management or professional advice if considered necessary. The
composition of each of the Committees as at the date of this report is as
follows:

FEEBFLEHHBE3.10ERE3.211§
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BeESABRALEEARATANEHEERD
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BRSRKBEER  -NAREEE  SZ828
MR

Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEHR BEREEE e E REZEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors ~ BYFHITES
Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent BITESAE Chairman Member Member
Mr. Zhang Wenyong RXBEE
(resigned on 19 October 2023) (RZZZ=FTA+LBEHL) Member Member Chairman
K& pg= B
Mr. Luo Sheng BREE
(resigned on 1 August 2024) (RZZZFENA—BEHE) Member Chairman Member
p4=] B Bg=
Mr. Wen Xiaoxiao NEREE
(appointed on 24 January 2024) (RZZE-—MFE—-F-+BE#ZE) Member Member Chairman
K& g £
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all independent
non-executive Directors and is delegated with the authority from the Board
primarily to oversee the Group’s financial reporting and internal control
systems, and the adequacy of the external and internal audits. Details of the
authority and duties of Audit Committee are set out in the Audit Committee’s
terms of reference which are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings. Details of the
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee in the said meeting
are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/Board
Committee/General Meeting” above.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee
during the Year:

. reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control systems and its accounting, financial reporting and internal
audit functions;

. reviewed the external auditor’s independence;

. discussed the scope of 2024 audit with external auditor and approved
the audit fees;

. met with the external auditors, reviewed and made recommendations
for the Board's approval on the annual and interim reports of the

Company;

. reviewed, with external auditor, the key audit matters as included in
the “Independent Auditor’s Report”;

. reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems including the internal audit function;

. made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditor; and

. met with the external auditor, in the absence of the management.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, which comprises
three independent non-executive Directors and is delegated with the
authority from the Board to establish, review, and make recommendations
to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy and practices. Details of
the authority and duties of Remuneration Committee are set out in the
Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference which are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held five meetings. Details
of the attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee in the
said meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at
Board/Board Committee/General Meeting” above.

The summary of work of the Remuneration Committee during the Year is
as follows:

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the Group’s remuneration
policy and strategy;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors, independent non-executive
Directors and senior management during the Year; and

. assessed performance of executive Directors and approving the terms
of executive Director’s service contract.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, which comprises
(i) one executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors
or (ii) three independent non-executive Directors and is delegated with
the authority from the Board to formulate and implement the policy for
nominating Board candidates for election by Shareholders and assess
independence of independent non-executive Directors. Details of the
authority and duties of Nomination Committee are set out in the Nomination
Committee’s terms of reference which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings. Details of
the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee in the said
meeting are set out under the sub-heading “Directors’ Attendance at Board/
Board Committee/General Meeting” above.
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The summary of work of the Nomination Committee during the Year is as
follows:

reviewed the existing Board'’s structure, size and composition;

reviewed and made recommendation on the appointment of an
executive Directors;

reviewed and assessed the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

made recommendation on the retiring Directors at the 2022 AGM of
the Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the Year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with the
statutory requirements, accounting standards and other financial disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules. The financial results of the Group
are announced in a timely manner in accordance with statutory and/or
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditor of the Company are set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

Auditor's Remuneration

The remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Prism Hong
Kong Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit services for the Year
was as follows:
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Annual audit services

750

The audit committee has expressed its views to the Board that the level of
fees paid/payable by the Company to the Company’s external auditor for
annual audit services is reasonable. There has been no major disagreement
between the auditor and the management of the Company during the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Chi Wing has become the company secretary of the Company
from 1 November 2022 to 31 August 2023. Mr. Chow has confirmed that he
has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Year and has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Yuk has been appointed as company secretary on 31 August
2023. Mr. Wong has confirmed that he has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the Year and has complied with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The biography of Mr. Wong is set out in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit,
convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the requisition of
one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction
of any business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Board. Such enquiries can be
addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by post to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 506-507A, Empire
Centre, 68 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by email to
info@tianchengholdings.com.cn.

Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Board at the AGM.
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Procedures to put forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting

The Company is not aware of any provision in the Articles or the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands for shareholders to propose new resolution at a
general meeting. Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with
the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph headed “Procedures for
shareholders to convene general meeting”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
AGM and other general meetings. At the AGM, Directors are available to meet
Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted an amended memorandum and articles of association
of the Company (the “Constitutional Documents”) during the Year. Details
please refer to the Company’s circulars dated 9 September 2022 and 17
November 2022, respectively. Besides that, during the Year, there were no
change to the Constitutional Documents of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and level of risk tolerance of the Company, establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The Board is committed to oversee and review the design,
implementation and monitoring of such risk management and internal
control systems through the Audit Committee on an ongoing basis so as to
safeguard shareholders’ interest.

The Group established the risk management and internal control systems
with aims to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and provided reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

RERRASLREEBNERF
ARRBBTABA RN K SRS R BVEREMRMEF
X AR BRASREFORAESR - SRiEh
EFEOBCRAIREARRREABRERRNENIE
FIFERFERKA DA ERBRAE -

RREME

ARARBR  BERREUEBEMEKREEH
BEEREE TRASEERRELKBEESE
2 - ARBBNFRFBEBR B2 HEBE - L
HEBBRRBAFAGLEMBERAS - 57
ERRBFAESGABRREEREZER °

HBERXH

RAFEE  ARGFEARQRILETEBERERXR
MRMB([HEBERIMSF]) - BEFBEHE2HEN
ARBS RS FAANBR=Z==
F+—HATHEEZBE - BRI - RRFIA4E
BERXHRAFELEEAEE -

R TR R AR

BERYIMEREEARABEAAZORARM
BREE - ARERY RERBDEROARE R
RABEZERS  AERKER  WEBBHKE
BE WZAREERABEZRAOR B
ERERETHEENEE R - WRERE

AEERZAREENAGEZERG  EEEE
MIPERERERET R FNRR - WIFHEHE
MIFBEIRE - LB RIRFBEPFIEHE -
ARH#ER - BRI RIEMTEERBEREHE
RKRERRBHIBR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 F3R

49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (¥ &8 &

The Company has engaged an external consultant to establish an internal
audit function during the Year. The external consultant has assisted the
Audit Committee in carrying out an independent review on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, and has reported the status of its review to the Audit Committee on
aregular basis. The Group has formulated an internal audit charter to define
the scope and duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function and
its reporting protocol.

The Group has also conducted an annual risk assessment for the year
to identify potential strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and
compliance risks of its major business. Each of potential risk was rated at
different level under the consideration of internal and external risk factors.
Respective internal control measures were proposed to mitigate the
consequences of the potential risks to the Group.

Based on the risk assessment results and following a risk based audit
approach, a continuous three-year audit plan was proposed which prioritised
the risks identified into annual audit projects. An annual audit project was
performed by the external consultant according to the audit plan with a view
to assisting the Board and the Audit Committee to evaluate the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has also formulated policies on handling and dissemination
of inside information in accordance with “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” under the Securities and Future Commission, which set out
procedures in handling inside information in a secure and proper manner as
well as those aimed to avoid mishandling of inside information of the Group.

The Board has discussed and reviewed its risk management and internal
control systems with the review covered the effectiveness of material
controls (including strategical, financial, operational and compliance
controls) at entity and operational levels. Based on the result of the review
performed by the Company’s Audit Committee and the external consultant,
the Directors considered that the Group has maintained adequate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Year.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited (the “Company”) along with its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group” or “We") is pleased to present its Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31
May 2024 (the “Year” or “FY2024"), prepared in accordance with Appendix
C2, Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

This Report aims to disclose relevant ESG information, including information
on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, as well as environmental and social key
performance indicators (“KPIs”), to the stakeholders of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in marine construction works, other civil engineering
works and provision of vessel chartering services in Hong Kong. The Group
also commenced its operations in the health and wellness services industry in
the PRC during the Year. Unless otherwise stated, the reporting boundary of
this Report covers the Group's operations in Hong Kong and the Company’s
office in Hong Kong, which has included 97.9% (year ended 31 May 2023
(“FY2023"): 100%) of the Group’s total revenue for the FY2024. This Report
does not cover the Group’s operations in the health and wellness services
industry in the PRC as they are new businesses that were started in the
second half of the FY2024 and the revenue generated from the new business
accounted for only 2.1% (FY2023: n/a) of the Group's total revenue for the
FY2024. While this Report does not cover all the Group’s operations, the
Group aims to gradually expand the scope of the disclosure.

STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD

The Group understands that good ESG governance is the key to the long-
term development of an enterprise. The board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of the Company upholds its primary leading role and
management responsibilities in the ESG aspects, including:

. overseeing the Group’s assessment of relevant environmental and
social impacts;

. understanding the potential impact of ESG issues on the Group's
business model and associated risks;

. aligning with the expectations of investors and the requirements of
regulatory authorizations;
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. improving materiality assessment and reporting processes to ensure
that policies are implemented and enforced decisively and consistently;
and

. promoting a top-down culture to ensure that ESG considerations are
integrated into the business decision-making process.

The Group has specifically formed an ESG governance team consisting of the
Directors, company secretary, management and external consultant, which
updates the Board on a regular basis regarding the reporting progress. The
main responsibilities of the team are:

. to formulate the Group's ESG strategy;

. to identify and assess the Group’s ESG related risks to ensure an
effective ESG risk management and internal control system, thereby
enhancing the ESG performance of the Group;

. to review, recognize and report to the Board on the Group’s ESG
framework, standards, prioritization and objectives;

. to supervise and implement the ESG strategies on the Group’s level;
. to monitor, review and evaluate the Group’s ESG performance; and

. to review and advise the Board on the Group’s reporting to the public.

Department heads are responsible for overseeing their respective ESG risks
and objectives, and reporting regular updates to the ESG governance team
and the Board on relevant progress and challenges encountered.

The Group continues to monitor and response to the public’s expectation
of the Group's sustainable development and disclosure of ESG information.
Stakeholders expect to understand the Group’s ESG policies and non-
financial risks more thoroughly. The Group aims to strike a balance between
optimising business opportunities and mitigating environmental and social
risks.

In this Report, the Group has measured and reported various environmental
and social KPls. The measurement and reporting of KPIs is an ongoing and
consistent process, allowing for meaningful comparisons of ESG data in
the future.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A

- ESEUMERBERRE - AERBERS
VASREN K —BUB B AT - &

- BB LW FHXE - ARRGESGE A
EMARTIRRRIE

AEESFERE—ERESE  ARNE  BEEE
KON ESGE RER - EHRES=S
BRHEEE - ZEFNEIBRER

. HIEAEEAESGERRE

o BRI G AL B MESGHBER - LATER
ESGRBEE RN EEFE ZgiTzaM - 1t
MmizEANEEAESGRIR :

- BE - BRAMEFTSHEAEEMESGHE
R BRE - BRIEFRER:

- RASEREEEE N EHESGHKRE
- ER B RFHMEASER/ESGKRR &k

- BAKERARFHOREETENLRAE
EeRLEE -

HFITEREEESANESGRRRBE - XF
HIRESGE RB MEE S REMMER B
HIBREK -

AEEKBERNDERARHAEE A HERR
RESGERBEMME - K ENEET2E T H#
AREBEMESGRRE N FEBAR - AREEER
B ERERR Rt SRR 2 MG FE -

RARED @  AEEGEVRERBERERME
PR RIETR - RERETENEERRES—
B8R —HABIE - ATIARRIREESGEUIEE
TTERRMLLE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT X

When preparing and compiling this Report, the Group has reviewed its
existing policies and achieved a better understanding of the values of
ESG reporting. During the reporting process through the approach of
measurement, management and changes, the Group hopes to drive
improvement and innovation while minimizing the Group’s non-financial
risks. The Group understands a better future depends on everyone’s
participation and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental and social
activities which benefit the community as a whole.

COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDER &
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Communication is an important aspect of our daily operations. Stakeholder
engagement and communication are crucial in understanding the
expectations and priorities of our stakeholders. The Group values the
opinion of its stakeholders and has thus set up and maintained various
communication channels for different stakeholder groups. Comments and
suggestions are welcomed as they represent an opportunity to improve the
Group and its services.
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Stakeholders Key Communication Channels
& TEBERE
Shareholders . Announcements and circulars
R . Interim and annual reports
. Shareholders’ meetings
. Company website
. PEE R FERE
. PR &
. NGIEEI
Clients . Clients’ meetings
== . Regular debriefing sessions with site workers to collect clients’ feedback
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. EHREIN AR T NETTERE KGR FHRE
Employees . Correspondences, suggestion box
=3=] . Annual performance appraisal
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Stakeholders Key Communication Channels
BhE FTEBRERE
Suppliers and subcontractors . Business correspondences
HEFESBERE . Procurement contracts and letters of undertaking
. Performance appraisals
. R
. REaARAHE
. RIEFHE
Government and regulatory authorities . Compliance inspections
T R B . Due submissions
. Conferences and seminars
. BRKE
. RBIER
. SR
Community and public . Press releases and news
R RAR . e KR
Apart from regular communication channels, the Group has also conducted BREMRBBEREIN  NEEITETRE gk
an environmental, social and governance survey to collect opinions from ERRBAE  UKEES - BEERINDFGD
employees, management and external stakeholders, so that the Group can EMER  UEAKBEITHFABERE  4g
better assess the materiality of various environmental, social and governance REREENEZEN -

aspects.

The implementation of materiality assessment has been divided into three B2HBTENERDRZEEERE

main phases:
i.  identifying the potential material ESG aspects that may have impacts i
on the Group’s business or stakeholders based on the Group’s actual

development and industry characteristics;

ii.  inviting internal and external stakeholders to complete questionnaires ii.
to understand their level of concern for each aspect; and

iii.  analysing the results of questionnaires to determine the priority of the iii.
potential material aspects.
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The following matrix diagram is prepared by the Group to illustrate the NEB BB T M E A S EHEEE M

significance of various issues to our stakeholders and business: MEREBHNEEN -
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Environment

Labour Practices

Operating Practices

Community Investment

BIR BIER EEES HERE
1. Environmental 12. Employment compliance 19. Operational compliance  30. Charity work
compliance
RIFER BREHR LEAR BEIE
2. Vehicle emissions 13. Employees’ remuneration 20. Management of 31. Promotion of community
management and benefits environmental risks in the development
supply chain
BHIPERE R 18 B B K A2 A EEHEENRTRR HEBH R ER
3. Vessels emissions 14. Employees’ working 21. Management of social 32. Poverty alleviation
management hours and holidays risks in the supply chain
ispyiake 95 4= 18 8 TERr B RER Bt EENT SRR KBTI
4.  Civil construction works ~ 15. Diversity and equal 22. Procurement practices
management opportunities
TARBETIRER LT ERE BREEE AR
5. Marine construction 16. Occupational healthand 23. Quality management
works management safety
BREETIRER BRRERERZE mEEE
6.  Greenhouse gas emission 17. Training and 24. Client health and safety
development
BERIEHEN ol L B BEPEERL S
7.  Waste management 18. Prevention of child labour 25. Protection of intellectual
and forced labour property
BEEYE R PiIEET Raa|s T TRAE R EENE
8.  Energy consumption 26. Research and
development
BEIRAEE T KA
9.  Use of water resources 27. Information security
IKE R E Bz z
10. Green office 28. Client privacy protection
BEPRE BRILEBRE
11.  Responding to climate 29. Anti-corruption
change
FES RIRE(E R&5
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Based on the above materiality assessment, 10 material aspects has been
identified for the Group’s business and stakeholders. The Group has spent
more effort to assess, control, monitor and report the material aspects to
meet stakeholders’ expectations.

Material Aspects

HERIA L BEMFE

C REBEEAIN10TEE A E
EXBERENEMsBEENER - AEEEN
Bl R ERDEREZEE  LURRED
HHHAE o

EEEE

1. Environmental compliance 19. Operational compliance
RBEH EIBEEH

5. Marine construction works management 22. Procurement practices
BEEETIZET REBER

12. Employment compllance 23. Quality management
BEGHR mEEE

16. Occupational health and safety 28. Client privacy protection
BERERER EPLBRE

18. Prevention ofchlld labour and forced labour 29. Anti-corruption
BB T a5 T R&5

OURENVIRONMENT

The Group is principally engaged in marine construction works, other civil
engineering works and provision of vessel chartering services in Hong
Kong. We understand that our operations may impact the environment
and different stakeholders expect an environmentally friendly culture in
the corporate landscape. An Environmental Management Plan (the “EMP”)
has been adopted to assess, control and monitor various environmental
nuisances arising from our operations.

During the Year, the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste. The relevant laws and regulations include but not limited
to: Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Water Pollution
Control Ordinance, Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance
and Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance in Hong Kong.
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Environmental Management

When acting as main-contractor, sub-contractor or vessel chartering
service provider, the Group is committed to implement and maintain an
environmental management system by following the EMP. Protecting the
environment is the responsibility of every staff in the organization. The Group
is committed to sustainable operation and minimizes any adverse impact
on the environment resulting from its business activities. The principles of
our environmental policy are as follows:

. focus on prevention of pollution, waste minimization and resource
conservation as critical considerations within our core management

processes;

. comply with applicable legal requirements and other requirements to
which the Group subscribes which relate to its environmental aspects;

. provide sufficient resources and facilities for the implementation of
environmental nuisance abatement and environmental management;

. obtain and renew the necessary environmental licenses registrations
and permits and comply with relevant statutory requirements and

licensing standards;

. conduct regular performance reviews to ensure that environmental
objectives and the requirements of interested parties are met;

. prevent pollution within and outside of the site;

. minimise environmental nuisances and generation of construction and
demolition materials in execution of the works;

. provide of staff training to all levels of persons involved in the works
to ensure understanding, implementation and development of these

principles throughout our business; and

. make continual improvement.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A

T’Eﬁ’ﬁﬁ'ﬁkk?ﬁ SERIMEREREEER

ﬁii@ﬁlﬂﬁﬁkﬁai& REIRETEE MR
f&iﬁ B RS c RERRAABASHREINE
F - REBB IR FELCENEE RO EER
TEBEIRBIEN N ER T EE - HPIFIRBER
REEBIOT -

- FEARBILSR - BABERYEERRE -
ERBEMROERERETORREREE

. ETERAENERAEEETRIIES
EHRIE AT

8]

&

. REEHEREEE  UERRDEIREE
RO B IR E IR

- ESEREHMUSBRFERERMFFAE
ETHEBEE ZRRIERITE |
- ETEHERRE  WHERERRRERENM
ZR TR ER
- TERIHRSMIEE

- ERTIRRRRORBEBANESZEN
PRERDIEY

- RERIENESGABRMETIH - LA
RRBEXREBRERET TR BekEIZF
RN &

- FENCE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IR1%

Protection of Marine Ecology

Regarding the marine construction projects, in order to minimize its impact
to the marine ecology, the Group has adopted marine travel routes and
management plan for construction and associated vessels and marine
activities plan. The plans can reduce disturbance to corals and cetaceans
due to vessel movement.

Promoting Environmental Awareness

To promote environmental awareness of our staff, the environmental
policy statement is effectively communicated to our staff and a mandatory
induction training for new workers and sub-contractors are conducted by
the environmental officer/supervisor (the “EO/ES"). Environmental bulletin
boards are available for display of posters, signs and statistics. The EO/ES also
regularly conduct site inspection, communicate with workers and promote
environmental practices.

Apart from the induction training, the workers receive regular training on
environmental nuisance abatement and waste management. The content
of the training include suitable topics relevant to the trade of the workers.
The topics include:

. construction dust, air emission and suppression;

. construction noise and suppression;

. wastewater handling, discharge and treatment facilities;

. waste collection, handling and disposal;

. resources and energy saving;

. site plant and machinery (operation and maintenance);

. maintenance of site access, site boundary and haul roads;

. marine travel route and management;

. loading, unloading and transfer of material; and

. loading and unloading and transfer of heavy or metallic materials.
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Environmental Policies and Control Measures

Policies and control measures with continuous effort are required to
minimize environmental impacts and promote efficient use of resources.
The Group has adopted various policies and measures in the EMP to tackle
different kinds of potential impact to the environment. The policies and
measures are regularly reviewed by the project team/EO/ES to monitor
the effectiveness and efficiency. In case the policies or measures cannot
effectively minimize the nuisance or promote efficient use of resources,
project team/EO/ES shall advise other measures to further control the
impacts. In addition, the Group considers the efficient use of resources on
site or in the office, such as electricity and water, is of equal importance to
emission policies. Efficient use of resources not only can reduce waste and
emissions from the sources, but also reduce operating expenses, which is
mutually beneficial to the Group and the environment. Since the Group’s
operation do not include any production of packaged product, the disclosure
for total packaging material used for finished products is not applicable.

Through the implementation of the policies, measures and monitoring
of their effectiveness, the Group hopes to reduce its carbon footprint by
controlling the amount of emissions, waste produced and resources used.
Various emission reduction and energy efficiency initiatives have been
implemented, which are set out in the EMP, environmental policies and
control measures.

Regarding the Group’s emission reduction targets and energy use efficiency
targets, the Group shall continue to optimize the policies and measures in
order to control or reduce the intensity of emissions, waste produced and
resources used. The Group shall analyse its emission and energy use patterns
based on a 3-year timeline and consider implementing more specific targets.
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The highlights of policies and measures are as follows: BORRIEHEHMENT -

Aspects Policies and Measures

B BERRIEH

Dust, air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions . appropriate screens, enclosures and water spraying systems

EEIR - BERPERROR E RBEHE are deployed to minimize construction dust'
METHEENFF - IIRMEKELSR ERAHET
BEE

. ultra-low-sulphur diesel are used in all diesel-operated
construction plant on site to minimize emissions;
P TS m BB n 2 EREBERBBE SN - LR
e

. engines of construction equipment, private cars and vessels
during idling are switched off to minimize emissions;
EHEEARRERE  AREAMENEDE - IR
ERAEI

. regular maintenance are conducted to ensure equipment,
private cars and vessels are operating in good condition in
order to minimize noise and emissions;

ETERGE - BRRE  RRELMERITFEE - LR

DIRE R

. only regulated machines with exemption/approval label
under Regulatory Control on Emission from Non-road Mobile
Machinery (NRMM:s) shall be adopted for the projects;
BB REERAEIERB MMM EEEN TAR#H L
SRR EE WS

. encourage employees to use their best endeavours to take
public transport during business trips;
SEEEEHEHEEERRALE

. encourage employees to reduce unnecessary overseas
business trips, thus reducing indirect carbon emissions;
SEME BRI TV EREINEE - WETIR D BB

. consider energy efficient products when procuring and
replacing equipment, e.g. replacing incandescent lighting
with LED lighting;
REE N B ERERE B R R Eam » HI20 ALEDAR B ER
REFER

. turn off electrical appliances or switch them to standby
mode when they are not in use, thus reducing the amount of
electricity used;
F‘ﬂ%@ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’fﬁ”“ﬂz? HEIREEARAE - RS FERE
£

. turn off all unnecessary lighting, air conditioning and electrical
appliances before leaving the office;

BERM A ERFARMA T BERA - RRANERR
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Aspects
[Em

Policies and Measures

BUR K i

Noise generated

EANRS

Water consumption and discharge into water

FeKE M AIZKEES

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A

use quieter plant — Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment
(QPME);

ERAREFRE —BERBRE

install silence/noise enclosure/acoustic shed where practicable;
EATOER TRERS REE TREW

turn off idling plants and equipment;

R ENRKERRE

regular inspection and maintenance of water supply outlets

are carried out to avoid water dripping;

HOKRBETEERE R EE - WBRRKER

promote water conservation awareness among workers

through training;

FRFIIRES T ASHORKER

provide sufficient portable toilets on sites and vessels;

FE T 3th R A EE AR S BRI P

cover open stockpiles of construction materials or waste with

impervious sheeting during rainstorm in order to prevent

washing away of materials or waste;

T2 T HARE A T B /K 910 2 (B8 R B B S8 K sl R

W - LAB IERT R SRR O AE

adopt proper control in chemical and chemical waste storage

to prevent spillage;

HEmMMBEERY R FRIVEES BEZE - AP ID&

prevent barges to be filled to a level which may cause

overflow of materials of pollution of water during loading and

transportation;

Dy IS AR SR B E T ER I MR BB A E

K

clean excess materials on the decks and exposed fittings of

barges before moving the vessels;

BEMERBERFR - RBMINERE SR

overflow or lean material overboard (LMOB) systems are

prohibited;

2D m s A EBHE 7K (LMOB) R 4%

maintain adequate freeboard on barges to reduce the

likelihood of decks being washed by wave action;

TEB M ERFE R AR FAX - DAURA AR IROR 1 R il &Y
AlReMt

all vessels shall be sized such that adequate clearance is

maintained between vessels and the seabed at all states of

tide;

EMENR T EEREMA S RETMERGK 2

ER R SRR
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Aspects Policies and Measures

BmE BUR K i

vessel movements shall be kept to a minimum;

A B SR RIFERERE

prevent works from causing foam, oil, grease, litter or other
objectionable matter to be present in the water within and
adjacent to the works sites;

B3 1t TR T ANART 97K FR EEAE V0K ~ o ~ JRifE ~ 2

FEMBRBIEYE
Waste generated and disposal of waste . reduction at source, e.g. minimize the generation of
EEMEENEZENEE construction and demolition materials, use electronic means

to reduce paper usage and use duplex printing;
WIRSE R - PlInE SR D B EMIFRM B NES - £
REFHURDARER - WEAEITED

encourage employees to recycle equipment such as computers
and communication devices through the recycling programme
of Environmental Protection Department.
SEVEERBRFEREZTHNOYETE - CIRREINE KA
BHERS -

reuse office stationeries (e.g. envelopes and folders);
ERRLEXERR (PINEHRERRE)

reuse the inert materials produced on construction site;

BRI R E I EL

recycle paper, aluminium cans and plastic bottles;

Bl AR « tEEA B

inert waste and non-inert waste must be separated before
disposal;

B RE MBI E R BRI A D

encourage workers to use reusable dishware;

SR TAERAEEFEANER

provide adequate waste skips and garbage bins with proper
cover;

Rt R MR BRI AN ERVRIRAS

employ licensed waste collectors to remove general refuse
from the site to licensed landfill sites or refuse transfer station;
BB R WER R - S —MRERE T E SRR R
S IR E L

separate collection and storage for general refuse, construction/
demolition material and chemical wastes; and

& — MR - R IR R 2 EE ) o B IR A
7 Rk

dispose waste on a regular basis to minimize odor, pest and
litter impacts.

TERRRIEREY) - AEERDEK - SRNEFOTE -
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Air Emissions

During the FY2024, the Group’s sources of direct air emissions were from
gaseous fuel consumption from private cars and marine gas oil consumption
from vessels. The air emissions of the private cars included 14,057 grams
(FY2023: 10,519 grams) of nitrogen oxides (NOy), 382 grams (FY2023: 286
grams) of sulphur oxides (SOx) and 1,035 grams (FY2023: 775 grams) of
respiratory suspended particles. The air emissions of the vessels included
61,449 kilograms (FY2023: 26,169 kilograms) of nitrogen oxides (NOy), 108
kilograms (FY2023: 46 kilograms) of sulphur oxides (SOyx) and 1,294 kilograms
(FY2023: 551 kilograms) of respiratory suspended particles.

REPORT BBiE - + @R ERME

BB

R-ZF-F - ARENEZERIFBURER
B ALK BB FE R E MM B SURERE © AR
BERERFREERARIEYNOYIL057R(=F

— =B 110519%) ~ FRE L (S0x3827 (=
T =B 2865 ) R ATR A SR E A F1,03550
(ZE-ZBF 7757 ) - MENERERSE

RA(EYI(NOY61,449 T 72 (Z T = =BFF : 26,169
Fi)  BREW(S0N108 TR (ZE - =B & -
46T 52 ) M AR ASBIZ R 1,294 T s (ZE - =5
F:551F5%) e

KPI A1.1: Private cars emissions and respective emissions data

BRENEEAL
. . . 1,035
Respiratory suspended partlcles
R ASBFERF
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@ g
©
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a

Nitrogen oxides

P AREHRRAAEFRBE

I N N

k=Rt
10,519
0 2,000 4000 6000 8000 10,000 12,000 14,000 16,000
g
T
W FY2024 FY2023
—EoNEE T =HEF

1 The vehicle emission factors were calculated based on the Hong Kong
Environmental Protection Department’s Vehicle Emission Calculation Model.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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KPI A1.1: Vessels emissions and respective emissions data

BRERIERALY  MESRRARERBIE

Respiratory suspended particles

ATRASETHT

Sulphur oxides

ety

Vessels emissions
M E

Nitrogen oxides

REY

I 1,294

551
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0 10,000 20,000 30,000 40,000 50,000 60,000 70,000
kg
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“EOEBFE —ZE-ZHF

The vessels emission factors were calculated based on the “Quantification of 2 MEBEREETYZIBEntec UK Limited 34 HYBUM

Emissions from Ships Associated with Ship Movements between Ports in The BEERMITE B g MM EERUNEREE QD 2%
European Community” from the European Commission published by Entec UK BEENMESRENFE -
Limited.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group's direct greenhouse gas emissions of the private cars and vessels
included carbon dioxide (CO,), methane (CH,) and nitrous oxide (N,0). The
carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emission of greenhouse gas from private
cars and vessels were 70,382 kilograms and 3,942,027 kilograms respectively
(FY2023:45,879 kilograms and 1,486,300 kilograms respectively). Our major
indirect greenhouse gas emission were 71,494 kilograms (FY2023: 14,375
kilograms) of carbon dioxide (CO,) resulted from the generation of electricity,
which was used in the offices/site offices and purchased from CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited. Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions were 13,328
kilograms (FY2023: 7,358 kilograms) of carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent
emission resulted from office waste paper.

During the Year, the total carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emission of the
Group was 4,097,231 kilograms (FY2023: 1,553,912 kilograms) and the carbon
dioxide (CO,) equivalent emissions intensity was 18.35 kilogram/thousand
Hong Kong Dollar revenue (FY2023: 7.85 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong
Dollar revenue).

In general, the total air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions for the Year
has increased. The majority of emissions were from fuel usage by the vessels.
Theincrease in emissions from vessels during the Year was due to increased
usage of passenger boats and tug boats as required by the projects. The
Group shall continue to implement the environmental policies and control
measures with a view to reducing fuel usage of its vessels. The emissions from
private cars have increased during the Year and the Group shall continue
to encourage the use of public transport and switching to electric cars to
further reduce emissions.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A

BEREHML

AEEMNLRERMEEE BEEREREES
a1bHx(co,) + Bi(CH,) RE(LER(N,0) ° Fi
RERMEFRERE _AHk(CO,) B 25K
2 A 570,382F 72 23,942,027 T 72 ( —ZF — = 8%
F : 95545879 T 7% 51,486,300 T 7% ) - AEE
NEEHEAEREERABENEEN St
(CO,) 71,494 F (=T =84 : 14375F 52) -
ERRRARE WEFAERBEATESHER
AE] - HEER E RN AR A PHASEER
13,328 F R (=T =84 : 7,358 F %) —&1bhx
(Co,)EEHEm -

RAFE - AEB ZA/bHR(Co,) & EHRABE
54,097,231 F 5= (=ZE =B84 : 1,553,912F 55)
K —gtix(co,) EEHMEE R1835F %=,/ F
BT -=F 785F %/ FTHETK

) e
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KPI A1.2: Greenhouse gas emissions

BRENIEEA1.2  REREHER

Total

st
1,553,912
13,328
From paper waste
R REAK
7,358
o |71,494
From purchased electricity
KEIINEE
14,375
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ME )L%
oSk 1,486,300
) I70,382
From private cars
RETLRE
RERX 45,879
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kg
T
B FY2024 FY2023
—ENOEFE ZE-=HF

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from private cars, vessels and paper 1 KRB - MEMBERE_SRESHRDIBRESR

waste were calculated based on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report BREREERD ARSI ESHMHA(EBEE
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, V(- EESIAHAR) MR ERETERER
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” published by the Hong MREZEMBEIESIDFE -

Kong Environmental Protection Department and Hong Kong Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from purchased electricity was 2 NEEHZSIREEVRDBEREPEZREY

calculated based on the emission factor obtained from the “2023 Sustainability QO23AIFBEBRBMEVIMERN M AEEEHE -
Report” of CLP Holdings.
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Discharge into Water and Land, and Generation of Hazardous and
non-Hazardous Waste

During the Year, the Group’s major source of discharge into water was
from use of water in the office and on the vessels. The amount of water
consumption and discharge in the office was not available for collection
since water supply and processing of sewage were handled by the property
management company or relevant local government departments. The
total water consumption on the vessels for the Year was 2,103 cubic meters
(FY2023: 1,283 cubic meters) and the intensity was 0.01 cubic meter/
thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (FY2023: 0.01 cubic meter/thousand
Hong Kong Dollar revenue).

[EIkR LT  REEREZERYHEL

RAFE @ AEENEBRAKESKIREREHA
ERMERK - ARRKAMSKEERYEER
AR E EEETIFIEE - BULRHAEAK
MPRAKEEEZNRE - AEERERTEKES
2103 FK(ZZEZ=Z8F 1 1,283 A K) R &
BRI AR TFTETRS(ZE_=ZMF:
0.013 5K/ FAETME) »

Water consumption

KPI A2.2: Water Consumption in total
BRENIERA2.2 - BFKE

FEKE

1,283

0 500 1,000

1,500 2,000 2,500

cubic meter

B FY2024
- HF

Printer toners were the major sources of hazardous waste in the offices, the
total weight of hazardous waste generated was 7.15 kilograms (FY2023:
7.15 kilograms) and the intensity was 0.00001 kilogram/thousand Hong
Kong Dollar revenue (FY2023:0.00001 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar
revenue). The hazardous waste in the offices was collected and recycled by
relevant service providers.

K
FY2023
—E-ZHF

WMNERAEEEEEYNETERR 6 EEE
MBEERIISTE(ZE_=8F :715T %)
R E £0.00001 F 5 FHETWZE(ZE =8
F 1000001 T,/ FHELKE) - PRENEE
BEEYmRARREREmKEREYK -

KPI A1.3: Total hazardous waste produced
BRENIEFEA3  FIELEESREREYEE

Total hazardous waste produced

FIEEBEREEMBE s
0.00 1.00 2.00 3.00 4.00 5.00 6.00 7.00  8.00
kg
T3z
B FY2024 FY2023
“TONUHFE —E-=F
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At the construction sites, the main-contractor was registered with the
Environmental Protection Department as a chemical waste producer and
followed the relevant guidelines. Good quality containers compatible with
the chemical wastes were used and incompatible chemical were stored
separately. Appropriate labels were securely attached on each chemical
waste container indicating the corresponding chemical characteristics of
the chemical waste. Licensed collectors were hired to transport and dispose
the chemical wastes at the approved Chemical Waste Treatment Centre or
other licensed recycling facilities, in accordance with the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation.

The major source of non-hazardous waste for the Year were domestic waste
from the office and vessels. The amount of non-hazardous waste generated
was 4,752,576 kilograms (FY2023: 162,580 kilograms) and the intensity
was 21.281 kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (FY2023: 0.821
kilogram/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue). The significant increase in
non-hazardous waste was mainly due to the Group have been acting as the
main contractor and have taken on the responsibility of disposing of site
materials to the public fill during the Year.

REENR - BAERRNREREZEM RS
BEYMELEWEEARES - ERECEEYA
TNEERS  MTETNEERISFHAFR °
BECBEY TR LEFE B EEENIRE
R CEEMNERICERE - RE(EVREE
(E2REY) (—RIBRH) - FHEEEEZENE
BE 2 REY) BRI D S B A 45 1R B K BR B 5E
BMEECEREY -

AEEEEEEYNEIERRANAERMEN
RIEREY) - EEMBEEEEYE /4,752,576 T
(ZE =B 1 162,580 T %) R B E 521.281F
%/ TATRR(CE-=8F 08201 T%,/ T
BlE) c |MEBEEMHANRIZNEZERARE
BAAFE—EETELAER  TEAEESHR
MBI ZE R RHEERE o

KPI A1.4: Total non-hazardous waste produced

FRENIERAI4: TEARERRYEE

Total non-hazardous waste produced

FEAREEEDES
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0 1,000,000
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ZE OB

The non-hazardous waste in the office was handled by the property
management company. The construction waste was disposed to public fill
reception facilities and landfills. All vessels were kept free from litter and
general refuse at all times and waste skips and garbage bins with suitable
covers were provided at designated locations. All waste disposal points were
maintained and cleaned regularly.
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Energy Consumption and Intensity

During the Year, the direct energy consumption of the Group included 223,496
kilowatt hours (FY2023: 167,162 kilowatt hours) of energy consumption by
private cars and 13,673,395 kilowatt hours (FY2023: 5,823,023 kilowatt
hours) of energy consumption by vessels. Its indirect energy consumptions
included 183,317 kilowatt hours (FY2023: 38,850 kilowatt hours) of energy
consumption from purchased electricity.

The total energy consumption of the Group was 14,080,208 kilowatt hours
(FY2023: 6,029,035 kilowatt hours) and the energy consumption intensity
was 63.05 kilowatt hour/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue (FY2023:30.45
kilowatt hour/thousand Hong Kong Dollar revenue).

BERFEERZE

RAFE AEBNERERESRIELRELR
TRFEE223496 T ER(ZZE =84 : 167, 162:1:
) M EREE13,673,395 T RE(-Z—
=B : 5823023 T FLls) - EMIEEREER
HEINEE R RER 183317 TR (T - =
BT 4 : 38,850 T FLAF) ©

REBMEEREFES 514,080,208 TR (T =
=B 1 6,029035 T FE) MEERFEEREA
63.05T EL B/ FB Tz (_T— =Bf%F 1 3045

FTRE/FHETkR)

KPI A2.1: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
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1 The energy consumption by private cars and vessels was calculated based on
the data obtained from the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International
Energy Agency.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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Responses to Climate Change

The increase in climate change has led to extreme weather events such as
global warming, rising sea level and drought, which may affect the Group's
operation indirectly.

The Group has identified increasing risk of head stoke due to extreme
weather and potential technological change in land reclamation work due
to rising sea level as the major risks in relation to climate change, that may
have a significant impact on the Group.

In response to climate change and the above risks to the Group’s operation,
the Group shall continue to control or reduce its impact to the environment.
In addition, the Group has provided relevant training and anti-heat stress
clothing with better breathability, faster sweat evaporation and better UV
protection to site workers. The management shall continue to research
and closely monitor the effect of rising sea level to land reclamation works.

OUR PEOPLE

The Group believes that employee is the most important component driving
the Group's success, thus maintaining a good relationship with employees is
of utmostimportance. By regular communication through different channels,
the employees are encouraged to express their opinions on the policies
relating to employment and labour practices. With a view to constructing a
work environment that favours collaboration and cooperation in compliance
with relevant laws and regulation, the Group has placed strong emphasis
on providing training and development opportunities, while maintaining a
safe and healthy work environment.

As of 31 May 2024, the total workforce of the Group consisted of 98
employees (31 May 2023: 88 employees). During the Year, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to employment that have a significantimpact of the Group, including
but not limited to Employment Ordinance and various anti-discrimination
ordinance.
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Composition of the Workforce at a Glance B TARBR
(EEAEER =T -_mIFRA=T—RAK=Z=

(This refers to employees of the Group as at 31 May 2024 and 31 May 2023)
=FHA=T—HHEE)
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By Geographical Region

it & &l o
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1 The number of employees as of 31 May 2024 only includes the employees of
the operations of the marine construction works, other civil engineering works
and provision of vessel chartering services. Employees of the new business are
not included.

Remuneration and Benefit

The salaries and benefits of the employees are based on prevailing
local market rate and subject to adjustment based on experiences and
qualifications. Staff performance appraisals are conducted annually to
assess staff's performance, which also serves as an official communication
channel with employees. To attract and retain outstanding employees, the
remuneration packages are subject to review annually.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the government of
the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make
the specified contributions.

During the Year, the total contribution to the MPF scheme and the state-
managed retirement benefit plan amounted to HK$1,614,000 (FY2023:
HK$1,109,000).
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Working Hours and Holidays

Office staff are in general required to work 5.5 days a week from 9:30 am
to 6 pm, while site works are in general required to work 6 days a week
from 8 am to 6 pm. Due to operational requirement, employees may be
required to work outside the normal working hours at the discretion of the
department manager for the proper performance of the assigned duties
and that the compensation leave or overtime pay are calculated according
to the employment contract. The Group encourages the management and
employees to maintain a work-life balance, avoid unnecessary overtime and
maintain a good corporate culture.

The Group provides holidays and leaves for the employees including:
. statutory holidays;
. paid annual leave of not less than 7 days per annum;

. sick leave in accordance with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57
of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. 14 weeks of maternity leave, in accordance with the Employment
Ordinance;

. 5 days of paternity leave, in accordance with the Employment
Ordinance; and

. special leaves including 3 days of marriage leave and 1 to 3 days of
bereavement leave;

Recruitment, Dismissal, Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

In order to standardise recruitment and dismissal procedures and comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, the Group has formulated
the Staff Handbook and Human Resources and Payroll Management Policy
and Procedure.

The department requesting recruitment has to fill in a “Staff Requisition
Form” with details of the job description and requirements, which shall be
reviewed and approved by senior management. When recruiting for a senior
management position, the Board’s review and approval are also required. The
major principle of recruitment is the suitability of the candidates in relation
to the positions. Other factors such as required practical knowledge of the
position, the qualifications, attitude, skill, potential and experience of the
candidates are also considered. During recruitment, the Group encourages
to provide equal opportunity to people with different social statuses, races
and genders, with a view to increasing internal diversity and strengthening
competitiveness.
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Upon the employment of an employee, an employment contract which is
prepared in accordance with the Staff Handbook and relevant local laws
and regulations, shall be signed with the employee including terms on non-
disclosure agreement. Probation period is usually 3 months and subject to
the performance review for extension.

The conditions of terminating employment contract are thoroughly
communicated to the employees through the Staff Handbook and their
employment contracts, and the terms and conditions comply with relevant
local laws and regulations.

Employee Turnover Rate

During the Year, there were 53 employees (FY2023: 33 employees) who left
the Group, with a total turnover rate of 57% (FY2023: 44%). The turnover
rate of male and female employee was 61% and 32% respectively (FY2023:
41% and 71% respectively). The employee turnover rate by age group was
as follows:

. Belowage30: 50% (FY2023:55%)

. Age 30 to 50: 79%  (FY2023:46%)
. Above age 50: 41%  (FY2023:41%)

The employee turnover rate by geographical region was as follows:
. Hong Kong: 58%  (FY2023:45%)

. The PRC: 0% (FY2023: 0%)
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KPI B1.2: Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to provide employees a safe working environment
to protect them from occupational hazards. A Safety Management Plan has
been adopted to manage, control and coordinate the works in order to
protect the safety and health of our employees.

The Group only allows worker with valid Green Card (Mandatory Basic
Safety Training) holder to work on site. Certificate of Mandatory Basic
Safety Training is valid for three years and workers are required to attend
refresher training by recognized training bodies for renewal of certificate.
The project management ensures only employee holding a valid license or
certificate of competency to be assigned to jobs requiring specific license
or training. In addition, management and supervisor should hold relevant
safety certificates. Our workforce holds a number of marine construction,
civil construction and vessels related certificates, including but not limited to:
. Certificate in First Aid;

. Certificate of Training for Works Supervisor Safety Training Course;

. Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate;

. Safe Working Cycle Training Certificate;

. Certificate of Training for Assistant Safety Officer Training Course;

. Certificate of Training for Construction Safety Supervisor Course;

. Certificate of Training for Environmental Protection for Environmental
Supervisors;

. Certificate of Training for Hazard Identification Activity;

. Certificate of Training for Accident Investigation;

. Certificate of Training for Risk Assessment & Job Safety Analysis;
. Certificate of Training for Safety Inspection;

. Certificate of Training for Basic Accident Prevention;

. Certificate of Training for Basic Safety Management;

. ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management System;

. Skipper Certificate;
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. Certificate of Training for Shipboard Cargo Handling Basic Safety
Training Course;

. Pleasure Vessel Operator Certificate of Competency;

. Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Local Certificate of Competency;
. Engine Operator Local Certificate of Competency;

. Coxswain Local Certificate of Competency;

. Certificate of Training for Works Supervisor Safety Training Course
(Marine Construction) and

. Certificate of Training for Shipboard Crane Operator Safety Training
Course.

In addition, the Group has certificate databases which monitor the status
of various certificates of our vessels and certificates held by our workforce
to ensure any required re-training or renewal are scheduled accordingly.

The Group or the main contractor ensure that all construction activities are
subject to a formal risk assessment prior to the commencement of individual
operations. Job safety analysis are carried out to identify critical tasks and
potential hazards. After evaluation of the risks, the corresponding safety
precautions can be defined and safe working procedures shall be developed.
Provision of personal protective equipment should also be addressed in the
procedures. The safety officer is responsible for regular site inspection. In case
of emergency or accidents, the site management should response according
to the relevant emergency procedures in the Safety Management Plan.
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The safety officer or supervisor is responsible for conducting pre-task
meeting prior to commencement of each shift work. The pre-task meeting
encourage the supervision staff and workers to communicate on the
following topics:

. accident or incident alerts;
. change in the work environment or procedures;

. concerns over safety, health, environment, hygiene and welfare; and

. other matters as deemed necessary.

Apart from pre-task meeting, task hazard briefing are also carried out on
a regular basis to ensure workers acknowledge the job instructions, the
approved and safe methods of working, the inherent hazards and how
they should be avoided. The safety officer or supervisor is responsible for
monitoring the safety instructions given during induction and job training
are deliberately followed up to ensure that the instruction remains effective.

During the Year, there were 0 lost days due to workplace injury. During the
past three years, there were no work-related fatality incidents in the Group.
The Group has secured employees’ insurance policies in accordance with the
laws of Hong Kong. The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety that have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to Employees’
Compensation Ordinance and Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance.

Development and Training

The Group values employees’ development of skills and knowledges,
believing that talent retention can drive innovations and business
development. The Group expects to grow and create values together with
its employees.
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All new employee on sites must undergo induction training so that they
are able to discharge their duties in a safe manner. The induction training
includes but not limited to:

. responsibilities and duties;

. safety policy statement and objectives;

. project organization — key personnel;

. general safety rule and personal protective equipment (PPE);

. accident reporting procedure;

. emergency procedure — evacuation route and assembly point;

. location of facilities (first aid station, drinking machine and etc.);

. site environment - potential hazard; and

. working over/near water.

Apart from induction training for new workers, on sites tool box training
are usually conducted once per week to enhance safety and environmental
awareness of our workers. The training attendance records are kept and
reviewed to measure the effectiveness and efficiency of training. The training
material include, but not limited to:

. code of practices, guidance notes and guidebooks;

. contractual instruction;

. in-house safety rules;

. emergency and evacuation procedure; and

. tool box training kit issued by the Hong Kong Construction Association,
Occupational Safety and Health Council, and Airport Authority.

The Group has been providing high-quality training for employees to meet
their development needs, and assisting employees to prepare for various
changes brought about by the Group’s active business plans. Employees
are encouraged to discuss with their supervisor or the human resources
department if they have special training requests or want to pursue
continuing education. On the subject of employees’ career prospects, if
vacancies or new positions are available, the Group shall consider internal
promotion or transfer, thus encouraging upward mobility of employees.
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In respect of development and training of the Directors and the company
secretary, please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section in the
Annual Report.

Percentage of Employees Trained and Average Training Hours
Completed
During the Year, the Group's percentage of employees trained for male and
female employees were 100% and 15% respectively (FY2023: 100% and 25%
respectively).

The percentage of employees trained by employee category was as follows:
. Office staff: 44% (FY2023: 48%)

. Site worker: 100% (FY2023: 100%)
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KPI B3.1: The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
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The average training hours completed per employee for male and female BEBEMRZMREETKZINNFHEED A
employees were 12.53 hours and 5 hours respectively (FY2023: 18.36 hours 1253/ B RS DF(ZZE =84 : 551471836
and 9.33 hours respectively). /NEF29.33/NBF ) o

The average training hours completed per employee by employee category EEEERETNEAEETKT I TIIRFE

was as follows: NN
Office Staff: 244 hours  (FY2023:22 hours) . WAEBT 2440 (ZZE-=FF:
22/NEF)
Site Worker:  13.81 hours  (FY2023: 16.67 hours) . MBI A 1381/ (ZZ-=FF:
16.67/\6%)
KPI B3.2: The average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly complies with the policies and guidelines in the
employment laws of Hong Kong, including elimination of child labour,
forced labour and illegal worker. All operating units have to ensure no child
labour, forced labour or illegal worker is employed. During the recruitment
process, the human resources department requires candidate to provide
identification document to check their eligibility to work legally in Hong
Kong.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group continues to monitor closely on its daily operation and encourages
suppliers and contractors to join force in promoting performance of
sustainable development. Suppliers and contractors are bound by contracts
and the laws and regulations of Hong Kong, ensuring their compliance
with laws and regulation relating to environmental and social policies. For
instances, they are forbidden to employ under-age labour or workers without
work visa, and the products supplied must meet environmental standards.

During procurement for the Group, purchase requisition is initiated according
to the requirement of construction projects or administration department.
The Group has maintained an approved list of suppliers by evaluating the
price, quality, time delivery, industry reputation, payment terms and etc.,
to ensure a fair and equal selection. When performing supplier/contractor
background check, the project manager and administration management
are encouraged to evaluate the environmental and social risks of the supplier
and contractors. The industry reputation of the supplier/contractor includes
its environmental risks (e.g. whether the supplier/contractor was previously
fined by the Environmental Protection Department) and social risks (e.g.
whether there was recent occupational accidents occurred). By operating an
1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management System, the Group encourages supplier
and contractors to improve occupational health and safety requirements,
as well as to mitigate their environmental and social risk for continuing
improvement.

The Group also encourage that more environmentally friendly products or
services should be procured when it is feasible, with a view to minimizing
negative impacts to the environment and human health, and also conserving
natural resources. The environmental and social risks of the supply chain
are monitored by the project management and administration manager.
If there are significant changes in environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, they should discuss with other departments and decide on
risk responses.
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During the Year, the Group’s number of suppliers engaged by the above
practices by geographical region are as follows:

. Hong Kong: 155 (FY2023:190)
. The PRC: 2 (FY2023:0)
QUALITY MANAGEMENT

The Group operates a Quality Management System which compiles with
the requirement of 1SO 9001:2015 for the provision of port works, roads
and drainage, site formation and waterworks. By implementation of ISO
9001:2015 - Quality Management Systems, we continue to improve, monitor
and review our services to ensure customer satisfaction. The Group has
formulated a Quality Policy and ensure all staff understood and implement
the policy, which aims to:

. exceed the service requirements and expectations of our customers,
to ensure we are their preferred service contractor;

. develop a rigorous work attitude, provide quality service and meet
clients’ requirement;

. instil in staff the right kind of work attitude and professionalism;

. develop procedure and guidelines to regulate the company’s
operational requirement;

. encourage and support all types of training, regard employees as
important assets of the company and promote the concept of quality

service and safe work to employees;

. encourage supplier and contractors to improve occupational health
and safety requirements;

. encourage and require, wherever appropriate, our business partners,
suppliers and vendors to adopt equivalent principles; and

. identify the risks and opportunities of the Group, and plan for action
needed to be taken.
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Our quality assurance process include but not limited to determining and
reviewing the requirements of services, control of service provision and
nonconforming outputs, as well as monitoring, measurement, analysis and
evaluation of the performance to ensure customer satisfaction. Internal audit
at planned intervals of the quality management system are carried out by
the main contractor or the Group in order to ensure the system conforms to
the requirements and is effectively implemented and maintained.

With a view to protecting intellectual property rights, clients’ data and
privacy, Directors and employees must comply with the Group’s Code of
Conduct and relevant sections in the Staff Handbook. Disclosure, use or
sharing of confidential information are strictly prohibited unless authorized
or required by law. Each department of the Group should ensure security
measures are in place to protect the confidential information, including
locking sensitive documents in safe and restricting access to confidential
data in computer systems. In addition, the Group has formulated a General
Computer Controls Policy and Procedure, which aims to safeguard the
information assets of the Group including clients’ data. The scope of this
policy includes information technology usage and safeguard, access right
monitoring, system maintenance, protection from virus and malware, and
data protection.

The Group seeks fair and honest competition to gain competitive advantage
through superior performance rather than through unethical or illegal
business practices. It is prohibited to obtain confidential information,
to acquire trade secrets or any other information without the owner’s
consent, or to induce any past or existing employee to make unethical
disclosures. Each employee should respect the rights of the customers,
suppliers, competitors and employees for fair trade. Employees should not
gain an unfair advantage over others by manipulating, concealing, abusing
privileged information, distorting the truth, or any other illegal practices.
Employees must not engage in price fixing, collusion, bid rigging or any
other similar illegal anti-competitive activities. In conducting business, the
Group encourages building reputation and maintaining good relationships
business partners but not to gain any unfair advantage.

To monitor the above practices, employees who observe suspected activities
that are illegal or in violation of the Group’s regulations are encouraged
to report to the Audit Committee by following an Anti-Fraud and Whistle-
Blowing Policy and Procedure. Details may refer to the “Anti-corruption”
section below.

During the Year, the Group's percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons was 0% (FY2023: 0%) and
the number of products and service related complaints received was 0
(FY2023:0).
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During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to product responsibility that
have a significant impact on the Group.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group considers ethical conduct is of utmost importance in corporate
sustainable development and long-term success. Directors and employees
must comply with the Group’s Code of Conduct and relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, prohibiting individual and commercial bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

An Anti-Fraud and Whistle-Blowing Policy and Procedure has been adopted
in order to prevent, detect and report fraud into a set of format written
requirements. Any fraudulent activities or violation of the Group’s Code of
Conduct shall be reported to the Audit Committee, which will be fully and
promptly investigated by the Audit Committee. The investigations should
be handled confidentially. The identity of whistle-blower and the suspected
cases will not be disclosed. However, if there is sufficient evidence to suggest
that a case of possible criminal offence or corruption exists, the matter may
be reported to the relevant local authorities.

To help the Directors and the management of the Company to better
perform their governance role, a training on business ethics for listed
companies has been provided to the Directors and the management of
the Company. The training package used, which was published by the
Independent Commission Against Corruption, featured ethical challenges
faced by the company directors and highlights corruption issues, fraud,
conflict of interest, cross-boundary bribery, backdoor listing, insider dealing
and etc. In addition, during the Year, the Company’s compliance adviser has
provided other anti-corruption related trainings to the Directors and the
management. The topics included directors’ duties and obligation, ethics
and integrity. The Group shall strengthen its ethical culture by regular anti-
corruption training or materials to our Directors and employees.

During the Year, the number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees was 0 (FY2023: 0) and
the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations relating to anti-corruption that have a significant impact
of the Group.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to create a positive impact on the communities in
which it operates. Employees are encouraged to participate in community
projects and activities.

One of our projects completed during the FY2023 was to deploy a number of
artificial reefs in The Brothers Marine Park to provide artificial habitat for the
purposes of marine and fisheries resources enhancement. The Group hopes
to tender for similar projects in the future to contribute to the protection
of marine ecology.

In the coming year, the management shall review policies relating to
community investment and explore the feasibility of increasing community
investment activities.

SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Group continually improves by managing, monitoring and reporting its
KPIs. The tables below present a quantitative overview of our performance.

Subject Area A. Environmental
TRER/ARE

KPI A1.1: The types of emissions and respective emissions data’

BARAREZRAL  FRUERERABEREE

itERE
AEERNREEMTHRMEERAYE - 3B
BESELRER RES -

KRB _=MFERHER—EEEREXRNE
NEFLREMEZBEALAR  RHEAIER
- DAEINEFROREER - REEH BHEKRE
KRIZELUER - RREFFERELTR -

EEEBNKFRETEREBBBR @ KB
It E R E R ZAITTH -

PREBAMIEREE
AEEBBER  ERNERLBREKEET

BGE - MM BRRA/RMNKRETERL

Unit FY2024 FY2023

Item EE By 1) - S S

Private cars NOy emissions REERELYINO BN E g 14,057 10,519
)

Private cars SOx emissions FLREFAL (SO N E g 382 286
7

Private cars RSP emissions FLREB AR AP F B E g 1,035 775
)

Vessels NOx emissions MERAACYINO YN E kg 61,449 26,169
T

Vessels SOy emissions M EMALY(So B E kg 108 46
T

Vessels RSP emissions M ERTIRABER FHERE kg 1,294 551
T
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KPI A1.2: Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity
BEENEEM . RERBAFNERTE
Unit FY2024 FY2023
ltem | B “RONME  —RO=RE
Scope 1 - Direct emissions from sources EE - RREEEHK
CO, equivalent emissions from private cars FARE &Itk (CO,) BEH® kg 70,382 45,879
T
CO, equivalent emissions from vessels? WE—&hx (Co,) EEHM kg 3,942,027 1,486,300
T
Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions EiE2— MIERER
CO, equivalent emissions from purchased HNEE N AL (CO,) EEHIC kg 71,494 14,375
electricity? Tr
Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions EiE3— H bR HE
CO, equivalent emissions from paper waste? Rt — EL Ak (CO,) BEHI? kg 13,328 7,358
T
Total CO, equivalent emissions Z&fehx (Co,) EEHHEE kg 4,097,231 1,553,912
T
Revenue Izs HKS$'000 223,331 198,026
FAT
CO, equivalent emissions intensity —&{LhR (COo,) EEHNTE kg/HK$'000 1835 7.85
Tr/FET

1 The vehicle emission factors were calculated based on the Hong Kong

Environmental Protection Department’s Vehicle Emission Calculation Model.
The vessels emission factors were calculated based on the “Quantification of
Emissions from Ships Associated with Ship Movements between Ports in The
European Community” from the European Commission published by Entec UK
Limited.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from private cars, vessels and paper
waste were calculated based on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report
on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong” published by the Hong
Kong Environmental Protection Department and Hong Kong Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department.

The carbon dioxide equivalent emissions from purchased electricity was
calculated based on the emission factor obtained from the “2023 Sustainability
Report” of CLP Holdings.

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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KPI A1.3 & A1.4: Total hazardous and non-hazardous waste produced and intensity

FREVERAMIRAL: FELEERESERNBENREE

Unit FY2024 FY2023
Item HE B —E-ONME B =YHF
Total hazardous waste produced’ FIE4BEREDES kg 7.15 7.15
T

Total non-hazardous waste produced FIE4ABEREENES kg 4,752,576 162,580
T

Revenue Yam HK$'000 223,331 198,026
FBT

Intensity of hazardous waste produced ~ FTEA BEFEENTE kg/HK$'000 0.00001 0.00001
F=/FHET

Intensity of non-hazardous waste FIEAEEREYRE kg/HK$'000 21.281 0.8210

produced Fr/FHET

KPI A2.1: Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity

BRENIEEA2  REABINEER SBEEREXEREE

Unit FY2024 FY2023

Item HE B “RONME  ZED=MF

Energy consumption by private cars? FLR B RERFER> kWh 223,496 167,162

T RBF
Energy consumption by vessels? e aLIRE 22 kWh 13,673,395 5,823,023
T EB

Energy consumption by purchased INEE NRERES kWh 183,317 38,850

electricity T RLEF
Total energy consumption REREES kWh 14,080,208 6,029,035
TR

Revenue Was HK$'000 223,331 198,026
FHET

Energy consumption intensity EREERE kWh/HK$'000 63.05 30.45
FTREFET

KPI A2.2: Water consumption in total and intensity

BRENIEEA22  BEKERRE
Unit FY2024 FY2023

Item HHE B 11 - S — SN S

Water consumption? FEkE? m3 2,103 1,283

7K

Revenue Yoas HK$'000 223,331 198,026

FHBT
Water consumption intensity FRERE m*/HK$'000 0.01 0.01
SRS FET

1 Thedataonly accounted for hazardous waste produced in the office. 1 BREFABMAEZEENEEEEY -

2 The energy consumption by private cars and vessels was calculated based on 2 ARERMEEREEREEEFEERBE LN
the data obtained from the “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International TR T (Energy Statistics Manual) I BUETE -
Energy Agency.

3 The data only accounted for water consumption on the vessels. 3 BRESAMENFKE -
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Subject Area B. Social
TEHEBAME

KPI B1.1: Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region
BRERIEEB - EME - ERER FRANREERSNESLAH

As at 31 May 2024 As at 31 May 2023
R-ZE-WF R-B-=F
FEA=+—H BEA=+—H
Number' Percentage Number Percentage
Category k]| gae B E2E] Bk
Total workforce ZEES 98 100% 88 100%
Gender 51
Male el 85 87% 76 86%
Female gegis 13 13% 12 14%
Employment Type EEER
Office staff MAEE 36 37% 42 48%
Site worker HEET A 62 63% 46 52%
Age Group FHe AR
Below age 30 307 A 6 6% 6 7%
Age 30to 50 30E505% 40 41% 36 41%
Above age 50 50754 £ 52 53% 46 52%
Geographical Region &=
Hong Kong B 98 100% 86 98%
The PRC s 0 0% 2 2%

1 The number of employees as at 31 May 2024 only includes the employees of 1 RIZ_MNERA=+—HNEEABERES

the operations of the marine construction works, other civil engineering works FRETE  H - ARTIRERREEMERERS
and provision of vessel chartering services. Employees of the new business are HEERE - MEBHEBALRMAA -

not included.

90 Tian Cheng Holdings Limited X% R A 7]



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IR1E « 18R E

KPI B1.2: Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region

BRENIEREB1.2 - MR - FRANRBEZ I NEERALR

FY2024 FY2023
—E_MEE ZEIZHE
Turnover Rate Turnover Rate
Category 5l MK E TKtE=
Total workforce FHES 57% 44%
Gender 4 51
Male Bt 61% 41%
Female 7t 32% 71%
Age Group FHeE Rl
Below age 30 3055 A T~ 50% 55%
Age 30 to 50 30E505% 79% 46%
Above age 50 5055 A 41% 41%
Geographical Region &
Hong Kong BB 58% 45%
The PRC H 0% 0%
KPI B2.1: Number and rate of work-related fatalities
BRENEER2.1 : BT EBEHEMETHABRLLER
FY2024 FY2023 FY2022
“ECMmEE —RICHE nt et/ 2
Number  Percentage Number  Percentage Number  Percentage
Category Bl ] B 2R BO #R B
Work-related fatalities B TEREMmSL T 0 0% 0 0% 0 0%
KPI B2.2: Lost days due to work injury
BRENEEB2.2 : EIGIEATEAR
FY2024 FY2023
—E-EE —EC=EE
Number Number
Category Hhal #H 2 gE|
Lost days due to work injury ATISEELXTIERE 0 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 F3R
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KPI B3.1: The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
BREENIEER3 - RUEFIREEERSSNZIREET L

FY2024 FY2023
111} 7/ 5 —E_=EE
Percentage Percentage
Category il BA Epind
Gender 7
Male B 100% 100%
Female ey 15% 25%
Employee Category EEEH
Office Staff WAEET 44% 48%
Site Worker AT A 100% 100%
Total workforce =HEEE 100% 90%
KPI B3.2: The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category
BEENIEER3.2  RUEFIREEERES  BEEETHZIN TR
FY2024 FY2023
—E_MEE —BRIZHE

Average training
hours completed

Average training
hours completed

FER S FER S A
Category 5l TR TR
Gender 45l
Male S 12.53 18.36
Female ey 5.00 9.33
Employee Category EEEH
Office Staff WAEET 2.44 22.00
Site Worker AR T A 13.81 16.67
Total workforce 2EES 12.42 18.02
KPI B5.1: Number of suppliers by geographical region
FRENIEEBS. - R EE D WHEREE
FY2024 FY2023
“EBCMEF —ECREF

Number Percentage Number Percentage
Geographical Region  #hE A Aok £ gE| it
Hong Kong B 155 99% 190 100%
The PRC a3 2 1% 0 0%
Total st 157 100% 190 100%

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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KPI B6.1: Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons

FRENIERB. - CEHNCEXEMBRTAZ2HREERMARNKRNE S

FY2024 FY2023
—2-maE —g-=pE
Percentage Percentage
Category 5l BAL Aok
Percentage of total products sold or BERCEIEMREFTELRHE
shipped subject to recalls for safety fREREIEAMERKNE S
and health reasons 0% 0%
KPI B6.2: Number of products and service related complaints received
BEENIEEB6.2 - EEBENERNRBHIRFEE
FY2024 FY2023
—EEEF “ECZHEF
Number Number
Category Hhl A BB
Number of products and service related £ /&R E fh M ARFS RIS FFE R
complaints received 0 0

KPI B7.1: Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees during the

reporting period

RRENIERB7.  REEHANBRTARHEERHYCELENESHRARFNEE

FY2024 FY2023
“EIEF TEIZHF
Number Number
Category Al £ g 2 gE|
Number of concluded legal cases RREBREBEITASEEERLEYE
regarding corrupt practices brought BENESHFLARGNEER
against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period 0 0
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INDEX OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND FEERASXHIMARLATKERE - it &
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE OF THE STOCK REREEEREIDES] -
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED.
Subject Areas and Aspects Page
FTESEERER ¥
Subject Area A - Environmental
FESERA-RIR
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEAT : HiY
General Disclosure Information on: 57 -69
—MRIKER

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BHERIOREREBHN - KR HHEES - AEREBEEEEVNES

24 -

a) BR: R

b) EFHBEITABEARZENMBEBERKARN

BEH
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 64 - 65
FARRAIIEIZAL PR RE SR M AR R R BUR -
KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions and, where appropriate, intensity 66 — 67
RS AERUEIRA.2 BERBHERER(MER)RE
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. 68 - 69
RS A IEIRAL3 FEXEEEEVRER(MER)RE -
KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity. 69
RS AEUIRIRA1 4 FEARZEEVAER(WER)RE -
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 57 -62

RSB IR RALS

KPI A1.6
FRSHE M IEIRAL6

FAMPTET I BBENE B IR R R ERE L B IR A PR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

Rl BRI A E R EEREEYN L - ARSI ARRE B IR R RERE
L B RPTEREREY PR -

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[EHEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw 57-63
—MRBEER materials.

BRERER(BIEER - KEEMERMED)OEEK -

KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. 70
RS AE R RA21 RERE SN EER REEEREFEERTE -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 68
RASEAERIETRA2.2 REKEREE

KPIA2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 57-63
RS AE IS 1RA23 them

WAL PR ET S BEIR(E A ek B 1R M B2 B 15 Lk B R TR B 2 B

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, 60, 62- 63
FRERIEIRA24 water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them

i SKEGE AR LRI B AR - URET ARG EE ERAED

B L B IRFTERER Y B

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if applicable, with Not applicable to the
RSB RIEIZA2.5 reference to per unit produced. Group's operation
HXmATABEMHNEE R (NER)BEEBLGE - THARAEER
7%
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ARE

Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEERRER BH
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[EHA3 : RIERAAER
General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the environment and 57-63
— MRk natural resources.

BIRFEITAHRRERRAABERENEAZENEE -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 57-63
R SRAETIEIZA3 natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

R EBEBHIRERARAEROERTE AR ELITE o
Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EHEAS : RIREL
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 71
— MR which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI R EHEE RGBT AEEFENERRREAETENEE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 71
RAREIEIRAL1 those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

WD ERAREEHETAELETXENEAREHEBEEAREHITY -

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited KFIZRERA A
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BE

Subject Area B - Social

FTEERB-HE
Employment and Labour Practices
EBREREIER
Aspect B1: Employment
[BmEB1 : {E{E
General Disclosure Information on: 71-75
—RRIREE

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working

hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other

benefits and welfare.

BEEM R RE  BEREA IERH R - FEKE  Zatk K

IR AR A K2 At 15538 S AR T Y

a) B R

b) ETHEITABERZENHBERLAN

HEH o
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 72-73
B AE RFEIEB. region.

RIS - EEER - FRARIKMES S HES LA -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 75-76
RAS A HE1RB1.2 R - FiRAERI RERESHEESRKLX -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BH

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EMEB2 : REHEZ2

General Disclosure Information on: 77 -79
—RRIRER
a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

BRRMZE2TERERREREESLBELREN

a) BUOR:
b) BSFEIE fT}\*ﬁEﬁ 7 EFERE AR MR B

EF -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 79
BSRAE BUEIEBR2.1 years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BEREFE)SFER T HHABRLE -

KP1B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 79
RS AR WIE1RB2.2 HIGERIHERE -

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how they are 77 -79
BB BUIEIZB23 implemented and monitored.

T PR AN B R B R 2R 1 - AR RITRER X -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FETEB3 : /R RIFI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at 79 - 81
—MRBEER work. Description of training activities.

BRARTHEE BT TIERBE M MNB M EREMEER - fFINES -

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 81
BSR4 BUIEIZEB3.1 senior management, middle management).

BEURREEERN(INERERE  PREEE)IINZIIEEBDL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 82
BB AE FE1EBR3.2 category.
RURILEEERIED - FRESTKIIINTFHRE -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 - 35 TXAI

General Disclosure Information on: 83
—RBEE
a) the policies; and
b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BEEP IEE T Ro&HI%5 T

a) BE Rk
b) BTHBEITABEARFEMEBRLZNRH

HAR -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 83
AR B BB IEBA4.1 forced labour.

it B E M EEA R RET REHST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 83
RASR A HE1RB4.2 R B BE AR B BT A ISP EREREY 2288 o
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BH
Operating Practices
EEEH
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[ETEBS - ftEHERE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 83
—MRBEE EEHERENREREERBBUR -
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 84
BB HE1RB5. i@ S D HERRE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 83
BSR4 BUEIEBS5.2 where the practices are being implemented, how they are implemented and

monitored.

f G AHEENES - MERTABEMNNHERHRE - UKIEH

BITRERTE -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 83
BSR4 BUIEIEB5.3 the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

R AR BN MRS EREGNRR R G RRAIES - LARABBRITR
KPIB5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 83

BASEAE M IE1B5.4

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

RERE HEERRESZARREMRERBHED - ARBEHRTRE
BITA o
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BE

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EMEB6 : EMEME

General Disclosure Information on: 84 - 86
—RRIRER
a) the policies; and
b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of redress.
BAMREEMMBRENERERZ? - BE  REILBEEURERT
ER

a) BE Xk
b) BTFHBETABERFZEMEREZ MR

AR o
KPIB6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 85
B AE R FE1EB6.1 health reasons.

EENCDEREMERTRALZZBEFRERMARKNA DL -

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 85
RAS2 45 WIE15B6.2 dealt with.
BEBNERMRGEIRFEE U REEHTTX -

KPI1B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 85
B EBIEIZB6.3 property rights.
Tt R 4 R RIB AR E R A FRIE DI -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 84 - 86
RASAE IR 1RB6.4 S ST REREMLIBIRF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how they are 85
BAIR4EBIEIRBR6.5 implemented and monitored.

HWIURBEEBRRERALBEE - URBERRTRERTX -
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BH
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: 86
—RRIRER

a) the policies; and

b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

B IERRER - $1R - BGEROARER

a) BR: R

b) BETFHBITABEATLENHBERLRD

HER °
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 86
BSR4 BUEIEBRT.1 the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.

RREHANEBITASEEEREYEEENE SHFARGEE KiFL

HER o
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, how they 86
RASR4EBIEIRRT.2 are implemented and monitored.

M SRR RRET - UREBRITRERFE o
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 86
RSB M E1RBT 3 ftmEERE TRENRETHE ©
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Subject Areas and Aspects Page
TEEERER BE
Community

#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EmEBS : HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 87
—RR IR ER communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.
BRI ELHERBEETACEMNCLENTEZNRREER TSSE
AR A Zm A BUR o

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 87
SR 48 BB 1EBS.1 needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREB(MHE  BEFHE  SIFK - @F itk - 85)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 87

BB IR 1RBS.2 EZIEBMBAER(NSEARRE) -
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@@ Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIAN CHENG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian Cheng
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 207,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 May 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 May 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+8522774 2188 F:+852 27742322

www.prism.com.hk

104 Tian Cheng Holdings Limited XFZ=RERA Al

B RERERBRABKRR
(RESHSEME A FRLAF)

BER
BMEEZHIINEN2E207EREIERBER A
AERADEEMBARAT S BEE])
MFEMBHRER @ ZFFAVBTHRREBER_-F
“HFEAA=T-BHEAMBIRREK - HERX
BLEFENGEEalEt2EKER  KE%E
BEPRLEARERER - UREAMBRE
s - BRERERSFIBRER -

HMRR  GAMBBRRCREBF LML
S((EREHMAE )RONBF BV BEREER
([BEMBRELEYN DEEMAFHREKE BF
BR-Z_MERA=1T— BN HERRA
REBEZALFENGEVBRRMGEARS
B YEBRBFBRAKINEEREZSE

o

it

BREHERE
BPREELSTHI RS BMNETEE LR
([EBFTERDETER - ERXFERT - %
PN EEERPINRE NEHED G F &SI
WEAFAENEF—EE— TR - REZES
AR ey RE & EnEETA([<FR)) - 3R
BYR BEEE - YEEBETRETEMERE
£ - BAEE - RAIFESHNERREETE R
BEEWRBRMANEZE RIRHER -

HFEMEBHERDA
EBSOPIE R Z3E85E 191 1903A-1905 %
TEAE 0 +85227742188 {HE : +852 2774 2322

www.prism.com.hk



MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared. The Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$44,136,000 and negative operating cash
flow of approximately HK$26,696,000 for the year ended 31 May 2024.
These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The directors of the Company having considered the
measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group
would be able to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern Section, we have
determined below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.

FRFEEECEXTFTRE.

BRPRBIEGAVEHREME "B HE
BEASAEVBHRERMEMANFECEER - B
E"E-_NMFRA=+—HIFE  E£EHE
R EEL44,136,0008 T N BELEHEEREL
26,696,00078 7T © 5% F 15 E Rl 4R & B 75 3K I
A3 M EMEERPHEEERTEEM -
AR EEEMNBESERENELAEARE -
BERRESREERE BEBMEIRMEREE @ R
B BEBEBAENFELSE - BANERLLE
UL BIEELEET ©

MEEHER

RIBRFINERAE - BREFZTE/BMAEX
AHEHGREMHERETHREZNER - R
ERERGAVBHRR AL ERE LR EE I
E2H MAERUFEETREFERER - K
BRBERE 2EATHEE &Rt mEIR
S - HFEEATERASBER RN RE T EE
MBS ERT = A -
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Revenue recognition for construction contracts

BESHBBER

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 3(n)(i).

B2 BT 6 B SRR I a5 R BRI 3(n) (DA B E IR

The Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMRERRNTEREFARETSE

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of marine
construction works and other civil engineering works, in
Hong Kong totalling approximately HK$197,236,000 for the
year ended 31 May 2024.

BHE_T_MFAA=T-HIEFE  SEEGRNA
%hhﬂ%%é@l&&ﬁﬁiﬂil% $#iEkad £0

197,236,000/ 7T °

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time
using the output method, based on direct measurements
of the value of contract work performed, which is mainly
reflected by the progress certificates issued by customers.
The customer will provide final account when the whole
project is completed and may have adjustments on the
amount recognised to date according to the actual surveys
of work performed at completion.
SRR RIMITE %’JIEE’JE&{E@ A8 KB
EﬁfHTFEjgﬁﬁEwu CZBEXERBETSHENES
o BEIEH FEAE T%T L8R E - BA]
TEEJZH HETHE R TRAIEHBE
TRIELFE -

We identified revenue recognition of construction contracts
as a key audit matter because it is quantitatively significant
to the consolidated financial statements and there is
judgement and estimation in the final outcome. The value
of contract work performed to date is measured according
to the progress certificate (by reference to the construction
works certified by customers or their agents). When the
outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extend
of contract cost incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

BPEEES O WaR B RERESZE - FRA

ﬁ%ﬁ?éﬁf%%&iiﬁj%%%(%ﬁik ﬁﬁﬁ%%q%&ﬁgﬂlﬁ:ﬁﬁ
Ribe; o 25 BETEN TRENEERIRERFH (KE2E
EESHREARBNZETR)FE - BFAA Sibfhf
EESHNERE QARREARELEZEHIRAFA
BEIRE Z 15T T LARERR -

Our audit procedures to assess revenue recognition for
construction contracts mcIuded the followin

SRR o7 12 1 T 40 1 5 FE S T 47 ) B S A2 FF B A T

IR

- Obtaining an understanding on the internal control over
the determination of appropriateness on the recognition
based on rogress certificates; e N

- 3?§$% R TR M 2 8

¢

- Assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the
design and implementation of key internal controls
over the contract revenue recognition processes and
the appropriateness of the revenue recognition policy
adopted by the management under HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers; .

- *E%E%%%ﬁﬁiﬁ#ﬁiﬁﬁl/ﬁswﬂ“gﬁ Aoz ariE i

B s N E A OGS TR R T AR &éﬁmﬁ’]
ﬁxﬁl - AREREBRANWSERBRNEE L

- Inspecting samples of contracts with customers, to
identify and evaluate key terms and conditions, and
to assess the Group’s revenue recognition criteria
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accountlngstandards

ﬂm

- EEREEPEH J«A%EJ&%%IE(@&&&%#'
]%ié%fﬁﬁaﬁrﬁﬁ'mﬁ%ﬁ Eath HEREMKmER

- Cross checking the contract revenue recognised for
construction projects during the year, on a sample basis,
with progress certificates issued by customers to assess
the correctness and validate the recognition of contract
revenue;

- Hﬁiﬁ%‘dﬂ% CHRBANA NG RELRHMNER
EE fTTEE S WA - A & ) R as i IEREME K

TH:/E/ < EE o

- Cross checking the certified amounts in the final
accounts, for contracts completed during the year,
with the contract revenue recognised to date, to assess
whether adjustments in the final accounts, if any, have
been reflected in the Group’s accounting records; and

- RENCERAE - %m%%a¢mwmﬁﬁmai
B AT RS / ’MZE TRXZH - UEHERE
,EEE%'Z ‘EE%%(;ZD%) H%E ﬁ%.ﬁ’] n‘l—uaff'

- Checking the appropriateness of revenue recognised, on
a sample basis, the certificates issued by the customers,
before and subsequent to year end date and other
relevant correspondences and supporting documents in
respect of variation order to evaluate the reasonableness
of the revenue reco nised.

- EFEERAHRE  mRRacERNONaNRE
- BERBOENR - NE6 T i8R E AR R

,fl:l I_I&ﬁEHXV—F J//\n:HEEﬁEu«uley EI'L/:'\ |E °

i
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Assessing potential impairment of the cash generating units of the Group

it BRERSELEMNEERE

Refer to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in Note 3(c), 3(d) and 3(f)(ii).

FR2 BTG B EERER I 13 R B HIAE3(c) ~ 3(d) R3(N(ii) 8T &,

AR

The Key Audit Matter
BRENSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMRELRENAEERRETEER

The Group suffered a loss for the year ended 31 May 2024
with net operating cash outflow, which the management
considered as an indication of impairment on the carrying
values of cash generating units which comprising property,
plant and equ1pment and right-of-use assets.

EEEREE T _MFAA=T-—HIEFERXEBR
GEESE R ERERLARCELBM(BREME
TR 55 e mR R DA K (8 FR A B BE ) BRI (B Z BB HE 4R ©

The management of the Group has assessed the recoverable
amounts of the cash generating units by applying the value
in use calculation. The assessment of the value in use is
inherently subjective as it involves the exercise of significant
management judgement and estimation, particularly in
determining future revenue, future operating expenses and
the discount rate applied.
;\xléﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ C UEHER S EA

By Al U [m] 5 58 @%ﬁ@m¥ﬁ$EtEﬁIQ&\
TERESREBEENSAMHM LG LERER
AR E - RREER RATEMIIRE -

Based on the impairment assessment, an impairment loss of

approximately HK$3,143,000 and approximately HK$417,000

was recognised on property, plant, and equipment and right-

of-use assets attributes to the cash generating units for the
year ended 31 May 2024.

@%ﬂ@%ﬁ %i_Y_Eiﬁﬂ T—RHILFE -

Y - BB R& ﬁu&@%%ﬁ% BB ERBERELN
?\143000,%75& 49417,00008 7T EHEBRRECELEE
N/ ©

We identified assessing potential impairment of the carrying
values of the cash generating units of the Group as a key audit
matter because management’s assessment of the recoverable
amounts involved significant judgement and estimation which
could be subject to management bias.

BPETE SEEERSELENREAENEEDREYR
FARELI S - HENER ETT%@ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ&E

RHVE R - HAlges U* EBRANTZE

Our audit procedures to assess potential impairment of
cash generating units which comprising property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group included the

foll
%f%?irlwfﬁﬁg P (BENE - BEEB AR ER
BEE MR E B R R A |

-  Obtaining an understanding on the management’s
determination and the identification of cash generating
units according to HKAS 36;

- BAUBBENETLREESGIENE65RHRA
ﬁ@éii@%?%

- Obtaining the detailed value in use calculation
performance by the management, particularly the key
assumptions to the valuation including discount rates
and revenue during the forecast period with reference
to the respective cash generatmg units;

- WH%@F&GM&%?%J#%ﬁZﬁF tE
HENEEZRE - BREBIRREME X RS
DERBRCEEEN

- Evaluatingthereasonableness of the cash flow projections
by comparing the actual results of those cash-generating
units to the previously forecasted results used;

- LLﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁgiiuma%m%mEﬁﬁm
AEAER  FHEBReRERAINE RN

- Obtaining the valuation report from the management
expert to determine of the fair value less costs of disposal
of individual assets comprising property, plant and
equipment and comparing with the carrying amount of
the property, plant and equipment to its fair value;

- HEBERBSEERE NET A TERTEERE
j%@%%% B K ) B AS - BRI - B
RO BRI E RN P EEITHE

- Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent professional valuer and obtaining
an understanding of the valuer’ s scope 0 of work; and

- AMEBYEEMEMNER - EHMTEME o URT
FRILER A TIEEE

- Involving an auditor’s expert to assist us to evaluate the
appropriateness of the management valuer’s valuation
approach, assessing the accuracy and relevance of key
data inputs underpinning the valuation and assessing the
reasonableness of the key assumptions applied based
on available market data and checking the comparable
adopted by the management expert and our knowledge
of the business and industry.

- BHEREHNER %%&ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ
B AMEENE - MR EEMEENEZEH A
IRAERE L AR R M AP AZ AR IR AT 1S B T 35 BUR FT AR P
AXER{ZHSIBIE M&ﬁgaﬂ KERARAE
LB BIE R P EETITEN TR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the other
information including Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the
date of this auditor’s report. The remaining other information, including
Chairman’s Statement, Directors’ Report, Corporate Governance Report,
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, and other sections to be
included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us
after that date. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information that has not yet received
as of the date of this report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to
audit committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of our engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF BRI ERGSMERRARIENE
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F(58)
(Cont'd)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional TERIBEEBETEFETEZAEES - RIE
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. FEEHE - RIFEEERRERE - M8

We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the -
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit =
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the =
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use -
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the =
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Cont'd)

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and to where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Dai Tin Yau.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Dai Tin Yau

Practising Certificate Number: P06318
Hong Kong

26 August 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME r 2 BE R Et 2 H K &R

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHET
Revenue W= 5(a) 223,331 198,025
Direct costs BEEKAE (255,195) (260,362)
Gross loss E%| (31,864) (62,337)
Other income Hib A 6 4,734 2,464
General and administrative expenses —RRITHBAX (16,469) (14,451)
Impairment losses of property, W -~ BER&EREEE
plant and equipment (3,143) (11,043)
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets ~ {FFRE&EEREEIE (417) (1,759)
Reversal of impairment losses/ TR EEBEER TRRE
(impairment losses) under BEEL, CRERRE)
expected credit losses model 1,545 (1,611)
Loss from operations EIEEIE (45,614) (88,737)
Finance costs B TS AR S 7(a) (276) (178)
Loss before taxation FRBLATES 18 7 (45,890) (88,915)
Income tax credit Frigtiif e 8 1,754 1,865
Loss for the year FAEE (44,136) (87,050)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 24 ER R M2 Ak ER THEANA

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

2024 2023
“BCOF —E=%F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ks FET FH&T
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Ht2mE(Fx) k#
Item that may be reclassified HEnpeEF 7 EEEm o EE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising from RMEBINEBES 2 ENZ5
translation of foreign operations (20) 42
Total comprehensive expense FAZHEBAXEE
for the year (44,156) (87,008)
Loss for the year attributable to: THATEEFAEE -
- Owners of the Company - ARBEHEBA (44,136) (87,050)
- Non-controlling interest - JEFE AR —* -
(44,136) (87,050)
Total comprehensive expense for THALTEEFEANZHEFAZ B
the year attributable to:
- Owners of the Company S VNCIEZ = DN (44,156) (87,008)
- Non-controlling interest - JERE AR —* -
(44,156) (87,008)
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
(restated)
(geED)
Loss per share BREER
Basic and diluted ERRES 12 (17.42) (39.14)
* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. e ZAERIEL,0008 TS RE ©

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. Details AR T ERZEMBREN—E9 - FAEE
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable FEMRR B AR B R R AR B 5B MY &
to the loss for the year are set out in Note 11. 110
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %4 B i AR R |

As at 31 May 2024
N=E = Pl BIHI= s =i

2024 2023
—E_EF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{h=s FET FH&TT
(restated)
(&E7)
Non-Current Assets IREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BENMEE 13 40,978 65,012
Contract deposits BHERE 16 - 300
Deferred tax assets EERIBREE 20 621 655
41,599 65,967
Current Assets REEE
Contract assets BHBEE 15 15,260 20,203
Trade and other receivables, B 5 N EMEFIR -
deposits and prepayments e RIENFIE 16 34,784 26,785
Cash and cash equivalents B NBEEEEY 17 25,822 33,687
75,866 80,675
Current Liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 &AM ER A 18 32,918 27,193
Lease liabilities HEARE 19 2,558 2,545
Amount due to a director B —REEFHUAR 24 1,340 =
36,816 29,738
Net current assets REBEEFE 39,050 50,937
Total Assets less Current Liabilities HEERRBEE 80,649 116,904
Non-Current Liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 2,393 4,293
Deferred tax liabilities EETIERE 20 4,352 6,140
6,745 10,433
Net Assets BEFE 73,904 106,471
Capital and Reserves ERRFEE
Share capital A&z 21(b) 26,688 22,240
Reserves (Ees 47,216 84,231
Total Equity R 73,904 106,471

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 August RIZZZNFENAZ T RARESGIE RIXE

2024. AT ©
Ouyang Jianwen Wong Yuk
BEEX £}
Director Director
EE EF

TERAM AR F U T MR — B -

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY &4 B B% |

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RARER AL
Retained
Exchange profits/ Non-
Share Share fluctuation  accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve losses  Subtotal interest  equity
EX REEN/ 2R
BE RiHEE KBfE  RiEE A i RERAE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
T TEn TiEn Tér TEr  FTEr  TEn
(note
Note  21(b))
(Bt
E o 20)
Balance at 1June 2022 RZBZZERB-ANGH 2240 56770 - 114469 193479 - 193479
Loss for the year FnER - - - (87,050)  (87,050) - (87,050)
Other comprehensive income EREMZERE
for the year
Item that may be reclassified EEmes B2 En B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBEL BHES
translation of foreign operations - - Y] - Y] - 4
Total comprehensive expense ENZERTER
for the year - - Y] (87,050)  (87,008) - (87,008)
Balance at 31 May 2023 RZBZ=£RR=+-HR
and 1 June 2023 ZBIZERA-ANES 2240 56770 4 27419 106471 - 106471
Loss for the year ENER - - - (44,136) ~ (44,136) - (44,136)
Other comprehensive expenses ENEMEARY
for the year
Item that may be reclassified EEmtEs 2 En B -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on BEBEBEE ERES
translation of foreign operations - - (20) = (20) = (20)
Total comprehensive expense ERZERYAE
for the year = = (20) (44,136)  (44,156) = (44,156)
Placing of new shares REMRH Nf@) - 4448 7141 = - 11589 - 11,589
Balance at 31 May 2024 RZZ-META=T-ANEH 26,688 63911 2 (16717) 73,904 13904

* The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

ZAEERIE L TN,0008 TTHI R FE ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ZRE B & RE R

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

2024 2023
—ECUE —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ks FET FE&T
Operating activities ReEEH
Cash used in operations KEFRES 17(b) (26,696) (27,210)
Corporate income tax paid EREREH - (2,494)
Net cash used in operating activities %@%%Elﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ_ _______________________________ (26,696) (29,704)
Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property, SHBEWE BERREER
plant and equipment (97) (11,126)
Proceeds from disposal of & W E &R TS R0R
plant and equipment 8,580 361
Interest received BYFIE 315 994
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREFEHME (A REFE
investing activites 8 ,798_(9771)
Financing activities &R E
Proceeds from placing of shares R & AR 19 P15 38 12,008 =
Transaction cost attributable to Be & ST AR 1 FE (R 32 5 A AR
placing of new shares (419) -
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEERSERT D 17(c) (2,597) (1,841)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEERSH B 17(c) (276) (178)
Advance from a director RE—BEFHBN 1,340 >
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEESRE(FFA)RESFEHE
financing activites 1 0,056_(2,019)
Net decrease in cash and REeRREZEVHFRD
cash equivalents (7,842) (41,494)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNRE MR SEEY
the beginning of the year 33,687 75,181
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ JMNETE RS ) v /& (23) =
Cash and cash equivalents at FERNRERRESEEY
the end of the year 25,822 33,687
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. RN B E T @R —5 5 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bi ik |

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Tian Cheng Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 24 May 2018 with
limited liability under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 7 December 2020. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
corporate information to the annual report. The Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in marine construction works, other civil
engineering works, vessel chartering services, and health and
wellness services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKS$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA”) which
are effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 June 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

LFEH

RIEFESBFSRRVERER) » RBIERA
/N QI N D =S AN S 5 iy o
HERSHEEMALSRARERAR - K
RABEPR T _TF+ AL EFEH
EBRGAARRE( B ERLET -
ARRFE M R & 2 & M EE
RAFERHRBER - AR RENEAT
(ATHER ARl D IENRFBERET
12 HMEATRE  MEHEREMEER
& o

A MBRRTIIABT((ER]) 27

BT

ERHMIIRESITERMBEREE
AI(TFBMBHRELEMN])

RAEE  AEEBEREAATHELS
fing([BRAEEAE ) BMEOHET K
BAEEM KRS L  BAKER_T—
=FERNA—HRRZIRFERELERR

BBMBREEAFE 17T REEL
R(BIER BV KRS
ERNE17HN T =
EFEFAR-E-——
FZRAZIBETAR)

BEGHEAEIRN SHERRE
AN BRELENE
SRR 29 2 BRI A

EFREGEUFER L  BafAatAIEE
BRI
EEGENFE 12 HE-XFEL
ERTA BELKREHEH
HIAERE TR
FEGFENE 12K BEH M E—

EHEN Xt REARA
BRIt &S - RAFERAI REE
RIARVBHREERMAKEE /I KBTS
B2 M BRB R R, RZFEA MR
KRB BBELREEZE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERAMITREEITIEEMBERE$E
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS RI([FHAMEEEERN]) (E)

(“HKFRSs”) (Cont'd)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

@ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁ&é%ﬂzﬁﬁ
EAERBHFE 2R BT AR -5t
IBI%EZEEE’J,WE

TR ENEVRLNBTEMBRELRE

Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and examples BEAFE2RIEEEELHE BT ARE
to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy BBITH TIESI BN - AEBHESEEMH
disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting ETERAN S ECRIREE - 25 B AERE

policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement PESREEENEANSITBERSE - 7
for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with EREREZREEXRHBRNERER
a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and RERHEIEZ [STECRHESR - RIENE
adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality REBINAESHERERNARPERSE
in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. EMsmEsl -

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial performance and positions, but has affected
the disclosures of accounting policies as set out in Note 3.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 -
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

The Group previously applied HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant
assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Upon
application of the amendments, the Group has recognised a separate
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities.

There was no impact on the opening retained earnings as at 1
June 2022. The key impact to the Group relates to the disclosures
of the component of deferred tax assets and liabilities as disclosed
in Note 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Cont'd)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not effective:

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21
and HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause'

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants’

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

° Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

ERHMIRESITERMBEREE
RI([FRMBEREEDN]) ()

C MR B 18] R4 R AT AT RARMEET &8
FHHE R 5 2% A

RE B PR R IA T 2 MR R AR ERZ
AT MRIERT BB ISR

BB ISR EER KEZ BRI
F10RRBBERT NEIFH A ELE
AERE 285 2 ERT AR ZRIMERL

JEABES
BB SRS %R &£ ] aY
F1657 2 1ERT AR HEE([E
BB ER HEESEATE
F1FHZAEFT A KIETEIA K
BB EESE
(ZZF=FF)
HBEHREZR—
BEAALHES
B ESKEE IR
ZEHEHZ
SRR RFIEET
BEGFER R A
FIRZIEFT R FEREE (E
EBQFTENESRR HEFHEZH
BB ISR E %R
FIHZAEFT A
BERGFEMNENF R = Al LBt
BB BREER
FURZIEFTR
BB ISR E %R DA T AR5
FIRKRB BT FTEZIEETAS
WEERNE7HR 2
CHIEN
BT ERELER B #R &
$18%% 2R EE
BB SRS %R TARREE R
F195% BB A] - B
J RZTZNF—A—H2EBARCFERH
FEIEJE@I ©

g R-E-_RAF—A—HaZ2EARZFER
Faﬁﬁi%l ©

g REZZEZRF—A—HIZERRCFER
FEIEJE@I ©

¢ RIE—+F—A—HZ2EARZTFER
AR -

S REERHR KRR FERRAXR

ADFEFEEA TN BRE LR S
AT E AL EEE R BT ERE

2/ 488
REE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, which collective
term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEMBESEH
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial (a) ZEMEBRRFERESE
statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x| I\

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEERER(E)
(Cont'd)
(a) Basis of preparation of consolidated financial (a) HEMBHRREREE(HE)

statements (Cont'd)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a net
HK$44,136,000 and negative operating cash flow of
approximately HK$26,696,000 for the year ended 31 May
2024. Notwithstanding the above results, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared onagoing concern
basis, the validity of the going concern basis is dependent
upon the success of the Group’s future operations. These

facts and circumstances indicate the existence of material

loss of approximately

uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability.

gEoN - BB EREME - AFEFE
REBABBY QA THEFEZAERIE
ERBABEBHATEITEERBNEE
MEDRE—  B_XE=HK - Mt
LI

- ERBARE/RERNFER
HIR Rz BRI EEHABRE
BTISHHmE CREHE):

- FoRBABBREELRER
BERSBEBERASRAREE
— PR ERRERIN R

- FZRBABEBEREEXREN
TRBRBABIR

BFEAE RS
BE_Z-_MNMFRA=+—HI#F
B ANEBEEFEEIE 444,136,000
BT R B LR €N E 426,696,000
T BRER LIRS  RAVBRE
EERBEKEAERE  MBELE
EEMNBWEEUAN ARNEE KRR EED
K - ZEEERBARBHEEEKXR
THETEM - ATREEAS BN NEE
Ep N3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(a)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Cont'd)

Going concern assumption (Cont'd)

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and cash flows to
sustain the Group as a going concern, the directors of the
Company are taking the following measures subsequent to
the year ended 31 May 2024, including:

- Implementing various strategies to improve the cash flow
status;

- Putting extra efforts on the collection of trade debtors to
improve the debtors turnover days;

- Monitoring and controlling administrative costs and
future capital expenditures; and

- Considering to conduct fund raising exercises, such as
share placement, with a view to increasing the Group’s
capitalisation/equity.

After taking into account the above measures, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and financial
obligations as and when they fall due and are satisfied that
it is appropriate for the Group to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the going concern assumption be considered
inappropriate, adjustments would have to be made in the
consolidated financial statements to restate the values of the
Group's assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities that might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(b) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, has power over the investee and the ability to use its
power to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

The Group reassesses whether or not is controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’ accounting policies.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control in the Group over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change inrelative interests, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests,
but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss
is recognised.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
(b) Basis of consolidation (Cont'd)

(c)

Change in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Cont'd)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest; and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). Any interest
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative use. Property, plant and equipment, arising
from leases of underlying property, plant and equipment (see
Note 3(d)), are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses
(see Note 3(f)(ii)).

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related asset is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalized in accordance with Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Gains or losses arising
from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment are determined as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item
and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value, if
any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives. The principal annual rates used for the depreciation of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

- Vessels 10%
- Site Equipment 20-33.33%
- Furniture and fixture 25%
— Computer equipment 25%
- Motor vehicles 25%

Over the shorter of
33.33% and the
unexpired term of lease

- Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEEREE(E)
(Cont'd)
(d) Leases (d) #HE

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and one
or more additional lease or non-lease component(s), the
Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease components and accounts for each
lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component for all leases.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease site equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i SRzt | (R

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEERER(E)
(Cont'd)

(d) Leases (Cont'd) (d) #HE(E)

As a lessee (Cont'd)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

- anylease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets in accordance with
the accounting policy applicable to trade and other receivables
carried at amortised cost (see Note 3(i)). Any difference between
the initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits
is accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEMBERH(E)
(Cont'd)
(d) Leases (Cont'd) (d) FHE(E)
As a lessee (Cont'd) ERARHNA ()
Lease liabilities HESE
Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially EHEREALE HEARKE

recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

- fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate when there is
a change in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee. There is a change in the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option or the lease term has changed.
The lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the revised discount rate. A corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i SRzt | (R

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HEZZ-MFRAA=+—HIEEE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEBREHEGR)
(Cont'd)
(d) Leases (Cont'd) (d) FHE(E)

As a lessee (Cont'd) ERARHNA (&)

Lease modification HEEET

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate WHBEATER  AEBEHEEBE

lease if: RIBEEFHHEEETAR

- The modification increases the scope of the lease by - HRIEEEIRBIEIMN—IENFIEE
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; HMEENTRABEEREESHER
and &

- The consideration for the lease increases by an amount - MHEREHEM  BNNSEAEE
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase REERANBEHEBER - I
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand- HEBERETHEMNESFHE
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular RMEZSEA AN ERBR ©
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate ?fﬂiﬂf?%_léﬁﬁfﬂf)\ﬁﬁmfﬁg\ﬂ%ﬂ

lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the CARBE B BERETERA

lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised /HﬂE’\J%&ﬂ%amﬁﬁiﬁféﬂkuﬁﬂ =
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective TRAIE - DUREBKEETHENEAE
date of the modification. FrrEfHERE -

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the TR BRAERF  r REHEEAE

current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as HENERE D EE AmE R T ZE AR

the present value of contractual payments that are due to be BB E NS AR FIRE -

settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024

BE-_Z_NFERA=1t—HItFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEEREE(E)
(Cont'd)
(e) Financial instruments (e) EWITE

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

130 Tian Cheng Holdings Limited Xz B R A Al

EEEEENATAGNOKRHN—

7o EREERERABREAMH
RARTIER - EREENMBLR

BENERRXZANEEBMB R LT
R-EREBEBDERNMISHRIIHE
I F e RS IEZR AR N B EMN SR

é?ﬂﬁ?&%%ﬂ%fé%ﬂ*ﬁ@?@*

CEEFPAOMELNE SRR
IE%H&*ETJ?E%EM%#&%Z%E‘J%155/JK
BEPEAZNm([BRBMBREER
S5 DT &I - WBHBETER
BERERABERRRAFEFARS
ZEBMEELSHABINEREEN

RHRARNAERRF AL NE SR
BEXERBEMERNAFE -

WHER AP EF AR 2 EREESS
MEBEHEEREZRSRANENERIER
FIER o

ERMNE ARG ECHEEXSRAE
Z B R A Ko o3 B e B R B TR R A )
BYARME T HMTE - BERFIX
EReBREESISRAENETAIRF
Hisk (WiE R ) BB B A fh At R 2R
ReWR(BRMAEBKERER ﬂ%
AREBONE N HERE R R
Q%ﬁiﬂ»‘&ﬁ\{m%fﬁiﬁﬁfﬁ)%’*ﬁﬁ,ﬂﬁifﬁ
BV EREREFERF X o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 B IS SRR M=t | ‘ ,‘w \\ \

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEBREH(E)
(Cont'd)
(e) Financial instruments (Cont'd) (e) ERMTE(HE)
Financial assets THEE

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"), and fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- Thefinancial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired.

ECHANEMEE(RFEREE
M RRINE ) HiZ 2 ER M IHR AN R
FEFE - SREER VAR E
T08  RRREHEKA - BRFE
ArARMEmE Y ([ R APEFT AR
2EWE ) REAHESARR(TER
FEFABRREDAE -

EREENVGRERRN D BEARE
REENARNRSRERERASEE
BZEEEMNEBELN -

BEBHEEL B EHEE(EHT
A)

MRS TIMBERSE  AKREHR
BIRBHKATESREE

- TREERAEBANEERE
MBFAEEMEENEBRAPH
B R

- SREEMNSHOGINETAH
EXCREREEER/LE KR
BERSHNEMMRK

(i) BHFHERFERA
RHERZBHEHAAFEZERE
ENERRAVFEFARMEZE
WHRTEZEBIAME @ FIE
WA ERBERANEFXMHER - 5t
BAXRAEEEREZERE
ENNZEMEEMS @ FEHK
ATHEREE CBIREERA
ERANERGFE  HEERLBRESR
BEZEBREERIN

ANNUAL REPORT 2023/2024 3 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEEREE(E)
(Cont'd)
(e) Financial instruments (Cont'd) (e) ERTE(HE)

Financial assets (Cont'd)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income (Cont'd)

For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no-longer credit-impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition of an
investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected
on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x| I\

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
(e) Financial instruments (Cont'd)

(f)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Creditlosses from financial instruments and contract
assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECLs") model on the following items
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”):

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents, and trade and
other receivables, deposits); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see Note
3(h)).

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

3.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont'd)

Measurement of ECLs

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

- trade and other receivables and contract assets:

effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition or an approximation thereof.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; or

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R &

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont'd)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont'd)

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets
are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the creditrisk of a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default occurring on the
financial instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making
this reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any
is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024

HE-ZT-_WFRA=1T—

BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(f)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont'd)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont'd)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- a significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- anactual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x| I\

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Cont'd)

Credit-impaired financial assets

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty having granted to the borrower
a concession that the lender would not otherwise
consider;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- itisbecoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is information indicating that the counter party
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERI
(Cont'd)

AL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

138 Tian Cheng Hol

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.

- Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets; and

- Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated in order to determinate the extent
of the impairment loss.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a
reasonable and consistent basis, or to the smallest group
of cash-generating units if otherwise. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bi ik |

3. MATERI
(Cont'd)

AL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(f) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont'd)

(i)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont'd)
Recognition of impairment losses

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on areasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is first allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset, is allocated
pro-rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favorable change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

3.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(9)

(h)

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.
The Group recognizes such costs as an asset if it expects to
recover these costs.

The Group first assesses whether the costs are qualified for
recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant standards,
failing which it recognizes an asset for these costs only if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify; generate or enhance resources that will be used to
provide goods or services in the future; and are expected to be
recovered. Costs that relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract may include
direct labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that are
explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs that are
incurred only because the Group entered into the contract (for
example, payments to subcontractors). Other costs of fulfilling
a contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property,
plant and equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as
incurred.

Amortisation of contract costs is charged to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The accounting policy
for revenue recognition is set out in Note 3(n).

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 3(n)) before being unconditionally entitled
to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 3(f) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 3(i)).

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(h) Contract assets and contract liabilities (Cont'd)

(i)

()

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Trade and other receivables

Areceivableis recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
assets (see Note 3(h)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks excluding bank balance
that are subject to regulatory restrictions and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting the short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL accordance
with the policy set out in Note 3(f)(i).

For the year ended 31 May 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERI
(Cont'd)
(k) Emp

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

142 Tian Cheng Hol

AL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

loyee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
asan expense when employees have rendered the services
entitling them to the contributions.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of Long service
payments under the Employment Ordinance is the
amounts of future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their services in the current and prior periods.
The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method and discounted to its present value and after
deducting the fair value of any related assets, including
those retirement scheme benefits.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group entity can no longer withdraw
the offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restructuring costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R &

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

U

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences.

All deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets
and liabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024

HE-ZT-_WFRA=1T—

BIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

U

Income tax (Cont'd)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- inthecase of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

. the same taxable entity; or

. different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x| I\

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 3. EXEERER(E)
(Cont'd)
() Income tax (Cont'd) () FrERi(&E)
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ZHRE - AEER A BEHA ERBE A
A RERIN AR E B 2 BB T HE
REBHEEREMNREHRIAEELNIA
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EXEHRBRAE -

Forleasing transactions in which tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

(m) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts (m) B85 - AIREBREAMEN
(i) BERIAEE

(i)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
itis probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to
be met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability
and it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(m) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(Cont'd)

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Cont'd)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are
recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous
contract is considered to exist where the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract. The
unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net
cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the
net cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties
arising from failure to fulfil it.

(n) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises

from the provision of services in the ordinary course of the
Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a service underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a

series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the

same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(n) Revenue and other income (Cont'd)

Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERI
(Cont'd)

AL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(n) Revenue and other income (Cont'd)

(i)

Service contracts for marine construction works and
other civil engineering works

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work
on assets under the control of the customer and therefore
the Group's activities create or enhance an asset under
the customer’s control.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

The likelihood of the Group earning contractual bonuses
for early completion or suffering contractual penalties
for late completion are taken into account in making
these estimates, such that revenue is only recognised
to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in Note
3(m)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R &

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(n) Revenue and other income (Cont'd)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Vessel chartering services

The Group provides vessel chartering services in Hong
Kong, including the hiring of vessels and crews for a
specific period of time. The Group recognises the fee
received or receivable as its revenue over time in the
period in which the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as services are performed by the Group.

Health and wellness services

Health and wellness services income is recognised over
time in the period in which the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as services are performed by the Group.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
Note 3(f)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred
for the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of
reduced depreciation expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Cont'd)

(n) Revenue and other income (Cont'd)

(vi) Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

(o) Translation of foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of transact. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses arising on the settlement
of monetary items and on the retranslation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates and are
not retranslated. The transaction date is the date on which
the Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair
value was measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x| I\

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)

(o)

(p)

Translation of foreign currencies (Cont'd)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HKS) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
(p) Related parties (Cont'd)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) Theentity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity orisamember of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bi ik |

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Cont'd)
(q) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group'’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The selection of critical accounting policies, the judgements and
other uncertainties affecting application of those policies and
the sensitivity of reported results to changes in condition and
assumptions are factors to be considered when reviewing the
consolidated financial statements. The material accounting policy
information are set forth in Note 3. The Group believes the following
critical accounting policies involve the most significant judgements
and estimates used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements.

(@) Revenue recognition of construction contracts

As explained in policy Note 3(n)(i), revenue from construction
contracts are recognised over time. Revenue on uncompleted
projects is dependent on estimating the outcome of the
contract. The Group recognises revenue based on direct
measurements of the value of contract work performed,
which is mainly reflected by the progress certificates issued
by customers. The customers will provide final account when
the whole project is completed and may have adjustments on
the amount recognised to date according to the actual surveys
of work performed at completion. Subject to the adjustments in
final accounts, actual outcomes in terms of total revenue may
be higher or lower at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue in future periods as an adjustment
to the amounts recorded to date.

3.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

4. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)
(b) Impairment of cash generating units (b)

4. ERHFIERR (HEH(R)

REELENURE

The management determines the impairment loss if
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of cash
generating units may not be recoverable. The carrying amounts
of cash generating units are reviewed when there are any
indicators of impairment. The recoverable amounts are the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

The assessment of the value in use model is inherently
subjective as it involves the exercise of significant management
judgement and estimation, especially in determining future
revenue, future operating expenses and the discount rate
applied.

In determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated
by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to level of future revenue, future
operating expenses and discount rate applied. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount that
is areasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group. As at 31 May 2024, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets attributes to the
cash generating units were approximately HK$38,300,000 and
HK$2,678,000 respectively (2023: approximately HK$60,099,000
and HK$4,913,000 respectively), net of accumulated impairment
loss of approximately HK$11,376,000 and HK$2,045,000 (2023:
approximately HK$11,043,000 and HK$1,759,000 respectively).
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JERMBRIR R{EHEXRALE - AEE
FR—ATRHERETTKRESE
MEEAUE  BEREARITER
BRAEBEEEMECTREESE
EifEs - R -_WERA=Z+—
B BERREELBNNDE K
ERERHEARTERAEEENREES
Bl & #138,300,000 7 7T } 2,678,000 78
T(ZZEZ=%F: 57 A%60,099,000
57T 124,913,000 7T ) - MO B4 A
11,376,000 7T } 2,045,000 7T ( =&
Z=F: 5Bl AE#%11,043,000% 7T &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bi ik |

4, ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

(c)

Impairment of trade and other receivables and contract
assets

The impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
and contract assets of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and ageing analysis of these assets as well as
other quantitative and qualitative information and calculated
the lifetime ECLs based on credit loss experience, and on
management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. Significant judgement and estimates are
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these assets,
based on the current creditworthiness, the past collection
history and subsequent settlements of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional impairment may be required.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the provision of marine
construction works, other civil engineering works, vessel
chartering services, and health and wellness services. Further
details regarding the Group's principal activities are disclosed
in Note 5(b).

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by major service lines is as follows:

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

4. ERHFIERR (HEH(E)

(c)

EZRHEMERRERENEEN
e

AEENE S REMEBRFAEREOE
ERREHEIREEZFEERKE
MR RHE MR DT A R B E 8 R E
HERET  ARBEEEBEBELERN
IR EH AT BRI R H B MR E
FEPEREEER  EEEAER
BRAEFPERNESE - BENERE
SEREREE  UAGRFEENR
REBRB/AELERABHMES - &0
RAEETF RS HAR B MR EE
fBREN - AEE R BLAELREINRIE -

5. RRSBEE

(a)

Wz
AEENTEXBR/EREEEET
2 HiEATE MEHEERER
FERYE  -BFAASEIEXBNE
—HRHIERBERH S D) ©

(i) WsmsHE
BEEFAHWFRTIERSER H
B|INE

2024 2023
—BoNFE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEBUBREERE 155
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANEFSHAKE
Disaggregated by major service lines BEXERBE D
- Revenue from marine construction works - REBERETENKE 186,432 60,184
- Revenue from other civil engineering works - 3 & E4th £ AR T2 AU 25 10,804 122,078
- Revenue from vessel chartering services - REMERERBH K 21,470 15,763
— Revenue from health and wellness services - R B REEREH M E 4,625 =
223,331 198,025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(@) Revenue (Cont'd)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregation of revenue (Cont'd)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic
information is disclosed in Notes 5(b)(i) and 5(b)(iii),
respectively.

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date

The following table includes the aggregated amounts
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
construction contracts. The transaction price does not
include any estimated amounts of variable consideration,
unless at the reporting date it is highly probable that the
Group will satisfy the conditions of variable consideration.

5.

Wk o EpER S (18)
(a) Uz (4)

(i)

(ii)

Was 7 35 (48)

RN HEREEERSE
R F & #UEED BIF KT FE5(b) ()
R5(b)(ii) I E -

FBHRRARKERZREE ARE
FHEBNEFEHTELZ W

TREARBEARERBRES
HWORERTREROWEEZRSE
RERE - RSB TBRIBEMA
HHENRIT2E  RIFERS
BH] - NEBEGHEREEmE &
HERRT

2024 2023

—EBDNE —T_=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Remaining performance obligations expected ~ JEHIEEMS NEHN ST

to be satisfied

Within one year —FA 113,306 113,249

After one year —F1& 22,489 103,194

135,795 216,443

Except for the aforesaid contracts, the Group has applied
the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15
to its other contracts such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that the
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that has an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)
(b) Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by business lines. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented the following four reportable segments.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the
following reportable segments.

Marine construction works: this segment involve reclamation
works, submarine pipeline works, sediment treatment works
as well as regulation and deposition of sand blanket works as a
subcontractor to the Group’s customers. Currently the Group’s
activities in this regard are carried out in Hong Kong.

Other civil engineering works: this segment include foundation
works, site formation works and roads and drainage works.
Currently the Group’s activities in this regard are carried out
in Hong Kong.

Vessel chartering services: this segment provides vessel
chartering services in Hong Kong, including hiring of vessels
and crews for a specific period of time.

Health and wellness services: this segment includes providing
consulting services to customers, arranging healthcare
consultation from specialist, and organising health and
wellness seminars and sales of related products in the PRC.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

5. ko BEE ()

(b)

Pk e
AEEREBBEAEBO D BERE
%o REBED 25T HER 2HD
o HEn A ERARE Z&STT
KEEABABEREHAMEERD I
RERBHEZ T8 - L EAHE
EDEAMEK TFIRI 28, EL -

WERETRE : ADBSRIEEAER
EENOSERREHESIRE  BEKE
EIR NEDEREIRUAMDEN
FEFMIETIRR - IR - NEBEI
BERRBNIINEBHET -

Hp AT : Ao BREMETRE -
WRFETEAREBERBETIE
B AREEULBENEHONE
FBHETT ©

MEMRERY - AOBNBBRUME
MERY - BREREEREAERM
ENME -

RERY : ADRRERTPRHEEH
R% - ZHRBEREHRREAS - AR
RPBERTREERNEREEHEBE

[}
AR °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd)

(i)

Segment results

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s
most senior executive management monitors the results
attributable to each reportable segment on the following
bases:

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation of assets
attributable to those segments. The measure used for
reporting segment profit is gross profit. No inter-segment
sales have occurred during the reporting periods. The
Group's other income and expense items, such as general
and administrative expenses, and assets and liabilities are
not measured under individual segments. Accordingly,
neither information on segment assets and liabilities
nor information concerning capital expenditure, interest
income and interest expenses is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS £

(i)

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 5. N RIBHE ()
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd) (b) DS (&)
Segment results (Cont'd) (i) DEEFEE(E)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers RN GZHERFPA YRS D
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well asinformation BUANGEE R D R D B R
regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided IR W R A& E & ?TEZE.EE/\ g
to the Group’s most senior executive management for REENEEZE S _NFER T
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of —FRAA=-F+—BLEFEEHER
segment performance for the years ended 31 May 2024 EE T 2WMOBHERFIMT ¢
and 2023 is set out below:
Year ended 31 May 2024 BE-_Z_NFREA=1+—HIL
FE
Marine  Other civil Vessel  Health and
construction engineering chartering wellness
works works services services Total
BEEE Hip A WEHE
1% IR PR 7% BERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET THERT THERT THERT
Disaggregated by timing of X EH R K
revenue recognition and BHNBEEWE D
revenue from external |
customers
Over time PERT I HERR 186,432 10,804 21,470 4,625 223,331
Reportable segment gross I 2D
(loss)/profit (£8)/EF (32,841) (9,295) 8,474 1,798 (31,864)
Depreciation for the year*  FRITE* 10,231 379 1,499 - 12,109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd)
(i) Segment results (Cont'd)
Year ended 31 May 2023

5. ko BEE ()

(b)

7 &R & ()
(i) 7 EBFEM(HE)
BE-_T-=FAA=+—HLt

FE
Marine Other civil Vessel
construction  engineering chartering
works works services Total
BEREE Hith £ K mEES
IR IR AR %% st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
Disaggregated by timing of 1RTEFUZ R R
revenue recognition and REMBEF K
revenue from external o]
customers
Over time B By [ T 2R 60,184 122,078 15,763 198,025
Reportable segment gross B 2 R 5 ZBHY
(loss)/profit (E8) EF (42,298) (22,520) 2,481 (62,337)
Depreciation for the year* S RITE* 9,377 1,948 2,376 13,701

* Included in “Direct costs” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B iR & |

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 5. IWERDEEE(E)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd)

(b) ZEB¥E (4)

(i) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss (i) T2 5EBE LR

Year ended 31 May
BEARA=1+—-HLHFE

2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Loss &8
Total reportable segment gross loss A2} PBEE (31,864) (62,337)
Other income HAbA 4,734 2,464
General and administrative expenses —MRITBAX (16,469) (14,451)
Impairment losses of property, plant and Y - BB REEREEE
equipment (3,143) (11,043)
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets FRAREEERERE (417) (1,759)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment TEEMEEEIBRT T HRE
losses) under expected credit losses model E5iE R O CREEE) 1,545 (1,611)
Finance costs IR IDWIN (276) (178)
Consolidated loss before taxation RERAIERE (45,890) (88,915)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 5. WARSEIEE(E)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd) (b) DEHE (&)
(iii) Geographical information (i) HEEH
The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong Kong REBREIHIBMREER
and the PRC. R o
Information about the Group's revenue from external REBKGINLEPLHIREER
customers is presented based on the location of the WEEEME®R - AEBIESR
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current BEENERIRHBERTER
assets is presented based on the location of the operations BRAEMER o TREH|KBEI
of relevant group entities. The following table sets out HEEhE RIERBEEN
information about the geographical location of revenue BAIEER

from external customers and non-current assets:

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*
REIIEBEF R E FEREEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECDNE —E-=F BN —T_=F
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FET
The PRC H 4,625 = 749 372
Hong Kong & 218,706 198,025 40,229 64,640
223,331 198,025 40,978 65,012
*® Non-current assets exclude financial instruments and * IERBEETEREER T ARELER
deferred tax assets. HEE °

162 Tian Cheng Holdings Limited Xz B R A Al



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B iR & |

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd)
(iv) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers during the year contributing

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

5. ko BEE ()
(b) 7 &B#HRE (&)
(iv)] ZEFEFHEH
FRRNEE B 5 B8

individually over 10% of the Group’s total revenue is as 10%MEEIRZEINT -
follows:
Year ended 31 May
BZERA=1+T—HLFE
2024 2023
TEImE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Customer A’ =PA - 108,108
Customer B2 ®PB 112,662 46,646
Customer C? BEC 65,506 =
Notes: BisE
1. Revenue from other civil engineering works. 1. KEEMEARTREAWE -

2. Revenue from marine construction works.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from these
customers are set out in Note 22(b).

2. REBFRETREMUES -

KEZEEPHNEESTERF
IBE R EE22(b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HfhlgA
Year ended 31 May
BEREA=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Bank interest income H|ITHEMA 315 994
Government grants (see note below) HRF AL (R T P EE) 18 784
Gain on early termination of leases REPHIEHEERES 18 36
Income from sales of raw materials & R BT S IRA 599 =
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HE B R MR e 3,150 =
Compensation from insurer NG 265 =
Exchange gain ERRl G 140 =
Sundry income TR A 229 2
Income from providing online technical services RIEE ERIM RS A - 648
4,734 2,464
Note: Government grants represent the government grants of Nil MieE © BUTHRIRE R B BRI TR BUSRED
(2023: HK$784,000) by the Government of the Hong Kong EREESHREHEMNBNFZTAE (=
Special Administrative Region under the Anti-Epidemic Fund and T = =4 784,000 7T ) & B AT 1
approximately HK$18,000 (2023: Nil) by PRC government authority R T AREE 2B R F4)18,000/E 7T
to a subsidiary of the Group. There are no unfulfilled conditions and (ZEZ=F : |)2HA - WHZEREE
other contingencies attached to the receipts of those grants. I 4B I RS R IEER G R B Sk A F IR -
7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 7. FRIRATEGIR
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BREAIBIE MR (R AT EIHEE
B
(@) Finance costs (@) BB
Year ended 31 May
BELA=T-HLEE
2024 2023
—BoNFE —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FA&T
Interest on lease liabilities (see Note 17(c)) HEAENFE(RMMTE17) 276 178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i SRzt | (R

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Cont'd) 7. BREIGRE)
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRA

Year ended 31 May
BEAA=1+—-HLHFE

2024 2023
—EINFE —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx TET

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEAMET 51,812 35,316
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme AR ORAE R ET BUVE H K 1,614 1,109
53,426 36,425

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevantincome in accordance
with the employment contracts. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated
by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute specified percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit plan to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to
make the specified contributions.

Forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of
employees leaving the Group’s employment cannot be used
to reduce ongoing contributions.

Staff costs of approximately HK$45,398,000 (2023: approximately
HK$29,051,000) and approximately HK$8,028,000 (2023:
approximately HK$7,374,000) are included in “Direct costs”
and “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
respectively.

AEBREBEBBHIEREE TS FD
R/NEBRBHROIAT ADAERZ R
RERMCRHIMELES A E([EEEE
g8  RESFHES—HABUTTEA
BN EREFRAKEFGE - RIE
BiEDEE  BEENERBRBAREE
BAEXEBREBBBKRANS%A
BIEH H R o AT B HERANES 1R

AEEPEMBARZEE TP EK
78 2 R E R RIKENG 82K
8 o B AR FHE MR IAE N E 24
MITERAIETE B D HLIERENE
T o ARBENERKRBHGE TROME—
B RELEEMRRK

ERRASERBREEREBRENZC
SRR AT BRI B K -

8 T Ak A 4945,398,0006 T ( —E ==
F : 4929,051,000/%8 7T ) & 478,028,000
BIL(ZE =4 : 497,374,000 7T) 2
DRFF ARG BEEEMEERERTY
[BEERA IR —8RITEBAS ] -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

7. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Cont'd) 7. BREBGRE)
(c) Other items (c0 HAEH

Year ended 31 May
BEARA=1+—-HLHFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx TET

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BERSETE

(Note 13) (BftEE13)

- owned property, plant and equipment - BEYE - BEMERE 11,703 13,636

- right-of-use assets - EREEE 2,554 1,972

14,257*% 15,608*
(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment HEME - BEKEHER
(Wz),/ B8 (3,150) 177
Auditor’s remuneration ZERN &

- audit services - ZE RIS 750 730
Expense relating to short-term leases ERAEAEENAX 25,068 6,365
*  Depreciation of approximately HK$12,109,000 (2023: * PrE4912,109,0008 T(Z T =4 :

approximately HK$13,701,000) and approximately HK$2,148,000 #913,701,0007%8 70 ) & #72,148,0007% 7T
(2023: approximately HK$1,907,000) are included in “Direct costs” (ZE =% #1,907,000/87T)E 7
and “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated At AR ER REM2EWERE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, [EERA IR —MRITHASZ ] -

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bi ik |

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8. CeBEAREMZAKESERMR
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER B
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and @ HeBmhkEME2EmKERFHRER
other comprehensive income represents: ¥
Year ended 31 May
BEHA=1+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EImE —T-o=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FAT
Current tax BNHABI IR
Hong Kong Profit Tax HEENGH = =
PRC Profit Tax RIS - -
Deferred tax EERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ERy E R E A D
(Note 20) (Kf7£20) (1,754) (1,865)
(1,754) (1,865)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands, the Group does not have any
assessable profit in these jurisdictions during both years, and
therefore has no income tax charge incurred in these countries.

For the years ended 31 May 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of a qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at the
flat rate of 16.5%. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made in the consolidated financial statements for both
years as the subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no taxable profits.

RIEFEHE NEBRLEENED N
ER G REMEFE  AEERZF
FARE IR A3 8 A ] SRS - K
WERZEARELMEHAX

BHE-_T-_MERKR_T-_=FHA=+
—HIEFE  FEEGEKEBENS
RSB TIRIBEFSHMARGETE -
BEFGSHMAY  AEREEER
R E2H B8 TTia 1% 8.25% /) 7t & &4
o MEBB2EEB TR —EUAR
F16.5%FTE o TEFE FSF ARG &
SEEREEEN A EEZ16.5%K
F—HEER - BRBEBWB AR
MERTEF WU EBEBRZMEFE
e M mMERIEL B BFEHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

8. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 8. FelEgRHEMmMEEIKESERPIIFR
OF PROFIT ORLOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BHR(E)
INCOME (Cont'd)
(@) (Cont'd) @ (&)
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BIEPECEMSH A LERER
Law”) and implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax FENDERLEMRESHENETHBRTE + +
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. No provision for PRC EIT has MR R TR B25% ° mFH BT
been made in the consolidated financial statements for both BRAAWEEREZF - W ERZ
years as the subsidiaries in the PRC have no taxable profits. MEFEMNGE Y BRRIELPRHDE
FriSuise o
(b) Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting profit (b) FIEMEEETEARETENS G
at applicable tax rates: AR -
Year ended 31 May
BZEREA=1T—HILLEE
2024 2023
—E-NE —T-o=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Loss before taxation bREIRIEE (45,890) (88,915)
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated B 258 A g ) ) 2 AR R
at the rates applicable to the profits in the (H B Rl ARE =08 M A
jurisdictions concerned BERAMEAE (7,602) (14,671)
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEERBIUA 2 BTS2 (653) (293)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHRAZ 2 B2 1,680 572
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERBIEE B 2 R E 4,821 12,527
Income tax credit FrisiE e (1,754) (1,865)

168 Tian Cheng Holdings Limited Xz ER A Al



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B M= 'f

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9, EEMS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the RIEFA D BEHIZE383(1) 15 A KA 7l 18 4l
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies E2H(HREESFHRER ) HENEEWS
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation /N

are as follows:

For the year ended 31 May 2024
BE-_E-_MERA=+—HLEE
Salaries, Contributions
allowance to retirement

Directors’ and benefits benefits
fee in kind scheme Total
e REE EEKREFRE
EEMSE EYEFN  BEHNMER et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THER THERT FET FET
Executive directors HITES
HEUNG Yue Wing (v) [AH K (V) - 550 15 565
OUYANG Jianwen (vii) B f5 7 32 (vi) - 660 18 678
LUO Hao (xi) 8V (xi) - 600 18 618
WONG Yuk (xii) T fB(xii) - 990 18 1,008
ZHAO Dong Quan (xiii) jHE B (i) - = = =
ZHENG Yanling (xiv) ELUIS (xiv) - - - -
Zhao Zhangshan (xvii) L (xvii) 70 - - 70
Non-executive director FHTES
DU Min (x) FEH(x) 60 - - 60
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITES
WAN San Fai Vincent (viii) ST (viii) 240 - - 240
LUO Sheng (ix) 7 2 (ix) 240 - - 240
WEN Xiao Xiao (xvi) SCEE R (xvi) - - = =
ZHANG Wen Yong (xv) R E (xv) - = = -
Total #Et 610 2,800 69 3,479
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

9.

EEMS(E)

For the year ended 31 May 2023

BE-F-=FRA=T-ALLFE

Salaries, Contributions
allowance  to retirement

Directors’ and benefits benefits
fee in kind scheme Total
He  FB K mRKEFE
EEMe EWMEN  EELAMR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT T FAT
Executive directors BITES
HEUNG Che Kan (iv) HEE(iv) = 240 = 240
HEUNG Yue Wing (v) AR (v) - 606 20 626
LEE Ming Chu Jade (vi) Z=BATE (vi) = 385 13 398
OUYANG Jianwen (vii) BN f5 32 3 (vi) = 440 11 451
LUO Hao (xi) 78 V5 (xi) = 150 3 153
WONG Yuk (xii) F 1B (xii) - 593 15 608
ZHAO Dong Quan (xiii) it B (i) = = = =
ZHENG Yanling (xiv) EPEh T2 (xiv) = = = =
Non-executive director FHITES
DU Min (x) & (x) 105 = = 105
Independent non-executive directors BIFHITES
CHIU Tai Shing (i) ABABL () 170 = = 170
WAN Wai Wing (ii) R R R (i) 190 = = 190
FUNG Hoi Fung (iii) RS i) 44 = = 44
WAN San Fai Vincent (viii) = T (viii) 140 = = 140
LUO Sheng (ix) 78 5% (ix) - - - -
ZHANG Wen Yong (ix) 9% 3 E (ix) = = = =
Total HEt 649 2,414 62 3,125

During the year, there were no amounts paid or payable by the
Group to the directors or any of the highest paid individuals set out
in Note 10 as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. Except for disclosed in Notes (xiii),
(xiv), (xv), (xvi) and (xvii) below, there was no other arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &34 Bt iR iiat |

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

During the year ended 31 May 2024, the directors’ emoluments of
the Company were borne by a subsidiary and holding company of
the Company (2023: by a subsidiary and holding company of the
Company).

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the year and there is no
outstanding share option as at 31 May 2024.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Chiu Tai Shing resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 28 April 2023.

Wan Wai Wing resigned as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 31 May 2023.

Fung Hoi Fung retired as independent non-executive director of the
Company on 12 October 2022.

Heung Che Kan resigned as executive director of the Company on 22
March 2023.

Heung Yue Wing resigned as executive director of the Company on
31 March 2024.

Lee Ming Chu Jade resigned as executive director of the Company on
3 January 2023.

During the year ended 31 May 2024, Ouyang Jianwen agreed to
waive the emoluments of Nil (2023: HK$146,000) as the capacity of
an executive director of the Company.

Wan San Fai Vincent was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 November 2022.

Luo Sheng was appointed and resigned as independent non-executive
directors of the Company on 31 May 2023 and 1 August 2024
respectively.

Du Min was appointed and resigned as non-executive director of the
Company on 15 February 2023 and 31 July 2023 respectively.

Luo Hao was appointed as executive director of the Company on 20
July 2022. During the year ended 31 May 2024, Luo Hao agreed to
waive the emoluments of Nil (2023: HK$380,000) as the capacity of an
executive director of the Company.

9.

For the year ended 31 May 2024 |
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

EEMS(E)

BE_Z_MEFRA=+—HLFEE - ~Q
AEEME AR R —FENB AR RZER

NEFTAE(ZE

“ =% ARRE—HEM

B AR NI A BFTEE) -

ZIN/N

ANAFEYERIEMBERAAFE

mRAERETE BT _WNFERA=

+_

B - Wl ARITE Z BBAE

Bt -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

MAKR-ZE_=FMA =+ \BHFELQ
RIBM IEHITES -
BRER-_E_ZFRA=Z+—HEIAR
RIBM IEHITES -

BERNR T —F+A+—HREERAHA
BIIERITES -

FEER =
Tﬁﬁ%$

=FZA-TABEAR

MHKR_B_NF=A=+—HBFELR
AIMITES -

THBN T _=F—-A=ZABEARFH
1TE% -
HE-_T-_MERA=-+—HILFE ' BE

Hmm%ﬁﬁﬁ AT %%%ﬁ%?%i
BT =4 146,000 7T ) ¥

BFER T —F+—A-RAEZEAR
NAVEUIFMITES -

iﬁ%ﬂfyf_iﬁﬂ T-HEZERAR
NABIYFMITES YR _F_MFNA
—HBEARBBILIERITES -

MBER-_T-_=ZF_A+THBEZTALAR
AIEMITES YR _ZT_=FtA=1+—
BEEARARIERITES -

%%F_fffitﬂ THEZEAAR

RITES - HE_ZT_MWFERA=1+—H
tiﬁ*ﬁ%ﬂfﬂ%¢ﬁ$ RIHITESR
FHWMEHET(ZF = : 380,000 T)
BN o
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

Notes: (continued)

(xii)  Wong Yuk was appointed as an executive director of the Company on
15 August 2022.

(xiii) Zhao Dong Quan was appointed and resigned as executive director
of the Company on 31 May 2023 and 29 December 2023 respectively.
During the year ended 31 May 2024, Zhao Dongquan agreed to waive
the emoluments of HK$578,000 as the capacity of an executive director
of the Company.

(xiv) Zheng Yanling was appointed as executive director and chairman of
the Company on 22 March 2023. During the year ended 31 May 2024,
Zheng Yanling agreed to waive the emoluments of HK$1,218,000 as
the capacity of an executive director of the Company.

(xv) Zhang Wen Yong was appointed and resigned as executive director
of the Company on 31 May 2023 and 19 October 2024 respectively.
During the year ended 31 May 2024, Zhang Wenyong agreed to waive
the emoluments of HK$ 100,000 as the capacity of an executive director
of the Company.

(xvi) Wen Xiao Xiao was appointed as executive director of the Company
on 24 January 2024. During the year ended 31 May 2024, Wen Xiao
Xiao agreed to waive the emoluments of HK$80,000 as the capacity
of an executive director of the Company.

(xvii) Zhao Zhangshan was appointed and resigned as executive director
of the Company on 2 February 2024 and 22 April 2024 respectively.
During the year ended 31 May 2024, Zhao Zhangshan agreed to waive
the emoluments of HK$35,000 as the capacity of an executive director
of the Company.
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9.

EEMS(E)

Bt

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xvi)

(xvii)

(%)

FER—_ZE_—_FNAT+HBEZEAERR
AIITES -

HBREXR - Z_=—FRAA=T—HEZER
RRARATES - YR _ZB-_=F+-/=
ThRBEARRRITES - BE_T N
FRAA=T—HILFE  ERERBEREE
RRNRAMITES 5 1DEN578,000/8 TTH B

HuMPW _—_ T _=F=A_+_HEZTA
ARBITESREIFE - BE-_T-_MFH
A=+—HLFE  BUBRREMEELAR
NEITEE 571,218,000/ TTH BN -

RXBR-_ZE-_=FRA=1+—HEZIA
RAARMITESE - YR -_T_mWE+A+H
ABREARRNITES - HE-_T-_NFH
B=Z+—HLLEE ' RXBREREEAR
RAEITEE F1HHI100,00078 L B -

NEPR TN F—AZTHAREZRAR
AABNITESE - BE-_T-_MERA=1+
—BUIFE  XEREBEREEARNAF
MITEE H1DH80,00078 TTH B -

WELWR-—B-NME-A-—BEZEAEERD
FMTES YR -_Z-_mWFEMNA=-+=H
BEARBWNITES - BE-_T-_NFHA
=+—HLEFE BELUREREEBER
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one is director
for the year ended 31 May 2024 (2023: one), whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect
of the remaining four (2023: four) individuals of the Group are as

10. REFHFMA L
BE_Z-_NWERA=1T—HILFE ' 54
EERFMATHRE—RAEE(ZE _=F:
—8)  HEZHMIEERHITE - HEpMUH
—EC=F MR )BT MA LT ZHMNR

follows: ZEONN -
Year ended 31 May
BEREA=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FATT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 4,151 3,866
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme MR ORAE R ET BIVEH AR 71 81
4,222 3,947

The emoluments of the above individuals are within the following

A LHFHMAEA THERA

bands:
Year ended 31 May
BEZEEA=1+—HLLEFE
2024 2023
B —T-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
SEE A0 = 5 o
ALTEE ATEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,00075 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T 2
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

11. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 May 2024
and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

12. LOSS PER SHARE
(a) Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31
May 2024 is based on the loss attributable to the owners of
the Company of approximately HK$44,136,000 (2023 loss
attributable: approximately HK$87,050,000) and the weighted
average of approximately 253,390,000 (2023: 222,400,000)
shares in issue during the year, calculated as follows:

1. KR
HE - Z_NFEEA-_ZE-_=FFA=+—H
FEEYRRMSEZFRMIE - BRED
TRUA B IR 2 2 R (SIS, o

12. 5REGR

(a)

BREAREE
HEe—_Z-_NERA=1+—HILFEE
REABEOTEDERFRARBE
A AE1L 18 4744,136,00008 T ( —E =
—FE(REIE ¢ 4987,050,000/87T) ME
BT B9 N F 39 E04Y253,390,000%
T =4 :222,400,0000%) - 5tE 0
T

Year ended 31 May
BELA=T—-BHLFE

2024 2023
—ENE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FER TET

Loss B8

Loss attributable to owners of the Company, used in ZNAFEA AJELEE - BE
basic and diluted loss per share calculation FTEERER N ERE (44,136) (87,050)

For the year ended 31 May 2024, the weighted average number
of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share has
been adjusted for the placing of new shares on 20 September
2023 and the share consolidation on 2 November 2023.

Comparative figures of the weighted average number of shares
for calculating basic loss per share has been adjusted on the
assumption that the share consolidation had been effective
in prior year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

There were no dilutive potential shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 May 2024 and 2023. Hence, the diluted loss per
share is the same as basic loss per share.
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For the year ended 31 May 2024 [ | \ 1Y
BE_Z-NFRAA=THILFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. 9% - BERRH
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) EREENYER
Properties
leased for
Sitt Furniture ~ Computer Motor ~ Leasehold own use
Vessels ~ equipment andfixtures  equipment  vehicles improvement  Machinery ~carried at cost Total
RER EREENZ

he HERE BEXE SRRR  A8EA ARk #E AR it
HKSOD  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKS000
tén  TEn  TEn  TREn TER tén  TEn TR TER

cosT BE
At June 2022 RZF-ZFRA-A 05 207 : % 1837 191 . 184 104587
Additions AE 186 13110 - - 140 - - 195 B0
Lease modification REBH B - : - - = = 38 38
Disposals or early termination KRR (7:485) W) - - - (191) : 84 (952
At31 May2023and 1 June 203 R=FZ=ERA=1-A

RoE-ZERA-R W% 3B - % 1677 - - 8013 118204
Additions AE . . 19 s = = 78 788 885
Disposals or early termination (i EHRFAL (23,900 (110) - . . - - (120 (25219
At 31 May 2024 RIFZRERAZT-B spem 33713 19 % 1677 - 7% 159 B0

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ E3tITERHE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 June 2022 e S 0891 5,199 . 8 1,155 % s 8 30309
Charge forthe year FRF B0% s s 10 29 6 : 9 15608
Exchange adjustment By - . . = = = s (22 ()
Written back on disposals or early - HEHREH AR

termination (3831) (22 - - > (157) - (1493) (5,505)
Impairment loss recognised EETAESE 8336 2607 - . 80 - = 1759 12802

At31May2023and 1June 2023 RZFZ=5RA=T-H

RoESZERA-R A5 1308 -5 ) Co e sm
Charge for the year ERFR 5660 5949 1 - 9% = 3 2554 14257
Bichange adjustment (B 5% - : B _ - B _ 6 6
Written back on disposals or early  HERRFA HET

termination - (16875) (87) - - - - - (1,161) (1813)
Impairment loss recognised EEDAESE 2603 474 - . % - = 47 3,560
At 31 May 2024 RIZZRFRAZT-B 503 193 1 % 1570 - 3 496 589
NET BOOK VALUE RE¥E
At 31 May 2024 RoFCRERAZT-B nm 18 - 107 - 7 2678 4097
At31 May 2023 RoEZZERAT-R 3900 2775 - - m - - 4913 65012
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (Cont'd)

13. Y% - BER&M ()
(a) RREEMHRGE)

With the operating loss before finance costs resulted from the
operations for the years ended 31 May 2024, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication forimpairment on
the cash generating units. The recoverable amounts of the cash
generating units has been determined based on value in use
calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections based
on the financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group covering the 5-years period with a pre-tax discount rate
of 14.04% (2023: 15.62%). The terminal growth rate used in
the cash flow projections is 2.5%. The assumption for revenue
growth is based on the expected completion period of the
existing projects and the expected project sum that the Group
could bid with reference to their resource capacity. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculation is gross profit margin
of 4.63% which is determined based on the cash generating
units’ past performance and management expectations for the
market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, management of the
Group determined that the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generating units for the year represented by marine
construction works segment (2023: marine construction
works segment, other civil engineering works segment and
vessel chartering services segment), is lower than the carrying
amounts. The impairment loss of cash generating units
represented by marine construction works segment has been
allocated to property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets. The carrying amounts of the individual assets are not
reduced below the fair values less cost of disposal.

Impairment losses of approximately HK$3,560,000 (31 May
2023: approximately HK$9,941,000) were recognised in marine
construction works segment during the year ended 31 May
2024.

No impairment losses (31 May 2023: approximately
HK$1,482,000) was recognised in other civil engineering works
segment during the year ended 31 May 2024.

No impairment losses (31 May 2023: approximately
HK$1,379,000) was recognised in vessel chartering services
segment during the year ended 31 May 2024.

No impairment losses (31 May 2023: Nil) was recognised in
health and wellness services segment during the year ended
31 May 2024.
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)
(b) Right-of-use assets

13. ¥R - E R 0E (&)
(b) EREEE

The Group has obtained the right to use the properties as its
offices through tenancy agreement. The lease runs for an initial
period from 24 to 48 months (2023: from 24 to 48 months) and
it did not include variable lease payments. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and certain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

AEBECEARERZEIRENAZENY
EFEAE - O ZVHRHR A24548
BA(ZZE-=4: 248 =48(8AF) -
TEREAJEHEEMNR - HEKERIIR
BEMNEEREEE  XBEEETH
B E R G - REBEE R ERR I
FETTHESHENRER A&
FERAHMER @ WET S K A58
HMITHVERRR o

REEEERENSONERREERT
FEDWTOT

As at 31 May

REA=+—H
2024 2023
—EomE —T-o=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT

Properties leased for own use, carried at BRAEEY IR ERAR

depreciated cost, net of impairment losses PIBR - HOBRREBE 2,678 4,913

The analysis of expenses items in relation to leases recognised
in profit or loss is as follows:

REEFREREAESHENFAIEE S
Wranr

Year ended 31 May
BELA=+T—BLFE

2024 2023
—E-mME —T-=—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets LB ERRNSENE AR

by class of underlying asset: BEFEER

Properties leased for own use BEREEYE 2,554 1,972
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7(a)) HESENE(ME7@@) 276 178
Expenses relating to short term leases B35 HATE E MR R AV B 2 25,068 6,365

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis
of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 17(d) and 19 respectively.

MEReRHEBNFBEAREEARE
KV ERBR 40 BB BRI 5E17(d) K219 ©
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12. RBATZBE

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries. The class LT BEBENBATINEE - BB HIE
of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise state. RSN - PTIEAR D AR BT EAR -

Place and date Particulars of issued Principal

of incorporation/ Kind of and paid-up capital/ country of
Company name establishment legal entity registered capitel - Group's effecive nterests ~ Held by the Company ~ Held by subsidiary ~ Principal actvites operation

) ERARARER/ 1561

P if/AI4%RAS  EeREER ifanEE  ARENERER FLAMGE -BRBARREE  1EED 8%

wN3 we w3 M NB
CECRE CECSE CECRE CECCF CECME CToCE

Yue Wang Investment Limited (Yue The Britsh Virgin Islands ~ Limited liabilities Ordinary USS1 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding HK
Wang') 28 May 2018 Company
Vae Wang nvestment Limited [ Yue. XEECEES BREAT tamin REAK 35
Wang) “2-)\ERAZTA \
Kat Yue Construction Engineering  Hong Kong Limited liabilities Ordinary 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Marine construction HK
Limited ('Kat Yue') 7 January 2005 Company HKS5,800,000 works, other civil
engingering works
and vessel chartering
services
EHRATERROA(ER)) 3% RREAT Lk BERELR HptR A
“ERRE-AeB 58000007 TRRHREHERE
Digital Future Investment Holding ~ The British Virgin lslands~~ Limited liablities Ordinary USS1 100% 100% 100% 100% - - Investment holding HK/BVI
Limited 15 February 2022 Company
Digtal Future Investment Holding 2B ZES ﬁﬁﬁﬁ&’&ﬂ A RELR b/
Limited “ECECRtEA REES
Hong Kong Digital Future Hong Kong Limited liabiities Ordinary HKS 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Investment holding HK
Investment Limited 22 March 2022 Company
(e EU AT 5 ARELAT LRk REAR Bt
Sy
Shenzhen Tian Cheng Holdings ~~ PRC Limited liabiities CNY 5,000,000 100% 100% - - 100% 100%  Provision of healthand ~ PRC
Company Limited 6 June 2022 Company wellness services and
‘ related products
RITRIERERAT Gl EREELD  SU000ARET RtFRREREEER 98
ZECCERAAA
*Anhui Fushi Medical Equipment  PRC Limited liablities CNY 30,000,000 99% N/A - N/A 99% N/A Provision of healthand ~ PRC
(o, Ltd. 29 June 203 Company wellness services and
related products
THEERRANARLT  TE BREELT  30000000ARET TR Bl TR RERRRER il
ZRCZERACTAR fBEn
*Jiangsu Youyang Health PRC Limited liabilties CNY 30,000,000 9%% N/A - N/A 99% N/A- Provision of healthand ~ PRC
Management Co, Ltd. 30 June 203 Company wellness services and
‘ related products
THABRRERRRLT o EREALT  30000000ARET i TR TER REGERBREEER oF
ZEIZERAZTR
*Hainan Welai Tiancheng Health  PRC Limited liabiliies HK$10,000,000 100% N/A - N/A 100% /A Provision of healthand ~ PRC
(o, Ltd. 22 March 204 Company wellness services and
related products
BERRRNARRERAE 0@ BRELAT 100000007 7T TR TR TER RERERER Gl
ZBIREZAZTR FEEn
w English name for reference only = BXHHERSE
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end REXR  BERBRARBEBRITENEKE
of the year. % o
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

15. CONTRACT ASSETS 15. ¥ 5 E&E

2024 2023
—EoNFE —T-=F
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHEIT

Unbilled revenue of: THEIEHRBEE RS :
- Marine construction works - BEEETE 8,289 7,536
— Other civil engineering works - Hih AT 3,175 =
11,464 7,536
Less: Allowance for impairment loss O REEERE (3) (1)
Sub-total /INEF 11,461 7,535

Retention receivables of: THZENERRESE :
- Marine construction works - BEEEIR 2,780 3,604
- Other civil engineering works -Hfih+ARITFE 1,020 9,834
3,800 13,438
Less: Allowance for impairment loss B OREEIEEE (1) (770)
Sub-total BT 3,799 12,668
Total HET 15,260 20,203

As at 1 June 2022, contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$18,098,000.

The Group’s service contracts for marine construction works and
other civil engineering works normally require payments within 30
to 60 days once the progress certificates were issued by customers.
These payment terms prevent the build-up of significant contract
assets. The Group also typically agrees to a retention period of six
months to one year (2023: three months to one year) for a maximum
limit of 1% to 10% (2023: 1% to 10%) of the contract value. This
amount is included in contract assets until the end of the retention
period as the Group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional
on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

RZE-_—_FRNA—H GHBEEHNS
18,098,000/ 7T, °

AEERESERETEREMERTRERS
BH—MREKEEFPEREEEEZEN30E
60 RAZ TR o ZENFUEKAIBILETER
BERAERNEE - AEBEBFEHE~NMEAZE
—F(ZE_=F: ZAAE—F)NREE
R =REASOEEMNI%EI0% (ZF
T=F 1%E10%) c AR AEBEMN TER
BREVERFPRER  AEEFAERR
B AtZe B AGNEEESRA
HABR 4%
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

15. CONTRACT ASSETS (Cont'd) 15.

At 31 May 2024, the amounts of contract assets that are expected
to be recovered after more than one year are approximately
HK$1,751,000 (2023: approximately HK$4,809,000), all of which
relates to retentions. Details of impairment assessment of contract
assets are set out in note 22(b).

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of unbilled
revenue is set out below:

eEEE)
R-ZE-_MFERA=+—H  BHER—F%
WEMELHEESTELE751,0008T(=
T~ = 4F : #94,809,0008C) - EFRFTARK
HYBRBER - S OEEMNRBENTGFE
W EE22(b) ©

RAREBWRSBRENEEREEG 2 ZHHIIM
™

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FER TET

At the beginning of the year REEFT] 1 =
Impairment losses recognised ERRREEE 2 1
At the end of the year RER 3 1

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of retention
receivables is set out below:

ERERERENSERE ZHHII N
™

2024 2023
—EoNE —E-=F
HK$’000 HKS$’000

FEx TET

At the beginning of the year NG 770 =
(Reversal of impairment losses)/Impairment losses ERERCRERSERE),

recognised RIERE (769) 770
At the end of the year RER 1 770
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 16. BB REMEIESIE - e BT

PREPAYMENTS 215
2024 2023
—EBomE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Trade receivables 2 5 W IR 24,460 4,164
Other receivables H b & R IE 3,045 4,118
Contract deposits (see note below) GRS (R TP 300 10,410
Deposits and prepayments e RENFIEA 7,041 9,233
34,846 27,925
Less: Allowances for credit losses W EEEERE
- Trade receivables - B 5 EKFIR (45) (744)
- Other receivables and deposits - ARG IR KRS (17) (96)
(62) (840)
34,784 27,085
Less: Contract deposits classified as non-current assets B DEERIERBEEN
BRITFER - (300)
34,784 26,785
Note: As at 31 May 2024, contract deposits of HK$300,000 (2023: Mizr: R-E-_WERA=+—H EAEF

HK$10,410,000) were placed to customers to guarantee for the
due and proper performance of the obligations undertaken by
the Group’s subsidiary for certain projects, of which Nil (2023:
approximately HK$300,000) will be recovered after one year in

accordance with the relevant contracts. st el

FEAA #1%24300,0008 TL(— T =4 :
10,410,000% 7T ) * ABERASENE QA
ZEBIIRETHEEEAENST &
ZET(ZZF == : 300,000/ 7)1
W —F1glgE -
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 16. BB REMEIEIE - e R

PREPAYMENTS (Cont'd) RIE(#E)
Ageing analysis BRER AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade NIREHAR - RIGEEHEER B H
receivables, based on the date of progress certificate or the date of WG EEEEERNE 5 EWNRIEER D
billing and net of loss allowance, is as follows: T -
2024 2023
—E-ME —T =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FA&T
Within 1 month IEELY 9,525 1,316
1 to 2 months 1Z22{8 A 8,583 1,290
2 to 3 months 2Z 31 A 4,832 509
3 to 6 months 3ZE6fE A 1,475 305
24,415 3,420
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 60 days (2023: 30 to B RBGRIE— RN EEREHHANEER
60 days) from the date of progress certificate or the date of billing. BA#EET30E60H (— T — =4 : 30E60H )N
BIHE o
As at 31 May 2024, included in the Group's trade receivable balance RZE-_WFRA=1+—H  A£ENE
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$5,310,000 (2023: S IB & R IE R 4218 55,310,000/
approximately HK$1,577,000) which are past due as at the reporting TT(ZE =% : 491,577,000 7T ) ) FE I BR
date. F o RERRHEREEEE -
The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of trade B S EBGRIRER BN EBEE 2 E8)ET 1
receivables is set out below: ™
2024 2023
ZEDNE —To=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FA&T
At the beginning of the year REH] 744 -
(Reversal of impairment losses)/Impairment losses BERERCRESERD),
recognised RIEEE (699) 744
At the end of the year RER 45 744
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For the year ended 31 May 2024 LAY
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 16. BB REMEIEIE - e BT M

17.

PREPAYMENTS (Cont'd) HRIE(#E)
Ageing analysis (Cont'd) BRER DT (&)
The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of other H b fE U IE RIS BB R B I8 B 2 B &)
receivables and deposits is set out below: FHyT -
2024 2023
—EomFE ZT==F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FE&T
At the beginning of the year REH] 96 -
(Reversal of impairment losses)/Impairment losses ERERCRESERD),
recognised BEEE (79) 96
At the end of the year RER 17 96
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables B 5 I E h FE WO IB B R (B 5Tk 5 1R S B
are set out in note 22(b). F22(b) °

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17. &R EFRMRAMRENE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION BFH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated (a) ZREMBMRRAREEAESRERTH
statements of financial position and cash flows RekREEEYEIE
comprise:
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2024 2023
—E-ME —T -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Deposit with a bank RITIFR 10,112 =
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTH R 15,710 33,687

25,822 33,687
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17. &€ RREESEEBYREMBRERE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Cont'd) FHE(1E)

(a) Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated (a) ZREHMBRRERBERERTH
statements of financial position and cash flows BHERRLEEYEIE (&)
comprise: (Cont'd)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank RIEPEHR  NEBUARE( A
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) R DAENRSRBITEHRAED
amounted to approximately HK$164,000 (2023: approximately 164,000/ 70 ( —ZF = =4 : 491,060,000
HK$1,060,000). The RMB of approximately HK$154,000 (2023: YEIT) o 491540008 T2 ARK(—F
HK$1,049,000) is not freely convertible into other currencies. — =4 11,049,000 7T ) NE BB AL
However, under PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations MAHMER o R - RIEHEINE
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign ERIENINEE  EENMMNESER
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange T OAEBEEASBESENREINE
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct K IRITIEARB Y AHMEE o

foreign exchange business.

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in (b) BRBATEEHEEEMANESHNY
operations: iR -

Year ended 31 May
HERA=T-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz FAL
Loss before taxation BREAIER (45,890) (88,915)
Adjustments for: BATSBEELRE -
Depreciation nE 14,257 15,608
Finance costs IHBAA 276 178
Bank interest income FITFBWA (315) (994)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment HENE  MEREHEH(WE)/ BB (3,150) 177
Gain on termination of lease BRI E 2 e (18) (36)
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment losses under BHEEBEERTH(REBER
expected credit loss model B,/ RiEEE (1,545) 1,611
Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment mE - BE RS EREESE 3,143 11,043
Impairment losses of right-of-use assets EREEERERSR 417 1,759
Changes in working capital: BEEGE
Decrease in contract deposits, contract assets and tradeand 4% %  ANEENRE S M EM
other receivables, deposits and prepayments EWEIE -~ & REFFTERD 3,236 18,560
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EHEARITERR D - 10,000
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 RE RS FEEMm 2,893 3,799
Cash used in operations REMARE (26,696) (27,210)
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17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Cont'd) FE(E)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (©)
activities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B iR & |

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

17. @ RESERMREMRALTE

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. &

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash

flows from financing activities.

METHMELAENHIER

TERFMAEEREEHAELNAR
CBRASIIFRSEY - BE
ABEENBBEARSRERRIR
ERENAEEGARSRERTOR
ARERDELRRSRENRE -

Lease liabilities

HEAE
HK$’000
FET
(Note 19)
(FfzE19)
At 1 June 2023 R=-ZE=-=%x<HA—H 6,838
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSRESH :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEREERE S (2,597)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERSREE S (276)
Total changes from financing cash flows RER e MEF B (2,873)
Other changes: Hin# s :
Interest expenses (see Note 7(a)) MBZ L (RWE7@a) 276
Increase in lease liabilities from entering new lease ~ F NG FAEMAE A EE M
during the year 783
Termination of lease RIS (64)
Exchange adjustment P 54, 8 B (9)
Total other changes E it B Ehaast 986
At 31 May 2024 R-ZE-_NMFEREA=+—H 4,951
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17. &R ESFRMREMBREESE
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Cont'd) FE(8E)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () METEBFEEEENHIR(E)

activities (Cont'd)

Lease liabilities

MEAE
HK$’000
FH&T
(Note 19)
(FF5E19)
At 1 June 2022 R-ZB-ZZFXA—H 1,009
Changes from financing cash flows: RERSRESE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSEARDD (1,841)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BNEERSF S (178)
Total changes from financing cash flows BRER e REYEEE (2,019)
Other changes: H s :
Interest expenses (see Note 7(a)) FEZH(RWE7@) 178
Increase in lease liabilities from entering new lease
during the year FARFIAEENEE A EEM 7,975
Termination of lease HmIEME (365)
Exchange adjustment VE 54, 8 22
Lease modification MEERT 38
Total other changes E B Eh @t 7,848
At 31 May 2023 R-ZE-_=FHA=+—H 6,838
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER 17. e REEFEVRAEAMBALTE

CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows
for leases comprise the following:

HH(]E)

(d) HERESRLERE
HABARSRBERZEESEAEN
TRE -

Year ended 31 May
BERA=1T—-HLEHFE

2024 2023
—EoNE —E-—F
HKS$’000 HK$’000

FTET TET

Within operating cash outflows KERESMEA 25,068 6,365
Within financing cash outflows BERESMEA 2,873 2,019
27,941 8,384

These amounts relate to the lease rentals paid during the years
ended 31 May 2024 and 2023.

HETHREBE T _NFER-_T_=FFH
A=T—RLEFEMRNEEHSHRH -

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18. S R EMEFMNRIA
2024 2023
—EC-NE —T-—F
HKS$’000 HK$’000

FEx TET

Trade payables B S ENIE 25,106 7,824
Contract liabilities BHIEE = 3,985
Retention payables ERRES 3,170 9,636
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B A R H 0 FE FIE 4,642 5,748

32,918 27,193

At 31 May 2024 and 2023, the amount of retention payables
expected to be settled after more than one year was approximately
HK$1,408,000 and approximately HK$2,718,000 respectively. All of
the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised
as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

RZZFZWOFER=ZTE_=FHAA=+T—8 "
TEHERN —FUREENEAREB SR
751,408,00078 7T N #72,718,000/8 7T ° FRE &
%&Eﬁﬂfﬁ%lﬁﬂ%%*iMﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%\z%
WA Sk EIRESK(EE -
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HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)
(@) As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of

trade payables, based on invoice date, is as follows:

18. RS R HEMEMARIF(HE)

(@ HEREHMR ERNBEHHNES

FENBRFREREE DT AT

2024 2023

—EINE —T-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month 1MEAR 16,520 6,070
1 to 2 months 1221 A 8,023 1,711
2 to 3 months 2% 318 A 446 =
3 to 6 months 3%6fE A 117 43
25,106 7,824

The average credit period is 90 days.

(b) Details of contract liabilities as at 31 May 2024 and 2023 are

FEEE AR -

b) RZEB_OFR-_ZF_=FAA=1—

as follows: BMEH8EFBEHINT
As at 31 May
REA=+-—H
2024 2023
—EomE —T-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Current Bl EA
Arising from performance under marine AETEERETIEMES
construction works - 3,985

At 1 June 2022, contract liabilities amounted to Nil. No revenue
recognised in the current year was related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior years.

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B i SRzt | (R

For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

19. LEASE LIABILITIES 190. IHE&E
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRV AEBNTHER GRS S LE H
the Group's lease liabilities: g :
31 May 2024 31 May 2023
—E_WUFHEA=+-A ZEZ=FAHA=1+—H
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

RIEESE REEE RIEHEE RIEHEE
TRBE St RRE R 4ERR
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET TET TET

DN < N 2558 2733 2= N 2
After 1 year but within 2 years 15 E2F R 2,393 2,445 2,169 2,325
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBBESFR - - 2,124 2,173
e 2393 . 244 e B S

4,951 5,178 6,838 7,308
Less: total future interest expenses Ji : AR 2RA| S48 H (227) (470)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaENRE 4,951 6,838
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease ERAREEBENMETHESERTER
liabilities is 4.83% (2023: 4.97%). 483%( —EFE =1 : 497%) °
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20. DEFERRED TAXATION 20. iBRIERIA
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial LT ABIEBESBA SN ELERIBLES D
reporting purposes: e
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2024 2023
—EComE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
(restated)
(&c&75)
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE B (621) (655)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBEE 4,352 6,140
3,731 5,485
Movement of deferred tax liabilities BELEHEEEEH
The component of deferred tax liabilities recognised in the FARGRAE B KT ERNELHIES
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements BB D REEBINT
during the year are as follows:
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of
the related Right-of-use
depreciation assets  Lease liability Total
BHERETED
ERE HRREEE HESE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET TEx TEx
Asat 1 June 2022 RZZZZ55H—H 7,350 - - 7,350
Adjustment (Note 2): AR (HE2): 1 155 (166) =
As at 1 June 2022 (restated) RZZ-F A—-B(E=E5) 7,361 155 (166) 7,350
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BRI/ (Gt ABR) (1,868) 492 (489) (1,865)
As at 31 May 2023 and 1 June 2023 RZZZ=FRA=1T—-RARk=
(restated) £-=F A—H
(&351) 5493 647 (655) 5,485
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss BRI/ (Gt AER) (1,501) (287) 34 (1,754)
As at 31 May 2024 RZZE-_WFRA=+—H 3,992 360 (621) 3,731
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For the year ended 31 May 2024 11
HE-Z-WFRAA=L—RILEE

20. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont'd) 20.RIEFIE(4F)
(a) Deferred tax assets not recognised (a) FREAELEHRBEEE
As 31 May 2024 and 2023, the Group has no material R-BE_MER_ZE_=FRA=+—
unrecognised deferred tax assets. As at 31 May 2024, the H > AEBTESE ANAEZRLEFRE
Group had unrecognized tax losses arising in Hong Kong BE R-_E-_MWMEFA=+—H -
of approximately HK$98,804,000 (2023: approximately REBEBRBELENRERHIEER
HK$69,585,000) available indefinitely for offsetting against %4 /598,804,0008 T( —Z T - =4 : 4
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 69,585,00058 7T ) @ Al #E[REA A (e S E
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of EEBZ AT ZREHF - KAFE
these losses as, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, EZ2E HBARNZEEREREAEAEEE
they have arisen in a subsidiary that have been loss making B —REREBAG @ BR AT AR
for current year and it is not certain that taxable profits will be BRERMA B BEKEHEEIE -
available against which the tax losses can be utilized. W B X E BB RELERIBEE -
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21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(@) Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are
set out below:

21. BERGEM

(a) EEAKBLEE

AEBER AR SARE D

KGR FRNEERHNERS

B R b
e R

A e REMRFR - A B E 5

AR DR B EFIINT -

Share Accumulated

Share capital premium losses Total
(&N idripiayit REtEE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAT FAET TET
Balance at 1 June 2022 RZZEZ XA — AR 22,240 56,770 (2,664) 76,346
Total comprehensive expense 2 [l 7 7 4858
for the year - - (14,288) (14,288)
Balance at 31 May2023and RZZTZ=FAHA=1+—HRK
1 June 2023 —Z=FRA-HMER 22,240 56,770 (16,952) 62,058
Placing of new shares st i) 4,448 7,141 = 11,589
Total comprehensive expense & A2 [ 7 7 4258
for the year - - (37,257) (37,257)
Balance at 31 May 2024 RZEZMERA=1T—HH
AR 26,688 63,911 (54,209) 36,390
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont'd) 21. SRR ()
(b) Share capital (b) BRA
Number of
Nominal value shares
HE BB
HK$ HK$'000
BT FHT
Authorised: EE
At 1June 2022,31 May2023and 1 RZZT=_—FAF—H -
June 2023 ZEZ=FRA=+T—HRK
—E-=F%XA—H 0.01 3,000,000,000 30,000
Share consolidation (note (ii)) B dn & 6 (B (i) N/A NER  (2,700,000,000) =
At 31 May 2024 RZZE-_mFERA=1+—H 0.1 300,000,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR :
At 1June 2022,31 May 2023and 1 RZZTZ=FA—H
June 2023 “E-=FRA=+—Hk
—E-=%A—H 0.01 2,224,000,000 22,240
Placing of new shares (note (i) Fi & 2 Ak (PR X)) 0.01 444,800,000 4,448
Share consolidation (note (ii)) Betn & o (B EGi) N/A 7~ F (2,401,920,000) =
At 31 May 2024 RZZE-mERA=1+—H 0.1 266,880,000 26,688
(i) Issue and allotment of 444,800,000 ordinary shares on 20 i) WUEARBEHAE-_Z_=F1A

(c)

September 2023 under general mandate as disclosed in the AEBRZFEZ=FNAZ=Z+RHZA

announcements of the Company dated 5 September 2023 and ERHE R_T_=FNLA=-+

20 September 2023. B AABIRE —MREERT R
444,800,000/% E3EAX

(i) Share consolidation of every ten (10) existing shares of HK$0.01 (i) HETOOREKREEOIETHRSE
each into one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.1 each, effective RETRGEFAE—)KRBRAEE

0LIEBTHEHR, B T - =F+
—AZREBEM - AREFRHEHNAR

date 2 November 2023. Details of which are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 13 October 2023 and the announcement

dated 2 November 2023. AHBMAZT-_=F1+AT=AKNB

HEBHEA—SE-_=F+—A-B8
DE -

Nature and purpose of reserve () REEMHEREN

Merger reserve EOEE

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount of the APt B BTN A EE S AR

excess of the nominal value of shares of a company now DEBEBLEEARAATERARBR

comprising the Group over the nominal value of one share of TERK BT A RS B S 4H — B 0 T STIRAY AR

the Company exchanged as part of the group reorganisation AR -G EERARE -

prior to the completion of the IPO of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
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21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont'd) 21. BERGEM(E)
(d) Capital management (d) EXERE

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for its shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines gearing
ratio as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
lease liabilities only. Total equity comprises all components
of equity. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the gearing
ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain the gearing
ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt financing or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 May 2024 and 2023 was as
follows:

AEEEREANEEBRRRERE
ERFEREne)  USHREBRHRE
FERBR KT B EE fn K ARFES TE B S A B 32
RAERGERE @ 158 RBRRKEH
KRR BB NS o

AEEERLERHRAREEELEAR
B AERSE KT A g KA
= AR 0 3 ER AR 2 B AR P 7 SR OB
B RRE 2 FEREFE - W LEN
MBENREARBIEH AR -

AEEZEERBHLRERAEARAR
B Rl AEERTEEABLE
REHRERABDAR - EHER
EERHEERRE  HSEBEEREES
M BEARE D - NEBMRE S
FEERBULEXRNEBKT - BTH
REERBELER  AEEAHABRKE
TRENORSSHE - BITHKO - K
HMEHRMELHEEENRDER -

R-E-_NEN T -_=FHRA=1+—
B AEENEEARBLLRNOT

As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2024 2023
—EoNE —T-=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Current liability: RBNBIE
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,558 2,545
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,393 4,293
Total debt ERRE 4,951 6,838
Total equity ERBE 73,904 106,471
Gearing ratio EEAEBLR 7% 6%
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For the year ended 31 May 2024 AR
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

21. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Cont'd)
(d) Capital management (Cont'd)

21. BF R H ()

(d) EXREE(E)
BEFRITHREBA(BF DR ER
AAfTRAZFEM(IEM]) L2
EEFEBENTIREE &KL EER
2((RERREEES]) - AQF—H

may from time to time determine (the “Required Minimum B ARIRRNBRM &2
Working Capital”). A subsidiary of the Company is subject to W EBAHRTREZLBEES - BIL
the Required Minimum Working Capital as the subsidiary is a SN RATISREFERHB AT HED
contractor on the List. Except for this, neither the Company AN E R E ST

nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed

capital requirements.

The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) requires contractors on the
list of approved contractors for public works (the “List”) to
maintain such minimum working capital as the Government

22. @ TH
(a) EMITEAEEHR

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2024 2023
—EomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost: BREHEKATEC SREE
- Contract assets -BHEE 15,260 20,203
- Trade and other receivables and deposits - B RHAERGIE R 29,269 19,645
b
- Cash and cash equivalents -BekReEEY 25,822 33,687
70,351 73,535
Financial liabilities EA =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REEKATECSREE
- Trade and other payables - B S RHAER IR 29,234 23,208
— Lease liabilities -HEAE 4,951 6,838
- Amount due to a director - B —REEHRIE 1,340 =
35,525 30,046
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For the year ended 31 May 2024

HE-ZT-_WFRA=1T—

BIEFE

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include contract
assets, trade and other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, lease liabilities, and
amount due to a director. Details of the financial instruments

are disclosed in respective notes. Exposure to credit, liquidity,
interest rate and currency risks arises in the normal course of
the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used by
the Group to manage these risks on a timely and effective
manner are described below.

(i)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to
the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to contract deposits, trade receivables and contract assets.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from pledged
bank deposits and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions with
sound credit ratings, for which the Group considers to
have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Contract deposits

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from refundable
contract deposits is considered to be low, taking into
account the relevant customers’ good payment record
and long established relationship with the Group.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At 31 May 2024, 25% (2023: 28%) of
the total gross trade receivables and contract assets were
due from the Group’s largest customer and 76% (2023:
70%) of the total gross trade receivables and contract
assets were due from the Group’s five largest customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 Bii& g pi=x|

22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont'd)

(i)

Credit risk (Cont'd)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Cont'd)

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of
the acceptance procedures for new contracts. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. The Group generally
requires customers to settle progress and final billings
in accordance with contracted terms. Trade receivables
are generally due within 30 to 60 days (2023: 30 to 60
days) from the date of progress certificate or the date of
billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix, estimated
based on historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtors operate. For the year ended 31 May 2024 and
2023, the Group assessed the ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets and loss allowance of approximately
HK$1,466,000 (2023: recognised approximately
HK$1,515,000) has been reversed for the year ended 31
May 2024.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 May 2024 and 2023,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
deposits and loss allowance of approximately HK$17,000
(2023: approximately HK$96,000) has been recognised for
the year ended 31 May 2024.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

22. &M T R (&)
BERREEEERBE(E)

(b)

(i)

FEE!/%*(!E)
HEUHERENRE ()

%%ﬁAﬁ&W&Fm—ﬁ
rEBEETENNEENZ -
%%ﬁﬁ%¢%¥ﬁL&iﬁﬂ
B 50 R Y 0 8% No 3R B A5 R B
Wit RBEFPHEFEER RBEM
Emmﬁ@%%#ﬂ AEE—
iR I%ﬁﬁ WGERBEER

N&ERE - 5 RWHIE—K
%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%i% B EIE AT

30260H(ZE=-=4:30%60H)
WEIER - —mE  AEBETE
WEREFIEES -

AEBZBER Mﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
Efﬁ?@%ﬁ%%%%%
ﬁéémﬁﬁﬁﬁ EF
%ﬁﬁ@ CWRBBERE
%E%%M&ﬁﬁA%W%EH
EMERBEBERNETEHE - B

2T _NFER_T_=FFHA
Z=+—BLFE  AEEFHE
SRRFBEBREHNEENTESRE
EFEE mEEz—_Z_NFRA
—t+—BHIFECEOSEEE
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HERFEREZE
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EBEERERSEELE LE&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %2 & B & R R M5

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont'd)
(i) Credit risk (Cont'd)

Other receivables and deposits (Cont'd)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework

22. @M TR ()
(b) BIEEREEAEERBEK(E)

(i) 1=EEREE)
HAittERFBEREZE (&)

comprises the following categories:

AEERBEERBRERIERES
AT

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
=zl it BRRHEEFENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default | 12-month ECL
Rif or has not been a significant increase in credit risk since | 1218 AFEEA = & E1E
initial recognition and that are not credit impaired (refer to
as Stage 1)
BARREES B VRERAREERRREZLN -
BEERENSREE(REFR)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant | Lifetime ECL -
Gk increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that are | not credit impaired
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) BEGTEHEHREES
BYIGRHERUREERREZIEN - EXREERENS | BE-EEERE
BEE(RF-BER)
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one | Lifetime ECL -
EH or more events that have a detrimental impact on the | credit impaired
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred | ZB{EFERBEEEES
(refer to as Stage 3) B—EERE
E-RYSREHHZEENMAAARAKRREREEETH
FER  2REERTREERE(RE=RR)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe | Amount is written off
i financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect | < %8 il £
of recovery
BERBEBRTEBALRNERIRIRAEE - BARSE W EHK
THH A = B3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44 B iR & |

22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont'd)

(i)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

22. @M TR ()
(b) BIEEREEEERBEK(E)

(i) 1=EEREE)
TRHAVNAEECREENEER
Rk - EXBRRIEHEEEER

the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL & -
assessment:
2024 Gross 2024 Net 2023 Gross 2023 Net
carrying 2024 Loss carrying carrying 2023 Loss carrying
Notes 12m or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  allowance amount
NEASEEFEY —T-NE —T-MF —BoNE —To=F —T-o=F —_T-=F
iz EEEERS MEEAE NEREG NREFE ORDLE NEREE HREHE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR FET THI THET
Financial assets at
amortised costs
REBHEKATEZE
MEE
Bank balances 17 12m ECL 25,822 - 25,822 33,687 - 33,687
RITHEER 2B AEHBEEER
Deposits and other 16 12m ECL
receivables 4,871 (17) 4,854 16,321 (96) 16,225
Be REM YRR REABHEEESR
Trade receivables 16  Lifetime ECL -
simplified approach 24,460 (45) 24,415 4,164 (744) 3,420
BHREWHIE BEFENEHEE
BR-EnE
Contract assets 15  Lifetime ECL -
simplified approach 15,264 (4) 15,260 20,974 (771) 20,203
BHEE BEFENESREE
EBR-BltrE
70,417 (66) 70,351 75,146 (1,611) 73,535
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 22. @MT R (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MEEMEEEERBIE(E)
(Cont'd) (i) EEm@EE (&)
(i) Credit risk (Cont'd) TREHABAEERAHA Y
The following tables provide information about the FrAEEERR LRE S ERZIE
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade JBHIZEEENER -

receivables according to their past due dates:

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss Net carrying
Trade receivables B 3 EWRIE loss rate amount  allowance amount
¥
RHEER FREAE @ BERG IR FE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

% TET TET TET

As at 31 May 2024 R-E-E
HA=+—H
Not past due R Hp 0.06% 19,116 (11) 19,105
Less than 3 months past due  #H 7 3{E A 0.64% 5,344 (34) 5,310
24,460 (45) 24,415
As at 31 May 2023 i —
HA=+—H
Not past due R HR 0.22% 1,847 4) 1,843
Less than 3 months past due 7 H7A3{E A 1.93% 1,297 (25) 1,272
More than 3 months past due 7 HI% 7 31{E A 70.10% 1,020 (715) 305
4,164 (744) 3,420
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22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont'd)

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

22. &M T R (&)

(b) HAFEREE B RRBUR ()

(i) 1=EEREE)

(i) Credit risk (Cont'd) 7K 45 [ AR 0 B MR M O BB
The Group recognised ECL for contract assets based on NS HAYNEERANEREZE
the internal credit rating of receivables as follows: EBEmT

Weighted
average Gross
expected carrying Loss Net carrying
Contract assets BREE loss rate amount  allowance amount
ik B
AHEER FREAE BERRAE AREFHE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TET TET
As at 31 May 2024 R-B-MEF
HA=+—H 0.03% 15,264 (4) 15,260
As at 31 May 2023 A —
HEA=+—H 3.68% 20,974 (771) 20,203
(ii) Liquidity risk (i) REBELREBE

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover the expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

AEEBETENEBERAER
BEMNRSER  BEASAR
MESREREEER  WnE
BHREHER - AEEOBRS
THERERDESTEREE
STERERNNIBR - NERES
FREARCHERBEIZVHH
BRTRERNEARESTEE -
RimeHEERRREHNREDE

TRIBEARNEEN SR E BN R
THROBTEOIABR - 1t
TRBEEHNRMARSRE(RTE
BENNE(NEZE - AIRER
HBERRONBPF ) A ENHE
300 B A 6= B AT 4 2 SR A R0 &%
ERHEmMEL -
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd) 22. €T E(4F)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEEREEEERKE(E)
(Cont'd)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Cont'd) (i) HREBELERE(E)
31 May 2024
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
“E-MERA=T-H
BHRERRER
More than More than Carrying
Within 1year 1year but less 2 years but less More than amount at 31
orondemand  than2years  than 5 years 5 years Total May 2024
R-B-WE
1ERE Big1E g2 EA=1-H
REX (BT8E2F BTEESF BisE @zt HREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn Tign

Trade and other payables &5 R EMEMFIE 29,234 - - - 29,234 29,234
Lease liabilities HERR 2733 2,445 - - 5178 4,951
Amount due to a director BN —ZEZFE 1,340 - - - 1,340 1,340
33,307 2,445 - = 35,752 35,525
31 May 2023
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ZEZ=FRA=1-H
ANARERE R

More than More than Carrying
Within 1year 1 year but less 2 years but less More than amount at 31
orondemand  than2years  than 5 years 5 years Total May 2023
R-F-=F
15/ BB Bl 1A=1-H
IRER  EAEEEF  ETERSE BiBsE @t HERE(E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TR TEL TEL TAT TAT

Trade and other payables &5 R EMEMFIE 23,208 = = = 23,208 23,208
Lease liabilities HERE 2810 2325 2173 = 7,308 6,838
26,018 2325 2173 - 30516 30,046
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22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Cont'd)

(iii) Interest rate risk

22.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_Z-_MFAA=+—HILFEE

&R T R(#)
(b) HAFEREE B RRBUR ()

(iii) FZEE R

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. As at 31 May 2024
and 2023, the Group has no variable rates borrowing
that exposes the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group's interest rate profile as monitored by the
management is set out below. Interest expense derived
therefrom is relatively insignificant to the Group’s
operations, and the Group’s income and operating cash
flows are less dependent on changes in market interest
rates. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group does not have significant cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, and no sensitivity

FMEREBRASBR T ENAFE
RRIF & RERT IS EHE

MESHRER - R-_T_NF K&
—E-_=F#FA=+—H K&
B IR B R R A B R E
AEBERHRSREMNERR -
RERBEBESNAEBEFEHER
IR T - ALLEENT &
STHEAEEEENEERER
N ARAEBRIRA R LS
ERERDIMBHEREBME
2o ARREERE A
EEVEERBESRERATFE

analysis is performed.

MEER - FEit - X EETTHR

JEDHT o
31 May 2024 31 May 2023
—E-_MEREA=+—H TE-=FFA=1+—H
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
BRA= 8 B ©F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FH&T
Fixed rate liabilities BEEMEEE
Lease liabilities HEAR 4.83% 4.97%
per annum 4,951 per annum 6,838
BF BF
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Cont'd)

(iv) Currency risk

(v)

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group’s currency risk primarily relates to the Group’s
operating activities whose settlements and payments are
denominated in foreign currencies which are different
from the respective group entity’s functional currency.

The foreign currency assets and liabilities held by the
Group are not material compared to the total assets and
liabilities. In terms of the Group’s operating structure, the
majority of the business transactions are denominated in
HKS, and the proportion of foreign currency transactions
is not significant to the Group. The Group considers that
the currency risk of the Group'’s operations is immaterial
due to the relatively low proportion of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities, income
and expenses, as compared to the Group’s total assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. Hence, no further analysis
is presented.

Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 May 2024 and 2023.

23. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the Company
do not consider it is probable that any claims will be made against
the Group and the surety bonds are expected to be released in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts.
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22. @M TR ()
(b) BIEEREEAEERBEK(E)

(iv) E¥EE

(v)

EEAREEBIANA TER
AKRERBENEERERDT
RBHER -

AEBNERERTIEEASHE
ASNEFHEE TR E R RAE
LEPAM ZFIEEEEE
BERNEEETR -

AEEFAENIINEEERAER
REENBEMELEAERK - 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &34 Bt iR iiat |

For the year ended 31 May 2024 11
BEZ-MERA= T -HILEE

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 24. BBB5ES
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in BREAMBREEMIBHIEENLZ S
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following BN IAER - AREBE IR Bl H B
transactions with its related parties during the year. TR o
As at 31 May
REA=+—H
2024 2023
ZEDNE —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Amount due to a director JEN —REEFHIA 1,340 =
The balance with director is unsecured, interest-free and repayable BEEY AGAEEM T ARARER
on demand. Es .
Key management personnel remuneration TEEEEASNTH
All members of key management personnel of the Group are the NEBFrECEBEBRAEKREH AN FE
directors of the Company and their remuneration is disclosed in B BEHEMRMTIORE -
Note 9.
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For the year ended 31 May 2024
HE_T-_MFRA=T—HIFE

25. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 25. ATIBEMERRE
POSITION
As at 31 May
REA=+-—H
2024 2023
—BomFE —To=F
HK$’000 HK$'000

FER THETT

NON-CURRENT ASSET RBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZKE —* —*
Amount due from a subsidiary FEW — BB A RIFIE 27,439 59,378
27,439 59,378
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayment TBREIR 171 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries JrE U BT /B8 A B R IE 11,168 3,285
Cash and cash equivalents RENRSEEY 28 416
11,367 3,701
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accrued expenses FEETFISZ 1,076 1,021
Amount due to a director BN —REERIE 1,340 =
2,416 1,021
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 8,951 2,680
NET ASSETS EEFE 36,390 62,058
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE
Share capital (% 26,688 22,240
Reserves e 9,702 39,818
TOTAL EQUITY R 36,390 62,058
*  The balance represents an amount less than HK$1,000. ¥ RREEEREPA1,0008 TR SRR o
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26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 27 August 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
on a best effort basis, maximum of 33,120,000 placing shares.

On 12 September 2024, the Company has issued and allotted
33,120,000 new shares under general mandate (the “2024 Placing”)
through a placing agent, representing (i) approximately 12.41%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company immediately
before the 2024 Placing; and (ii) 11.04% of the issued share capital
of the Company as enlarged by the allotment. Net proceeds from
the 2024 Placing is approximately HK$3.1 million, which will be
applied for the general working capital of the Group. After the 2024
Placing, the total ordinary shares in issue are 300,000,000 shares at
par value of HK$0.1 each. Details of the 2024 Placing are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 27 August 2024 and 12
September 2024.

(b)

On 16 September 2024 (the “Grant Date”), the Group granted share
options to directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for
up to a total of 22,240,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each in the
share capital of the Company pursuant to its share option scheme
adopted on 13 November 2020. The exercise price of the share
options granted is HK$0.107 per share. The share options shall be
vested after 12 months from the Grant Date, and exercisable until
12 November 2030. There is no performance target attached to the
share options and no financial assistant shall be provided by the
Group to the grantees to facilitate the purchases of shares under
the share option scheme. Details are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 16 September 2024.

For the year ended 31 May 2024
HET-MFRA=H-HIEFE

26. HEHEEHS

(a)

RZZE-MFENAZ++tH » KRF)EILE
Eﬁ%- R ARRBEBRGRERENE
HEZBE £ 33,120,000 BC E XD ©

RZZEZWMFENA+=H -+ 33,120,0008% %7
RHEEBEERERE—HREE(=8=
NEBRESE KN EHTREE @ ZEHKR
BIROREE S _NFRESHEATARF]
A D BITIARL12.41% « (i) &E 3B A
ZANTIEEBEITIRAR11.04% - — T OFR
EEEMEBREFENAIBEET B
ARASEE—REEED - T _FREE
FIEE - DETEBRESA300000,000
I - SREEIEIT - EE_T_IMFR
EEEFBIHRARRBSHE AT Y
FNAZH+EERZZE-_WHFNA+-HH

A -

(b)

RZZEZWHFAA+AABUEERR]) -
Kilmﬁﬁiwﬁf%ﬁﬁﬂxﬁé - AR
BER-_Z-_TF+—H+= Eﬁﬁ% WE’J
B ET S REBEAARRAPE L&
22,240,000/% F AR E(H0.1/8 JD A i A% oE
BRHBERENTEEASRRI107ET - I8
KEEERTBHET_BMALEE  17F
BMEZT-TF+—A+=H - BREHSE
MAERFEE  MAKBEBTSRARAR
HETEEE - DMEFEBRIEERETEES
K - BEAFBERAARAHA -
fﬁj-bﬂ +/\E|E’] \:l: ©
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY Bt ¥ #1 =

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the NEBRSERABEABEENREE  BENEGE
last five financial years is as follows. BMEWT o
Year ended 31 May
BERA=t—-HLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECNE —E2-=F —FBE-—F —TE-—F ZZT-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT THET TET TET TET

RESULTS ¥E
Revenue Wz 223,331 198,025 212,285 345,618 313,650
Gross (loss)/profit (E8B) EH (31,864) (62,337) 30,212 56,012 51,034
(Loss)/profit before taxation ~ FRBiAT (F5HE)
i A (45,890) (88,915) 20,174 45,435 34,870
Total FR
comprehensive (expenses)/ &M (FIZ)
income for the year Was 4858 (44,156) (87,008) 16,684 37,635 28,113
As at 31 May
REA=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZBoNE B =9¢ B4 B4 ZEBEZZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT BT FHT FHT
(restated)
(geED)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Total assets BEE 117,465 146,642 227,768 265,468 152,341
Total liabilities BeE 43,561 40,171 34,289 63,675 52,191
Net assets BEEFE 73,904 106,471 193,479 201,793 100,150
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